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Comparison with International Accounting Standards

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 11 Construction Contracts (HKAS 11)
is set out in paragraphs 1-46. All the paragraphs have equal authority.
HKAS 11 shallshould be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and the Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements. HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the
absence of explicit guidance.
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 11
Construction Contracts

Objective

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting treatment of revenue and costs associated
with construction contracts. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken in construction contracts,
Because of the nature of the activity undertaken in construction contracts, the date at which the contract
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is completed usually fall into different accounting
periods. Therefore, the primary issue in accounting for construction contracts is the allocation of contract
revenue and contract costs to the accounting periods in which construction work is performed. This
Standard uses the recognition criteria established in the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements to determine when contract revenue and contract costs should be
recognised as revenue and expenses in the inceme—statement_of comprehensive income. It also
provides practical guidance on the application of these criteria.

Scope

1 This Standard shall be applied in accounting for construction contracts in the financial
statements of contractors.

2 This Standard supersedes SSAP 23 Construction Contracts (revised in 2001).
Definitions
3 The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

A construction contract is a contract specifically negotiated for the construction of an
asset or a combination of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms
of their design, technology and function or their ultimate purpose or use.

A fixed price contract is a construction contract in which the contractor agrees to a fixed
contract price, or a fixed rate per unit of output, which in some cases is subject to cost
escalation clauses.

A cost plus contract is a construction contract in which the contractor is reimbursed for
allowable or otherwise defined costs, plus a percentage of these costs or a fixed fee.

4 A construction contract may be negotiated for the construction of a single asset such as a
bridge, building, dam, pipeline, road, ship or tunnel. A construction contract may also deal with
the construction of a number of assets which are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms
of their design, technology and function or their ultimate purpose or use; examples of such
contracts include those for the construction of refineries and other complex pieces of plant or
equipment.

5 For the purposes of this Standard, construction contracts include:

(@) contracts for the rendering of services which are directly related to the construction of
the asset, for example, those for the services of project managers and architects; and

(b) contracts for the destruction or restoration of assets, and the restoration of the
environment following the demolition of assets.

6 Construction contracts are formulated in a number of ways which, for the purposes of this
Standard, are classified as fixed price contracts and cost plus contracts. Some construction
contracts may contain characteristics of both a fixed price contract and a cost plus contract, for
example in the case of a cost plus contract with an agreed maximum price. In such
circumstances, a contractor needs to consider all the conditions in paragraphs 23 and 24 in
order to determine when to recognise contract revenue and expenses.

© Copyright 4
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Combining and segmenting construction contracts

7 The requirements of this Standard are usually applied separately to each construction contract.
However, in certain circumstances, it is necessary to apply the Standard to the separately
identifiable components of a single contract or to a group of contracts together in order to
reflect the substance of a contract or a group of contracts.

8 When a contract covers a number of assets, the construction of each asset shall be
treated as a separate construction contract when:

(@) separate proposals have been submitted for each asset;

(b) each asset has been subject to separate negotiation and the contractor and
customer have been able to accept or reject that part of the contract relating to
each asset; and

(c) the costs and revenues of each asset can be identified.

9 A group of contracts, whether with a single customer or with several customers, shall
be treated as a single construction contract when:

@) the group of contracts is negotiated as a single package;

(b) the contracts are so closely interrelated that they are, in effect, part of a single
project with an overall profit margin; and

(c) the contracts are performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence.
10 A contract may provide for the construction of an additional asset at the option of the

customer or may be amended to include the construction of an additional asset. The
construction of the additional asset shall be treated as a separate construction contract

when:

@) the asset differs significantly in design, technology or function from the asset
or assets covered by the original contract; or

(b) the price of the asset is negotiated without regard to the original contract price.

Contract revenue

11 Contract revenue shall comprise:
(@ the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract; and
(b) variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments:
0] to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue; and
(i) they are capable of being reliably measured.
12 Contract revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The

measurement of contract revenue is affected by a variety of uncertainties that depend on the
outcome of future events. The estimates often need to be revised as events occur and
uncertainties are resolved. Therefore, the amount of contract revenue may increase or
decrease from one period to the next. For example:

(@ a contractor and a customer may agree variations or claims that increase or decrease
contract revenue in a period subsequent to that in which the contract was initially
agreed;

(b) the amount of revenue agreed in a fixed price contract may increase as a result of

cost escalation clauses;

(c) the amount of contract revenue may decrease as a result of penalties arising from
delays caused by the contractor in the completion of the contract; or

© Copyright 5
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(d) when a fixed price contract involves a fixed price per unit of output, contract revenue
increases as the number of units is increased.

A variation is an instruction by the customer for a change in the scope of the work to be
performed under the contract. A variation may lead to an increase or a decrease in contract
revenue. Examples of variations are changes in the specifications or design of the asset and
changes in the duration of the contract. A variation is included in contract revenue when:

(@) it is probable that the customer will approve the variation and the amount of revenue
arising from the variation; and

(b) the amount of revenue can be reliably measured.

A claim is an amount that the contractor seeks to collect from the customer or another party as
reimbursement for costs not included in the contract price. A claim may arise from, for example,
customer caused delays, errors in specifications or design, and disputed variations in contract
work. The measurement of the amounts of revenue arising from claims is subject to a high
level of uncertainty and often depends on the outcome of negotiations. Therefore, claims are
included in contract revenue only when:

@) negotiations have reached an advanced stage such that it is probable that the
customer will accept the claim; and

(b) the amount that it is probable will be accepted by the customer can be measured
reliably.

Incentive payments are additional amounts paid to the contractor if specified performance
standards are met or exceeded. For example, a contract may allow for an incentive payment to
the contractor for early completion of the contract. Incentive payments are included in contract
revenue when:

(@) the contract is sufficiently advanced that it is probable that the specified performance
standards will be met or exceeded; and

(b) the amount of the incentive payment can be measured reliably.

Contract costs

16

17

Contract costs shall comprise:
(@ costs that relate directly to the specific contract;

(b) costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to
the contract; and

(c) such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the customer under the terms
of the contract.

Costs that relate directly to a specific contract include:

(@ site labour costs, including site supervision;

(b) costs of materials used in construction;

(c) depreciation of plant and equipment used on the contract;

(d) costs of moving plant, equipment and materials to and from the contract site;

(e) costs of hiring plant and equipment;

(4] costs of design and technical assistance that is directly related to the contract;

(9) the estimated costs of rectification and guarantee work, including expected warranty
costs; and

(h) claims from third parties.

© Copyright 6
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These costs may be reduced by any incidental income that is not included in contract revenue,
for example income from the sale of surplus materials and the disposal of plant and equipment
at the end of the contract.

Costs that may be attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to specific
contracts include:

(@) insurance;

(b) costs of design and technical assistance that isare not directly related to a specific
contract; and

(c) construction overheads.

Such costs are allocated using methods that are systematic and rational and are applied

consistently to all costs having similar characteristics. The allocation is based on the normal

level of construction activity. Construction overheads include costs such as the preparation and

processing of construction personnel payroll. Costs that may be attributable to contract activity

in general and can be allocated to specific contracts also include borrowing costs-when-the
N Q Q A

A

Costs that are specifically chargeable to the customer under the terms of the contract may
include some general administration costs and development costs for which reimbursement is
specified in the terms of the contract.

Costs that cannot be attributed to contract activity or cannot be allocated to a contract are
excluded from the costs of a construction contract. Such costs include:

@) general administration costs for which reimbursement is not specified in the contract;
(b) selling costs;
(c) research and development costs for which reimbursement is not specified in the

contract; and
(d) depreciation of idle plant and equipment that is not used on a particular contract.

Contract costs include the costs attributable to a contract for the period from the date of
securing the contract to the final completion of the contract. However, costs that relate directly
to a contract and are incurred in securing the contract are also included as part of the contract
costs if they can be separately identified and measured reliably and it is probable that the
contract will be obtained. When costs incurred in securing a contract are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred, they are not included in contract costs when
the contract is obtained in a subsequent period.

Recognition of contract revenue and expenses

22

23

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract
revenue and contract costs associated with the construction contract shall be
recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the-balance-sheet-date_end of the reporting period.
An expected loss on the construction contract shall be recognised as an expense
immediately in accordance with paragraph 36.

In the case of a fixed price contract, the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

(@ total contract revenue can be measured reliably;

(b) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the contract will flow
to the entity;

(c) both the contract costs to complete the contract and the stage of contract
completion at the balance-sheet-date—end of the reporting period can be
measured reliably; and

© Copyright 7
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(d) the contract costs attributable to the contract can be clearly identified and
measured reliably so that actual contract costs incurred can be compared with
prior estimates.

In the case of a cost plus contract, the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

(@) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the contract will flow
to the entity; and

(b) the contract costs attributable to the contract, whether or not specifically
reimbursable, can be clearly identified and measured reliably.

The recognition of revenue and expenses by reference to the stage of completion of a contract
is often referred to as the percentage of completion method. Under this method, contract
revenue is matched with the contract costs incurred in reaching the stage of completion,
resulting in the reporting of revenue, expenses and profit which can be attributed to the
proportion of work completed. This method provides useful information on the extent of
contract activity and performance during a period.

Under the percentage of completion method, contract revenue is recognised as revenue in the
income-—statementprofit or loss in the accounting periods in which the work is performed.
Contract costs are usually recognised as an expense in the-income-statement-profit or 10ss in
the accounting periods in which the work to which they relate is performed. However, any
expected excess of total contract costs over total contract revenue for the contract is
recognised as an expense immediately in accordance with paragraph 36.

A contractor may have incurred contract costs that relate to future activity on the contract. Such
contract costs are recognised as an asset provided it is probable that they will be recovered.
Such costs represent an amount due from the customer and are often classified as contract
work in progress.

The outcome of a construction contract can only be estimated reliably when it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the contract will flow to the entity. However, when an
uncertainty arises about the collectibility of an amount already included in contract revenue,
and already recognised in the income-statementprofit or loss, the uncollectible amount or the
amount in respect of which recovery has ceased to be probable is recognised as an expense
rather than as an adjustment of the amount of contract revenue.

An entity is generally able to make reliable estimates after it has agreed to a contract which
establishes:

(@) each party's enforceable rights regarding the asset to be constructed;
(b) the consideration to be exchanged; and
(c) the manner and terms of settlement.

It is also usually necessary for the entity to have an effective internal financial budgeting and
reporting system. The entity reviews and, when necessary, revises the estimates of contract
revenue and contract costs as the contract progresses. The need for such revisions does not
necessarily indicate that the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated reliably.

The stage of completion of a contract may be determined in a variety of ways. The entity uses
the method that measures reliably the work performed. Depending on the nature of the contract,
the methods may include:

(@ the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the
estimated total contract costs;

(b) surveys of work performed; or
(c) completion of a physical proportion of the contract work.

Progress payments and advances received from customers often do not reflect the work
performed.

© Copyright 8
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When the stage of completion is determined by reference to the contract costs incurred to date,
only those contract costs that reflect work performed are included in costs incurred to date.
Examples of contract costs which are excluded are:

@) contract costs that relate to future activity on the contract, such as costs of materials
that have been delivered to a contract site or set aside for use in a contract but not yet
installed, used or applied during contract performance, unless the materials have
been made specially for the contract; and

(b) payments made to subcontractors in advance of work performed under the
subcontract.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably:

@) revenue shall be recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that it
is probable will be recoverable; and

(b) contract costs shall be recognised as an expense in the period in which they
are incurred.

An expected loss on the construction contract shall be recognised as an expense
immediately in accordance with paragraph 36.

During the early stages of a contract it is often the case that the outcome of the contract cannot
be estimated reliably. Nevertheless, it may be probable that the entity will recover the contract
costs incurred. Therefore, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of costs incurred
that are expected to be recoverable. As the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated
reliably, no profit is recognised. However, even though the outcome of the contract cannot be
estimated reliably, it may be probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenues. In such cases, any expected excess of total contract costs over total contract
revenue for the contract is recognised as an expense immediately in accordance with
paragraph 36.

Contract costs that are not probable of being recovered are recognised as an expense
immediately. Examples of circumstances in which the recoverability of contract costs incurred
may not be probable and in which contract costs may need to be recognised as an expense
immediately include contracts:

(@ whiehthat are not fully enforceable, thatisie; their validity is seriously in question;

(b) the completion of which is subject to the outcome of pending litigation or legislation;
(c) relating to properties that are likely to be condemned or expropriated;

(d) where the customer is unable to meet its obligations; or

(e) where the contractor is unable to complete the contract or otherwise meet its

obligations under the contract.

When the uncertainties that prevented the outcome of the contract being estimated
reliably no longer exist, revenue and expenses associated with the construction
contract shall be recognised in accordance with paragraph 22 rather than in accordance
with paragraph 32.

Recognition of expected losses

36

37

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the
expected loss shall be recognised as an expense immediately.

The amount of such a loss is determined irrespective of:
(@ whether work has commenced on the contract;

(b) the stage of completion of contract activity; or

© Copyright 9
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(c) the amount of profits expected to arise on other contracts which are not treated as a
single construction contract in accordance with paragraph 9.

Changes in estimates

38 The percentage of completion method is applied on a cumulative basis in each accounting
period to the current estimates enrof contract revenue and contract costs. Therefore, the effect
of a change in the estimate of contract revenue or contract costs, or the effect of a change in
the estimate enof the outcome of a contract, is accounted for as a change in accounting
estimate (see HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.). The
changed estimates are used in the determination of the amount of revenue and expenses
recognised in the-income-statementprofit or loss in the period in which the change is made and
in subsequent periods.

Disclosure

39 An entity shall disclose:

@) the amount of contract revenue recognised as revenue in the period;

(b) the methods used to determine the contract revenue recognised in the period;
and

(c) the methods used to determine the stage of completion of contracts in progress.

40 An entity shall disclose each of the following for contracts in progress at the-balarce
sheet-date end of the reporting period:

(@) the aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised profits (less recognised
losses) to date;

(b) the amount of advances received; and

(c) the amount of retentions.

41 Retentions are amounts of progress billings that are not paid until the satisfaction of conditions
specified in the contract for the payment of such amounts or until defects have been rectified.
Progress billings are amounts billed for work performed on a contract whether or not they have
been paid by the customer. Advances are amounts received by the contractor before the
related work is performed.

42 An entity shall present:

(@ the gross amount due from customers for contract work as an asset; and
(b) the gross amount due to customers for contract work as a liability.
43 The gross amount due from customers for contract work is the net amount of:
(@ costs incurred plus recognised profits; less
(b) the sum of recognised losses and progress billings
for all contracts in progress for which costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised
losses) exceeds progress billings.
44 The gross amount due to customers for contract work is the net amount of:

(@ costs incurred plus recognised profits; less
(b) the sum of recognised losses and progress billings

for all contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised
profits (less recognised losses).
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45 An entity discloses any contingent liabilities and contingent assets in accordance with HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. Contingent liabilities and contingent
assets may arise from such items as warranty costs, claims, penalties or possible losses.

Effective date

46 This Standard becomes operative for financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2005. Earlier application is encouraged.

© Copyright 11
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Appendix A
lllustrative examples

This appendix accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 11.

Disclosure of accounting policies
The following are examples of accounting policy disclosures:

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is recognised on the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of labour hours incurred to date to estimated total labour
hours for each contract.

Revenue from cost plus contracts is recognised by reference to the recoverable costs incurred during
the period plus the fee earned, measured by the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the
estimated total costs of the contract.

The determination of contract revenue and expenses

The following example illustrates one method of determining the stage of completion of a contract and
the timing of the recognition of contract revenue and expenses (see paragraphs 22 te—35 of the
Standard).

A construction contractor has a fixed price contract for 9,000 to build a bridge. The initial amount of
revenue agreed in the contract is 9,000. The contractor's initial estimate of contract costs is 8,000. It will
take 3 years to build the bridge.

By the end of year 1, the contractor's estimate of contract costs has increased to 8,050.

In year 2, the customer approves a variation resulting in an increase in contract revenue of 200 and
estimated additional contract costs of 150. At the end of year 2, costs incurred include 100 for standard
materials stored at the site to be used in year 3 to complete the project.

The contractor determines the stage of completion of the contract by calculating the proportion that

contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the latest estimated total contract costs. A
summary of the financial data during the construction period is as follows:

© Copyright 12



Initial amount of revenue agreed in contract

Variation

Total contract revenue
Contract costs incurred to date
Contract costs to complete

Total estimated contract costs

Estimated profit

Stage of completion
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Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
9,000 9,000 9,000
- 200 200
9,000 9,200 9,200
2,093 6,168 8,200
5,957 2,032 -
8,050 8,200 8,200
950 1,000 1,000
26% 74% 100%

The stage of completion for year 2 (74%) is determined by excluding from contract costs incurred for
work performed to date the 100 of standard materials stored at the site for use in year 3.

The amounts of revenue, expenses and profit recognised in the inreceme-statement_of comprehensive

income in the three years are as follows:

Year 1

Revenue (9,000 x 0.26)
Expenses (8,050 x 0.26)
Profit

Year 2

Revenue (9,200 x 0.74)
Expenses (8,200 x 0.74)
Profit

Year 3
Revenue (9,200 x 1.00)
Expenses

Profit

© Copyright
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Recognised Recognised

in prior in current

To date years year
2,340 - 2,340
2,093 - 2,093
247 - 247
6,808 2,340 4,468
6,068 2,093 3,975
740 247 493
9,200 6,808 2,392
8,200 6,068 2,132
1,000 740 260
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Contract disclosures

A contractor has reached the end of its first year of operations. All its contract costs incurred have been
paid for in cash and all its progress billings and advances have been received in cash. Contract costs
incurred for contracts B, C and E include the cost of materials that have been purchased for the contract
but which have not been used in contract performance to date. For contracts B, C and E, the customers
have made advances to the contractor for work not yet performed.

The status of its five contracts in progress at the end of year 1 is as follows:

Contract

A B C D E Total
Cpntract revenue recognised in accordance 145 520 380 200 55 1,300
with paragraph 22
Contract expenses recognised in 110 450 350 250 55 1,215
accordance with paragraph 22
Expected losses recognised in accordance
with paragraph 36 ) ) i 40 30 70
Recognised profits less recognised losses 35 70 30 (90) (30) 15
Contract costs incurred in the period 110 510 450 250 100 1,420
Contract costs incurred recognised as
contract expenses in the period in
accordance with paragraph 22 110 450 350 250 55 1,215
Contract costs that relate to future activity
recognised as an asset in accordance with
paragraph 27 - 60 100 - 45 205
Contract revenue (see above) 145 520 380 200 55 1,300
Progress billings (paragraph 41) 100 520 380 180 55 1,235
Unbilled contract revenue 45 - - 20 - 65
Advances (paragraph 41) - 80 20 - 25 125
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The amounts to be disclosed in accordance with the Standard are as follows:

Contract revenue recognised as revenue in the period

(paragraph 39(a))

Contract costs incurred and recognised profits
(less recognised losses) to date (paragraph 40(a))

Advances received (paragraph 40(b))

Gross amount due from customers for contract work -

presented as an asset in accordance with paragraph 42(a)

Gross amount due to customers for contract work -

presented as a liability in accordance with paragraph 42(b)

1,300

1,435

125

220

(20)

The amounts to be disclosed in accordance with paragraphs 40(a), 42(a) and 42(b) are calculated as

follows:
Contract
A B c ] E Total
Contract costs incurred 110 510 450 250 100 1,420
IRecognised profits less recognised 35 70 30 (90) (30) 15
osses
145 580 480 160 70 1,435
Progress billings 100 520 380 180 55 1,235
Due from customers 45 60 100 - 15 220
Due to customers - - - (20) - (20)

The amount disclosed in accordance with paragraph 40(a) is the same as the amount for the current
period because the disclosures related to the first year of operation.
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Appendix B

Comparison with International Accounting Standards

This comparison appendix, which was prepared as at October 2004 and deals only with significant
differences in the standards extant, is produced for information only and does not form part of the
standards in HKAS 11.

The International Accounting Standard comparable with HKAS 11 is IAS 11 Construction Contracts.

There are no major textual differences between HKAS 11 and IAS 11.
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Introduction

IN1

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (HKAS 16) should be

applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005. Earlier application is
encouraged.

Reasons for issuing HKAS 16

IN2 The objectives of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) issuing HKAS
16 were to reduce or eliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts within the Standards, to
deal with some convergence issues and to make other improvements.

IN3 For HKAS 16 the HKICPA's main objective was a limited revision to provide additional guidance

and clarification on selected matters. The HKICPA did not reconsider the fundamental approach
to the accounting for property, plant and equipment contained in HKAS 16.

The main features

IN4 The main features of HKAS 16 are described below.
Scope

IN5 This Standard clarifies that an entity is required to apply the principles of this Standard to items
of property, plant and equipment used to develop or maintain (a) biological assets and (b)
mineral rights and mineral reserves such as oil, natural gas and similar non-regenerative
resources.
Recognition: subseguent costs

IN6 An entity evaluates under the general recognition principle all property, plant and equipment
costs at the time they are incurred. Those costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or
construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to,
replace part of, or service an item.
Measurement at recognition: asset dismantlement, removal and
restoration costs

IN7 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes the costs of its dismantlement,
removal or restoration, the obligation for which an entity incurs as a consequence of installing
the item. Its cost also includes the costs of its dismantlement, removal or restoration, the
obligation for which an entity incurs as a conseguence of using the item during a particular
period for purposes other than to produce inventories during that period.
Measurement at recognition: asset exchange transactions

IN8 An entity is required to measure an item of property, plant and equipment acquired in exchange
for a non-monetary asset or assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, at
fair value unless the exchange transaction lacks commercial substance.
Measurement after recognition: revaluation model

IN9 If fair value can be measured reliably, an entity may carry all items of property, plant and
equipment of a class at a revalued amount, which is the fair value of the items at the date of the
revaluation less any subseguent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Depreciation: unit of measure

IN10 An entity is required to determine the depreciation charge separately for each significant part of

an item of property, plant and equipment.
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Depreciation: depreciable amount

IN11 An entity is required to measure the residual value of an item of property, plant and equipment
as the amount it estimates it would receive currently for the asset if the asset were already of the
age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

Depreciation: depreciation period

IN12 An entity is required to begin depreciating an item of property, plant and equipment when it is
available for use and to continue depreciating it until it is derecognised, even if during that
period the item is idle.

Derecognition: derecognition date

IN13 An_entity is required to derecognise the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment that it disposes of on the date the criteria for the sale of goods in HKAS 18 Revenue
would be met.

IN14 An entity is required to derecognise the carrying amount of a part of an item of property, plant
and equipment if that part has been replaced and the entity has included the cost of the
replacement in the carrying amount of the item.

Derecognition: gain classification
IN15 An entity cannot classify as revenue a gain it realises on the disposal of an item of property,

plant and equipment.

© Copyright 6
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 16
Property, Plant and Equipment

Objective

1 The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting treatment for property, plant and
equipment so that users of the financial statements can discern information about an entity’s
investment in its property, plant and equipment and the changes in such investment. The
principal issues in accounting for property, plant and equipment are the recognition of the assets,
the determination of their carrying amounts and the depreciation charges and impairment losses
to be recognised in relation to them.

Scope

2 This Standard shall be applied in accounting for property, plant and equipment except
when another Standard requires or permits a different accounting treatment.

3 This Standard does not apply to:

@) property, plant and equipment classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations;

(b) biological assets related to agricultural activity (see HKAS 41 Agriculture);

(c) the recognition and measurement of exploration and evaluation assets (see HKFRS 6
Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources); or

(d) mineral rights and mineral reserves such as oil, natural gas and similar
non-regenerative resources.

However, this Standard applies to property, plant and equipment used to develop or maintain
the assets described in (b) and (d).

4 Other Standards may require recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment based on
an approach different from that in this Standard. For example, HKAS 17 Leases requires an
entity to evaluate its recognition of an item of leased property, plant and equipment on the basis
of the transfer of risks and rewards. However, in such cases other aspects of the accounting
treatment for these assets, including depreciation, are prescribed by this Standard.

5
property: An entity using the cost model for investment property in accordance with HKAS 40
Investment Property shall use the cost model in this Standard.

Definitions

6 The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting any
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of other
consideration given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or,
where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in
accordance with the specific requirements of other HKFRSs, e.g. HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment.

Depreciable amount is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its
residual value.

Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its
useful life.
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Entity-specific value is the present value of the cash flows an entity expects to arise from
the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life or expects
to incur when settling a liability.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.

Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that:

@) are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to
others, or for administrative purposes; and

(b) are expected to be used during more than one period.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s netselling-price-fair value less costs to
sell and its value in use.

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that an entity would currently
obtain from disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the
asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
Useful life is:

@) the period over which an asset is expected to be available for use by an entity; or

(b) the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset
by an entity.

Recognition

7

10

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognised as an asset if,
and only if:

(@) it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the entity; and

(b) the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Spare parts and servicing equipment are usually carried as inventory and recognised in profit or
loss as consumed. However, major spare parts and stand-by equipment qualify as property,
plant and equipment when an entity expects to use them during more than one period. Similarly,
if the spare parts and servicing equipment can be used only in connection with an item of
property, plant and equipment, they are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

This Standard does not prescribe the unit of measure for recognition, ie what constitutes an item
of property, plant and equipment. Thus, judgement is required in applying the recognition
criteria to an entity’s specific circumstances. It may be appropriate to aggregate individually
insignificant items, such as moulds, tools and dies, and to apply the criteria to the aggregate
value.

An entity evaluates under this recognition principle all its property, plant and equipment costs at
the time they are incurred. These costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an
item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of,
or service it.
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Initial costs

11 Iltems of property, plant and equipment may be acquired for safety or environmental reasons.
The acquisition of such property, plant and equipment, although not directly increasing the
future economic benefits of any particular existing item of property, plant and equipment, may
be necessary for an entity to obtain the future economic benefits from its other assets. Such
items of property, plant and equipment qualify for recognition as assets because they enable an
entity to derive future economic benefits from related assets in excess of what could be derived
had those items not been acquired. For example, a chemical manufacturer may install new
chemical handling processes to comply with environmental requirements for the production and
storage of dangerous chemicals; related plant enhancements are recognised as an asset
because without them the entity is unable to manufacture and sell chemicals. However, the
resulting carrying amount of such an asset and related assets is reviewed for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

Subsequent costs

12 Under the recognition principle in paragraph 7, an entity does not recognise in the carrying
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the costs of the day-to-day servicing of the
item. Rather, these costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Costs of day-to-day
servicing are primarily the costs of labour and consumables, and may include the cost of small
parts. The purpose of these expenditures is often described as for the ‘repairs and maintenance’
of the item of property, plant and equipment.

13 Parts of some items of property, plant and equipment may require replacement at regular
intervals. For example, a furnace may require relining after a specified number of hours of use,
or aircraft interiors such as seats and galleys may require replacement several times during the
life of the airframe. Items of property, plant and equipment may also be acquired to make a less
frequently recurring replacement, such as replacing the interior walls of a building, or to make a
non-recurring replacement. Under the recognition principle in paragraph 7, an entity recognises
in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of
such an item when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met. The carrying amount
of those parts that are replaced is derecognised in accordance with the derecognition provisions
of this Standard (see paragraphs 67-72).

14 A condition of continuing to operate an item of property, plant and equipment (for example, an
aircraft) may be performing regular major inspections for faults regardless of whether parts of
the item are replaced. When each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the
carrying amount of the item of property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition
criteria are satisfied. Any remaining carrying amount of the cost of the previous inspection (as
distinct from physical parts) is derecognised. This occurs regardless of whether the cost of the
previous inspection was identified in the transaction in which the item was acquired or
constructed. If necessary, the estimated cost of a future similar inspection may be used as an
indication of what the cost of the existing inspection component was when the item was
acquired or constructed.

Measurement at recognition

15 An item of property, plant and equipment that qualifies for recognition as an asset shall
be measured at its cost.

Elements of cost
16 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises:

(@ its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after
deducting trade discounts and rebates;

(b) any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

(c) the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the
site on which it is located, the obligation for which an entity incurs either when the item
is acquired or as a consequence of having used the item during a particular period for
purposes other than to produce inventories during that period.
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17 Examples of directly attributable costs are:

@) costs of employee benefits (as defined in HKAS 19 Employee Benefits) arising directly
from the construction or acquisition of the item of property, plant and equipment;

(b) costs of site preparation;

(c) initial delivery and handling costs;

(d) installation and assembly costs;

(e) costs of testing whether the asset is functioning properly, after deducting the net

proceeds from selling any items produced while bringing the asset to that location and
condition (such as samples produced when testing equipment); and

) professional fees.

18 An entity applies HKAS 2 Inventories to the costs of obligations for dismantling, removing and
restoring the site on which an item is located that are incurred during a particular period as a
consequence of having used the item to produce inventories during that period. The obligations
for costs accounted for in accordance with HKAS 2 or HKAS 16 are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

19 Examples of costs that are not the costs of an item of property, plant and equipment are:
(a) costs of opening a new facility;
(b) costs of introducing a new product or service (including costs of advertising and

promotional activities);

(c) costs of conducting business in a new location or with a new class of customer
(including costs of staff training); and

(d) administration and other general overhead costs.

20 Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases
when the item is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Therefore, costs incurred in using or redeploying an item are
not included in the carrying amount of that item. For example, the following costs are not
included in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment:

(®) costs incurred while an item capable of operating in the manner intended by
management has yet to be brought into use or is operated at less than full capacity;

(b) initial operating losses, such as those incurred while demand for the item’s output
builds up; and
(c) costs of relocating or reorganising part or all of an entity’s operations.
21 Some operations occur in connection with the construction or development of an item of

property, plant and equipment, but are not necessary to bring the item to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
These incidental operations may occur before or during the construction or development
activities. For example, income may be earned through using a building site as a car park until
construction starts. Because incidental operations are not necessary to bring an item to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, the income and related expenses of incidental operations are recognised in profit
or loss and included in their respective classifications of income and expense.
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The cost of a self-constructed asset is determined using the same principles as for an acquired
asset. If an entity makes similar assets for sale in the normal course of business, the cost of the
asset is usually the same as the cost of constructing an asset for sale (see HKAS 2). Therefore,
any internal profits are eliminated in arriving at such costs. Similarly, the cost of abnormal
amounts of wasted material, labour, or other resources incurred in self-constructing an asset is
not included in the cost of the asset. HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs establishes criteria for the
recognition of interest as a component of the carrying amount of a self-constructed item of
property, plant and equipment.

Measurement of cost

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the cash price equivalent at the
recognition date. If payment is deferred beyond normal credit terms, the difference between the
cash price equivalent and the total payment is recognised as interest over the period of credit

unless such interest is recoghised-in-the-carrying-amount-of the-item-capitalised in accordance
with the-allewed-alternative-treatmentin-HKAS 23.

One or more items of property, plant and equipment may be acquired in exchange for a
non-monetary asset or assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets. The
following discussion refers simply to an exchange of one non-monetary asset for another, but it
also applies to all the-exchanges described in the preceding sentence. The cost of such an item
of property, plant and equipment is measured at fair value unless (a) the exchange transaction
lacks commercial substance or (b) the fair value of neither the asset received nor the asset
given up is reliably measurable. The acquired item is measured in this way even if an entity
cannot immediately derecognise the asset given up. If the acquired item is not measured at fair
value, its cost is measured at the carrying amount of the asset given up.

An entity determines whether an exchange transaction has commercial substance by
considering the extent to which its future cash flows are expected to change as a result of the
transaction. An exchange transaction has commercial substance if:

(@) the configuration (risk, timing and amount) of the cash flows of the asset received
differs from the configuration of the cash flows of the asset transferred; or

(b) the entity-specific value of the portion of the entity’s operations affected by the
transaction changes as a result of the exchange; and

(c) the difference in (a) or (b) is significant relative to the fair value of the assets
exchanged.

For the purpose of determining whether an exchange transaction has commercial substance,
the entity-specific value of the portion of the entity’s operations affected by the transaction shall
reflect post-tax cash flows. The result of these analyses may be clear without an entity having to
perform detailed calculations.

The fair value of an asset for which comparable market transactions do not exist is reliably
measurable if (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is not significant
for that asset or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value. If an entity is able to determine reliably the fair value
of either the asset received or the asset given up, then the fair value of the asset given up is
used to measure the cost of the asset received unless the fair value of the asset received is
more clearly evident.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment held by a lessee under a finance lease is
determined underin accordance with HKAS 17-Leases.

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment may be reduced by
government grants in accordance with HKAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Government Assistance.

© Copyright 11



HKAS 16 (March-2004 2010)

Measurement after recognition

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

An entity shall choose either the cost model in paragraph 30 or the revaluation model in
paragraph 31 as its accounting policy and shall apply that policy to an entire class of
property, plant and equipment.

Cost model

After recognition as an asset, an item of property, plant and equipment shall be carried at
its cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Revaluation model

After recognition as an asset, an item of property, plant and equipment whose fair value
can be measured reliably shall be carried at a revalued amount, being its fair value at the
date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair value at the-balance-sheet-date end of the reporting period.

The fair value of land and buildings is usually determined from market-based evidence by
appraisal that is normally undertaken by professionally qualified valuers. The fair value of items
of plant and equipment is usually their market value determined by appraisal.

If there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialised nature of the item
of property, plant and equipment and the item is rarely sold, except as part of a continuing
business, an entity may need to estimate fair value using an income or a depreciated
replacement cost approach.

The frequency of revaluations depends upon the changes in fair values of the items of property,
plant and equipment being revalued. When the fair value of a revalued asset differs materially
from its carrying amount, a further revaluation is required. Some items of property, plant and
equipment experience significant and volatile changes in fair value, thus necessitating annual
revaluation. Such frequent revaluations are unnecessary for items of property, plant and
equipment with only insignificant changes in fair value. Instead, it may be necessary to revalue
the item only every three or five years.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at
the date of the revaluation is treated in one of the following ways:

(@) restated proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so
that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount. This
method is often used when an asset is revalued by means of applying an index to
determine its depreciated replacement cost.

(b) eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated
to the revalued amount of the asset. This method is often used for buildings.

The amount of the adjustment arising on the restatement or elimination of accumulated
depreciation forms part of the increase or decrease in carrying amount that is accounted for in
accordance with paragraphs 39 and 40.

If an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the entire class of property, plant
and equipment to which that asset belongs shall be revalued.

A class of property, plant and equipment is a grouping of assets of a similar nature and use in
an entity’s operations. The following are examples of separate classes:

(@ land;

(b) land and buildings;
(c) machinery;

(d) ships;
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(e) aircraft;

) motor vehicles;

(9) furniture and fixtures; and
(h) office equipment.

The items within a class of property, plant and equipment are revalued simultaneously to avoid
selective revaluation of assets and the reporting of amounts in the financial statements that are
a mixture of costs and values as at different dates. However, a class of assets may be revalued
on a rolling basis provided revaluation of the class of assets is completed within a short period
and provided the revaluations are kept up to date.

If an asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase shall
be eredited—directly—to—equity—recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in_equity under the heading of revaluation surplus. However, the increase
shall be recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease
of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

If an asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease shall

be recognised in profit or loss. However, the decrease shall be debited-directhyrto-equity
whderthe-heading-ofrevaluation-surplus-recognised in other comprehensive income to

the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that
asset._The decrease recognised in_other comprehensive income reduces the amount
accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation surplus.

The revaluation surplus included in equity in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment
may be transferred directly to retained earnings when the asset is derecognised. This may
involve transferring the whole of the surplus when the asset is retired or disposed of. However,
some of the surplus may be transferred as the asset is used by an entity. In such a case, the
amount of the surplus transferred would be the difference between depreciation based on the
revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.
Transfers from revaluation surplus to retained earnings are not made through profit or loss.

The effects of taxes on income, if any, resulting from the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment are recognised and disclosed in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes.

Depreciation

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in
relation to the total cost of the item shall be depreciated separately.

An entity allocates the amount initially recognised in respect of an item of property, plant and
equipment to its significant parts and depreciates separately each such part. For example, it
may be appropriate to depreciate separately the airframe and engines of an aircraft, whether
owned or subject to a finance lease. Similarly, if an entity acquires property, plant and
equipment subject to an operating lease in which it is the lessor, it may be appropriate to
depreciate separately amounts reflected in the cost of that item that are attributable to
favourable or unfavourable lease terms relative to market terms.

A significant part of an item of property, plant and equipment may have a useful life and a
depreciation method that are the same as the useful life and the depreciation method of another
significant part of that same item. Such parts may be grouped in determining the depreciation
charge.

To the extent that an entity depreciates separately some parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment, it also depreciates separately the remainder of the item. The remainder consists of
the parts of the item that are individually not significant. If an entity has varying expectations for
these parts, approximation techniques may be necessary to depreciate the remainder in a
manner that faithfully represents the consumption pattern and/or useful life of its parts.

* Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
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An entity may choose to depreciate separately the parts of an item that do not have a cost that
is significant in relation to the total cost of the item.

The depreciation charge for each period shall be recognised in profit or loss unless it is
included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The depreciation charge for a period is usually recognised in profit or loss. However, sometimes,
the future economic benefits embodied in an asset are absorbed in producing other assets. In
this case, the depreciation charge constitutes part of the cost of the other asset and is included
in its carrying amount. For example, the depreciation of manufacturing plant and equipment is
included in the costs of conversion of inventories (see HKAS 2). Similarly, depreciation of
property, plant and equipment used for development activities may be included in the cost of an
intangible asset recognised in accordance with HKAS 38 Intangible Assets.

Depreciable amount and depreciation period

The depreciable amount of an asset shall be allocated on a systematic basis over its
useful life.

The residual value and the useful life of an asset shall be reviewed at least at each
financial year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall
be accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in accordance with HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Depreciation is recognised even if the fair value of the asset exceeds its carrying amount, as
long as the asset’s residual value does not exceed its carrying amount. Repair and maintenance
of an asset do not negate the need to depreciate it.

The depreciable amount of an asset is determined after deducting its residual value. In practice,
the residual value of an asset is often insignificant and therefore immaterial in the calculation of
the depreciable amount.

The residual value of an asset may increase to an amount equal to or greater than the asset’s
carrying amount. If it does, the asset’s depreciation charge is zero unless and until its residual
value subsequently decreases to an amount below the asset’s carrying amount.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use, ie when it is in the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in accordance with
HKFRS 5 and the date that the asset is derecognised. Therefore, depreciation does not cease
when the asset becomes idle or is retired from active use unless the asset is fully depreciated.
However, under usage methods of depreciation the depreciation charge can be zero while there
is no production.

The future economic benefits embodied in an asset are consumed by an entity principally
through its use. However, other factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence and
wear and tear while an asset remains idle, often result in the diminution of the economic benefits
that might have been obtained from the asset. Consequently, all the following factors are
considered in determining the useful life of an asset:

(@ expected usage of the asset. Usage is assessed by reference to the asset’s expected
capacity or physical output.

(b) expected physical wear and tear, which depends on operational factors such as the
number of shifts for which the asset is to be used and the repair and maintenance
programme, and the care and maintenance of the asset while idle.

(c) technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or improvements in
production, or from a change in the market demand for the product or service output of
the asset.

(d) legal or similar limits on the use of the asset, such as the expiry dates of related leases.
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The useful life of an asset is defined in terms of the asset’'s expected utility to the entity. The
asset management policy of the entity may involve the disposal of assets after a specified time
or after consumption of a specified proportion of the future economic benefits embodied in the
asset. Therefore, the useful life of an asset may be shorter than its economic life. The estimation
of the useful life of the asset is a matter of judgement based on the experience of the entity with
similar assets.

Land and buildings are separable assets and are accounted for separately, even when they are
acquired together. With some exceptions, such as quarries and sites used for landfill, land has
an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Buildings have a limited useful life and
therefore are depreciable assets. An increase in the value of the land on which a building stands
does not affect the determination of the depreciable amount of the building.

If the cost of land includes the costs of site dismantlement, removal and restoration, that portion
of the land asset is depreciated over the period of benefits obtained by incurring those costs. In
some cases, the land itself may have a limited useful life, in which case it is depreciated in a
manner that reflects the benefits to be derived from it.

Depreciation method

The depreciation method used shall reflect the pattern in which the asset’s future
economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the entity.

The depreciation method applied to an asset shall be reviewed at least at each financial
year-end and, if there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset, the method shall be
changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such a change shall be accounted for as a
change in an accounting estimate in accordance with HKAS 8.

A variety of depreciation methods can be used to allocate the depreciable amount of an asset
on a systematic basis over its useful life. These methods include the straight-line method, the
diminishing balance method and the units of production method. Straight-line depreciation
results in a constant charge over the useful life if the asset’s residual value does not change.
The diminishing balance method results in a decreasing charge over the useful life. The units of
production method results in a charge based on the expected use or output. The entity selects
the method that most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future
economic benefits embodied in the asset. That method is applied consistently from period to
period unless there is a change in the expected pattern of consumption of those future
economic benefits.

Impairment

To determine whether an item of property, plant and equipment is impaired, an entity applies
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets. That Standard explains how an entity reviews the carrying
amount of its assets, how it determines the recoverable amount of an asset, and when it
recognises, or reverses the recognition of, an impairment loss.

[Deleted]

Compensation for impairment

Compensation from third parties for items of property, plant and equipment that were
impaired, lost or given up shall be included in profit or loss when the compensation
becomes receivable.

Impairments or losses of items of property, plant and equipment, related claims for or payments
of compensation from third parties and any subsequent purchase or construction of
replacement assets are separate economic events and are accounted for separately as follows:

(@ impairments of items of property, plant and equipment are recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36;
(b) derecognition of items of property, plant and equipment retired or disposed of is

determined in accordance with this Standard;

(c) compensation from third parties for items of property, plant and equipment that were
impaired, lost or given up is included in determining profit or loss when it becomes
receivable; and
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(d) the cost of items of property, plant and equipment restored, purchased or constructed
as replacements is determined in accordance with this Standard.

Derecognition

67

68

68A

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be derecognised:
(@) on disposal; or

(b) when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and
equipment shall be included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised (unless

HKAS 17 requires otherwise on a sale and leaseback). Gains shall not be classified as
revenue.

However, an entity that, in the course of its ordinary activities, routinely sells items of property,

69

70

71

72

plant and equipment that it has held for rental to others shall transfer such assets to inventories
at their carrying amount when they cease to be rented and become held for sale. The proceeds
from the sale of such assets shall be recognised as revenue in accordance with HKAS 18
Revenue. HKFRS 5 does not apply when assets that are held for sale in the ordinary course of
business are transferred to inventories.

The disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment may occur in a variety of ways (eg by
sale, by entering into a finance lease or by donation). In determining the date of disposal of an
item, an entity applies the criteria in HKAS 18 Revenue-for recognising revenue from the sale of
goods. HKAS 17 applies to disposal by a sale and leaseback.

If, under the recognition principle in paragraph 7, an entity recognises in the carrying amount of
an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of a replacement for part of the item, then it
derecognises the carrying amount of the replaced part regardless of whether the replaced part
had been depreciated separately. If it is not practicable for an entity to determine the carrying
amount of the replaced part, it may use the cost of the replacement as an indication of what the
cost of the replaced part was at the time it was acquired or constructed.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and
equipment shall be determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if
any, and the carrying amount of the item.

The consideration receivable on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised initially at its fair value. If payment for the item is deferred, the consideration
received is recognised initially at the cash price equivalent. The difference between the nominal
amount of the consideration and the cash price equivalent is recognised as interest revenue in
accordance with HKAS 18 reflecting the effective yield on the receivable.

Disclosure

73

The financial statements shall disclose, for each class of property, plant and equipment:

(@ the measurement bases used for determining the gross carrying amount;

(b) the depreciation methods used;

(c) the useful lives or the depreciation rates used;

(d) the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (aggregated with

accumulated impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the period; and

(e) a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period
showing:

(i) additions;
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(i) assets classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group
classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 and other
disposals;

(iii) acquisitions through business combinations;

(iv) increases or decreases resulting from revaluations under paragraphs

31, 39 and 40 and from impairment losses recoghised—orreversed
directly—in—equity—recognised or_reversed in_other comprehensive
income in accordance with HKAS 36;

(v) impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in accordance with HKAS
36;

(vi) impairment losses reversed in profit or loss in accordance with HKAS
36;

(vii) depreciation;

(viii) the net exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial
statements from the functional currency into a different presentation
currency, including the translation of a foreign operation into the
presentation currency of the reporting entity; and

(ix) other changes.
74 The financial statements shall also disclose:
@) the existence and amounts of restrictions on title, and property, plant and

equipment pledged as security for liabilities;

(b) the amount of expenditures recognised in the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment in the course of its construction;

(c) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment; and

(d) if it is not disclosed separately—en—thefaceof the-income-statement_in the
statement of comprehensive income, the amount of compensation from third
parties for items of property, plant and equipment that were impaired, lost or
given up thatis included in profit or loss.

75 Selection of the depreciation method and estimation of the useful life of assets are matters of
judgement. Therefore, disclosure of the methods adopted and the estimated useful lives or
depreciation rates provides users of financial statements with information that allows them to
review the policies selected by management and enables comparisons to be made with other
entities. For similar reasons, it is necessary to disclose:

(@ depreciation, whether recognised in profit or loss or as a part of the cost of other assets,
during a period; and

(b) accumulated depreciation at the end of the period.

76 In accordance with HKAS 8 an entity discloses the nature and effect of a change in an
accounting estimate that has an effect in the current period or is expected to have an effect in
subsequent periods. For property, plant and equipment, such disclosure may arise from
changes in estimates with respect to:

(@ residual values;

(b) the _estimated costs of dismantling, removing or restoring items of property, plant and
equipment;

(c) useful lives; and

(d) depreciation methods.
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If items of property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts, the following
shall be disclosed:

@) the effective date of the revaluation;

(b) whether an independent valuer was involved;

(c) the methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating the items’ fair
values;

(d) the extent to which the items’ fair values were determined directly by reference

to observable prices in an active market or recent market transactions on arm’s
length terms or were estimated using other valuation techniques;

(e) for each revalued class of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount
that would have been recognised had the assets been carried under the cost
model; and

()] the revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any restrictions

on the distribution of the balance to shareholders.

In accordance with HKAS 36 an entity discloses information on impaired property, plant and
equipment in addition to the information required by paragraph 73(e)(iv)-(vi).

Users of financial statements may also find the following information relevant to their needs:

@) the carrying amount of temporarily idle property, plant and equipment;

(b) the gross carrying amount of any fully depreciated property, plant and equipment that
is still in use;

(c) the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment retired from active use and not

classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5; and

(d) when the cost model is used, the fair value of property, plant and equipment when this
is materially different from the carrying amount.

Therefore, entities are encouraged to disclose these amounts.

Transitional provisions

80

80A

80B

The requirements of paragraphs 24-26 regarding the initial measurement of an item of
property, plant and equipment acquired in an exchange of assets transaction shall be
applied prospectively to future transactions.

Enterprises which carried property, plant and equipment at revalued amounts in financial
statements relating to periods ended before 30 September 1995 are not required to make
regular revaluations in accordance with paragraphs 31 and 36 even if the carrying
amounts of the revalued assets are materially different from the asset’s fair values
provided that:

(@ these enterprises do not revalue their property, plant and equipment subsequent
to 1995; and
(b) disclosure of reliance of this paragraph is made in the financial statements.

SSAP 17 Property, Plant and Equipment exempted charitable, government subvented
and not-for-profit organisations whose long-term financial objective is other than to
achieve operating profits (e.g. trade associations, clubs and retirement schemes) from
compliance with its requirements. Those entities that have previously taken advantage of
the exemption under SSAP 17 are permitted to deem the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment immediately before applying this Standard on its effective
date (or earlier) as the cost of that item. Depreciation on the deemed cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment commences from the time at which this Standard is first
applied. In the case where a carrying amount is used as a deemed cost for subsequent
accounting, this fact and the aggregate of the carrying amounts for each class of
property, plant and equipment presented shall be disclosed.
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Effective date

81

8la

81A

81B

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2005. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period
beginning before 1 January 2005, it shall disclose that fact.

If an entity decides to apply this Standard for an earlier period, it is not required to apply all the
HKASs with the effective date for that same period. However, it is required to apply the
amendments set out in the appendix on amendments to other pronouncements for that earlier
period(s).

An entity shall apply the amendments in paragraph 3 for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2006. If an entity applies HKFRS 6 for an earlier period, those amendments shall be
applied for that earlier period.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (as revised in 2007) amended the terminology

81c’

used throughout HKFRSs. In addition it amended paragraphs 39, 40 and 73(e)(iv). An entity
shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. If an
entity applies HKAS 1 (revised 2007) for an earlier period, the amendments shall be applied for
that earlier period.

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations (as revised in 2008) amended paragraph 44. An entity shall

81D

apply that amendment for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. If an entity applies
HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) for an earlier period, the amendment shall also be applied for that

earlier period.

Paragraphs 6 and 69 were amended and paragraph 68A was added by Improvements to

81E.

HKFRSs issued in October 2008. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies the
amendments for an earlier period it shall disclose that fact and at the same time apply the
related amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows.

Paragraph 5 was amended by Improvements to HKFRSs issued in October 2008. An entity shall

apply that amendment prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.
Earlier application is permitted if an entity also applies the amendments to paragraphs 8, 9, 22,
48, 53, 53A, 53B, 54, 57 and 85B of HKAS 40 at the same time. If an entity applies the
amendment for an earlier period it shall disclose that fact.

Withdrawal of other pronouncements

82

83

This Standard supersedes SSAP 17 Property, Plant and Equipment revised in 2001.

This Standard supersedes the following Interpretations: (a) Interpretation 1 Costs of Modifying
Existing Software and Interpretation 5 Property, Plant and Equipment—Compensation for the
Impairment or Loss of Items

* Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
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Appendix

Comparison with International Accounting Standards

This comparison appendix, which was prepared as at 24 November 2005 and deals only with significant
differences in the standards extant, is produced for information only and does not form part of the
standards in HKAS 16.

The International Accounting Standard comparable with HKAS 16 is IAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment.

The following sets out the major textual difference between HKAS 16 and IAS 16 and the reason for the
difference.

Difference Reason for the difference

(i) HKAS 16 para 80A

A transitional arrangement was introduced in| To carry forward the transitional arrangement
the original SSAP 17 issued in 1995 to| previously included in SSAP 17.
relieve certain enterprises which carried their
property, plant and equipment at revalued
amounts before 30 September 1995 from
making regular revaluations.

(i) HKAS 16 para 80B

A transitional arrangement is included to| To deal with the concern of those exempted
allow those entities that have previously| entities that it might not be possible for them to
taken advantage of the exemption under| trace back the original cost of the asset for
SSAP 17 Property, Plant and Equipment to| applying this Standard.

deem the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment immediately
before applying this Standard on its effective
date (or earlier) as the cost of that item.
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Appendix

Amendments to other pronouncements

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2005. If an entity applies this Standard for an earlier period, these amendments shall be applied for that
earlier period.

* % %

The amendments contained in this appendix when this Standard was issued have been incorporated into
the relevant Standards.
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Basis for Conclusions on
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 16.

HKAS 16 is based on IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment. In approving HKAS 16, the Council of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants considered and agreed with the IASB’s Basis for
Conclusions on IAS 16. Accordingly, there are no significant differences between HKAS 16 and IAS 16.
The IASB’s Basis for Conclusions is reproduced below. The paragraph numbers of IAS 16 referred to
below generally correspond with those in HKAS 16.

Introduction

BC1 This Basis for Conclusions summarises the International Accounting Standards Board’s
considerations in reaching its conclusions on revising IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment in
2003. Individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to others.

BC2 In July 2001 the Board announced that, as part of its initial agenda of technical projects, it would
undertake a project to improve a number of Standards, including IAS 16. The project was
undertaken in the light of queries and criticisms raised in relation to the Standards by securities
regulators, professional accountants and other interested parties. The objectives of the
Improvements project were to reduce or eliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts
within Standards, to deal with some convergence issues and to make other improvements. In
May 2002 the Board published its proposals in an Exposure Draft of Improvements to
International Accounting Standards, with a comment deadline of 16 September 2002. The
Board received over 160 comment letters on the Exposure Draft.

BC3 Because the Board's intention was not to reconsider the fundamental approach to the

accounting for property, plant and equipment that was established by IAS 16, this Basis for
Conclusions does not discuss requirements in IAS 16 that the Board has not reconsidered.

Scope

BC4 The Board clarified that the requirements of IAS 16 apply to items of property, plant and
equipment that an entity uses to develop or maintain (a) biological assets and (b) mineral rights
and mineral reserves such as oil, natural gas and similar non-regenerative resources. The
Board noted that items of property, plant and equipment that an entity uses for these purposes
possess the same characteristics as other items of property, plant and equipment.

Recognition

BC5 In considering potential improvements to the previous version of IAS 16, the Board reviewed its
subsequent expenditure recognition principle for two reasons. First, the existing subsequent
expenditure recognition principle did not align with the asset recognition principle in the
Framework. Second, the Board noted difficulties in practice in making the distinction it required
between expenditures that maintain, and those that enhance, an item of property, plant and
equipment. Some expenditures seem to do both.

BC6 The Board ultimately decided that the separate recognition principle for subsequent expenditure
was not needed. As a result, an entity will evaluate all its property, plant and equipment costs
under IAS 16’s general recognition principle. Also, if the cost of a replacement for part of an item
of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of an asset, then an entity
will derecognise the carrying amount of what was replaced to avoid carrying both the
replacement and the replaced portion as assets. This derecognition occurs whether or not what
is replaced is a part of an item that the entity depreciates separately.

BC7 The Board'’s decision on how to handle the recognition principles was not reached easily. In the
Exposure Draft (ED), the Board proposed to include within IAS 16’s general recognition
principle only the recognition of subsequent expenditures that are replacements of a part of an
item of property, plant and equipment. Also in the ED, the Board proposed to modify the
subsequent expenditure recognition principle to distinguish more clearly the expenditures to
which it would continue to apply.
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Respondents to the ED agreed that it was appropriate for subsequent expenditures that were
replacements of a part of an item of property, plant and equipment that an entity depreciated
separately to be covered by the general recognition principle. However, the respondents argued,
and the Board agreed, that the modified second principle was not clearer because it would
result in an entity recognising in the carrying amount of an asset and then depreciating
subsequent expenditures that were for the day-to-day servicing of items of property, plant and
equipment, those that might commonly be regarded as for ‘repairs and maintenance’. That
result was not the Board’s intention.

In its redeliberation of the ED, the Board concluded it could not retain the proposed modified
subsequent expenditure recognition principle. It also concluded that it could not revert to the
subsequent expenditure principle in the previous version of IAS 16 because, if it did, nothing
was improved; the Framework conflict was not resolved and the practice issues were not
addressed.

The Board concluded that it was best for all subsequent expenditures to be covered by IAS 16’s
general recognition principle. This solution had the following advantages:

@) use of IAS 16’s general recognition principle fits the Framework.
(b) use of a single recognition principle is a straightforward approach.
(c) retaining IAS 16’s general recognition principle and combining it with the derecognition

principle will result in financial statements that reflect what is occurring, ie both the flow
of property, plant and equipment through an entity and the economics of the
acquisition and disposal process.

(d) use of one recognition principle fosters consistency. With two principles, consistency is
not achieved unless it is clear when each should apply. Because IAS 16 does not
address what constitutes an ‘item’ of property, plant and equipment, this clarity was not
assured because some might characterise a particular cost as the initial cost of a new
item of property, plant and equipment and others might regard it as a subsequent cost
of an existing item of property, plant and equipment.

As a consequence of placing all subsequent expenditures under IAS 16’s general recognition
principle, the Board also included those expenditures under IAS 16’s derecognition principle. In
the ED, the Board proposed the derecognition of the carrying amount of a part of an item that
was depreciated separately and was replaced by a subsequent expenditure that an entity
recognised in the carrying amount of the asset under the general recognition principle. With this
change, replacements of a part of an item that are not depreciated separately are subject to the
same approach.

The Board noted that some subsequent expenditures on property, plant and equipment,
although arguably incurred in the pursuit of future economic benefits, are not sufficiently certain
to be recognised in the carrying amount of an asset under the general recognition principle.
Thus, the Board decided to state in the Standard that an entity recognises in profit or loss as
incurred the costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment.

Measurement at recognition

Asset dismantlement, removal and restoration costs

BC13 The previous version of IAS 16 previously provided that in initially measuring an item of property,

BC14

plant and equipment at its cost, an entity would include the cost of dismantling and removing
that item and restoring the site on which it is located to the extent it had recognised an obligation
for that cost. As part of its deliberations, the Board evaluated whether it could improve this
guidance by addressing associated issues that have arisen in practice.

The Board concluded that the relatively limited scope of the Improvements project warranted
addressing only one matter. That matter was whether the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment should include the initial estimate of the cost of dismantlement, removal and
restoration that an entity incurs as a consequence of using the item (instead of as a
consequence of acquiring it). Therefore, the Board did not address how an entity should
account for (a) changes in the amount of the initial estimate of a recognised obligation, (b) the
effects of accretion of, or changes in interest rates on, a recognised obligation or (c) the cost of
obligations an entity did not face when it acquired the item, such as an obligation triggered by a
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law change enacted after the asset was acquired.

BC15 The Board observed that whether the obligation is incurred upon acquisition of the item or while
it is being used, its underlying nature and its association with the asset are the same. Therefore,
the Board decided that the cost of an item should include the costs of dismantlement, removal
or restoration, the obligation for which an entity has incurred as a consequence of having used
the item during a particular period other than to produce inventories during that period. An entity
applies IAS 2 Inventories to the costs of these obligations that are incurred as a consequence of
having used the item during a particular period to produce inventories during that period. The
Board observed that accounting for these costs initially in accordance with IAS 2 acknowledges
their nature. Furthermore, doing so achieves the same result as including these costs as an
element of the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, depreciating them over the
production period just completed and identifying the depreciation charge as a cost to produce
another asset (inventory), in which case the depreciation charge constitutes part of the cost of
that other asset.

BC16 The Board noted that because IAS 16’s initial measurement provisions are not affected by an
entity’s subsequent decision to carry an item under the cost model or the revaluation model, the
Board’s decision applies to assets that an entity carries under either treatment.

Asset exchange transactions

BC17 Paragraph 22 of the previous version of IAS 16 indicated that if (a) an item of property, plant and
equipment is acquired in exchange for a similar asset that has a similar use in the same line of
business and has a similar fair value or (b) an item of property, plant and equipment is sold in
exchange for an equity interest in a similar asset, then no gain or loss is recognised on the
transaction. The cost of the new asset is the carrying amount of the asset given up (rather than
the fair value of the purchase consideration given for the new asset).

BC18 This requirement in the previous version of IAS 16 was consistent with views that:

(@) gains should not be recognised on exchanges of assets unless the exchanges
represent the culmination of an earning process;

(b) exchanges of assets of a similar nature and value are not a substantive event
warranting the recognition of gains; and

(c) requiring or permitting the recognition of gains from such exchanges enables entities to
‘manufacture’ gains by attributing inflated values to the assets exchanged, if the assets
do not have observable market prices in active markets.

BC19 The approach described above raised issues about how to identify whether assets exchanged
are similar in nature and value. The Board reviewed this topic, and noted views that:

(@) under the Framework, the recognition of income from an exchange of assets does not
depend on whether the assets exchanged are dissimilar;

(b) income is not necessarily earned only at the culmination of an earning process, and in
some cases it is arbitrary to determine when an earning process culminates;

(c) generally, under both measurement bases after recognition that are permitted under
IAS 16, gain recognition is not deferred beyond the date at which assets are
exchanged; and

(d) removing ‘existing carrying amount’ measurement of property, plant and equipment

acquired in exchange for similar assets would increase the consistency of
measurement of acquisitions of assets.
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The Board decided to require in IAS 16 that all items of property, plant and equipment acquired
in exchange for non-monetary assets or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets
should be measured at fair value, except that, if the exchange transaction lacks commercial
substance or the fair value of neither of the assets exchanged can be determined reliably, then
the cost of the asset acquired in the exchange should be measured at the carrying amount of
the asset given up.

The Board added the ‘commercial substance’ test in response to a concern raised in the
comments it received on the ED. This concern was that, under the Board’s proposal, an entity
would measure at fair value an asset acquired in a transaction that did not have commercial
substance, ie the transaction did not have a discernible effect on an entity’s economics. The
Board agreed that requiring an evaluation of commercial substance would help to give users of
the financial statements assurance that the substance of a transaction in which the acquired
asset is measured at fair value (and often, consequentially, a gain on the disposal of the
transferred asset is recognised in income) is the same as its legal form.

The Board concluded that in evaluating whether a transaction has commercial substance, an
entity should calculate the present value of the post-tax cash flows that it can reasonably expect
to derive from the portion of its operations affected by the transaction. The discount rate should
reflect the entity’s current assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to those
operations rather than those that marketplace participants would make.

The Board included the ‘reliable measurement’ test for using fair value to measure these
exchanges to minimise the risk that entities could ‘manufacture’ gains by attributing inflated
values to the assets exchanged. Taking into consideration its project for the convergence of
IFRSs and US GAAP, the Board discussed whether to change the manner in which its ‘reliable
measurement’ test is described. The Board observed this was unnecessary because it believes
that its guidance and that contained in US GAAP are intended to have the same meaning.

The Board decided to retain, in IAS 18 Revenue, its prohibition on recognising revenue from
exchanges or swaps of goods or services of a similar nature and value. The Board has on its
agenda a project on revenue recognition and does not propose to make any significant
amendments to IAS 18 until that project is completed.

Measurement after recognition

BC25

BC26

BC27

BC28

Revaluation model

The Board is taking part in research activities with national standard-setters on revaluations of
property, plant and equipment. This research is intended to promote international convergence
of standards. One of the most important issues is identifying the preferred measurement
attribute for revaluations. This research could lead to proposals to amend IAS 16.

Depreciation: unit of measure

The Board’s discussions about the potential improvements to the depreciation principle in the
previous version of IAS 16 included consideration of the unit of measure an entity uses to
depreciate its items of property, plant and equipment. Of particular concern to the Board were
situations in which the unit of measure is the ‘item as a whole’ even though that item may be
composed of significant parts with individually varying useful lives or consumption patterns. The
Board did not believe that, in these situations, an entity’s use of approximation techniques, such
as a weighted average useful life for the item as a whole, resulted in depreciation that faithfully
represents an entity’s varying expectations for the significant parts.

The Board sought to improve the previous version of IAS 16 by proposing in the ED revisions to
existing guidance on separating an item into its parts and then further clarifying in the Standard
the need for an entity to depreciate separately any significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment. By doing so an entity will also separately depreciate the item’s remainder.

Depreciation: depreciable amount

During its discussion of depreciation principles, the Board noted the concern that, under the cost
model, the previously version of IAS 16 does not state clearly why an entity deducts an asset’s
residual value from its cost to determine the asset's depreciable amount. Some argue that the
objective is one of precision, ie reducing the amount of depreciation so that it reflects the item’s
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net cost. Others argue that the objective is one of economics, ie stopping depreciation if,
because of inflation or otherwise, an entity expects that during its useful life an asset will
increase in value by an amount greater than it will diminish.

The Board decided to improve the previous version of IAS 16 by making clear the objective of
deducting a residual value in determining an asset’s depreciable amount. In doing so, the Board
did not adopt completely either the ‘net cost’ or the ‘economics’ objective. Given the concept of
depreciation as a cost allocation technique, the Board concluded that an entity’s expectation of
increases in an asset’s value, because of inflation or otherwise, does not override the need to
depreciate it. Thus, the Board changed the definition of residual value to the amount an entity
could receive for the asset currently (at the financial reporting date) if the asset were already as
old and worn as it will be when the entity expects to dispose of it. Thus, an increase in the
expected residual value of an asset because of past events will affect the depreciable amount;
expectations of future changes in residual value other than the effects of expected wear and
tear will not.

Depreciation: depreciation period

The Board decided that the useful life of an asset should encompass the entire time it is
available for use, regardless of whether during that time it is in use or is idle. Idle periods most
commonly occur just after an asset is acquired and just before it is disposed of, the latter while
the asset is held either for sale or for another form of disposal.

The Board concluded that, whether idle or not, it is appropriate to depreciate an asset with a
limited useful life so that the financial statements reflect the consumption of the asset’s service
potential that occurs while the asset is held. The Board also discussed but decided not to
address the measurement of assets held for sale. The Board concluded that whether to apply a
different measurement model to assets held for sale—which may or may not be idle— was a
different question and was beyond the scope of the Improvements project.

In July 2003 the Board published ED 4 Disposal of Non-current Assets and Presentation of
Discontinued Operations. ED 4 was published as part of the Board’s short-term convergence
project, the scope of which was broader than that of the Improvements project. In ED 4, the
Board proposed that an entity should classify some of its assets as ‘assets held for sale’ if
specified criteria are met. Among other things, the Board proposed that an entity should cease
depreciating an asset classified in this manner, irrespective of whether the asset is idle. The
basis for this proposal was that the carrying amount of an asset held for sale will be recovered
principally through sale rather than future operations, and therefore accounting for the asset
should be a process of valuation rather than allocation. The Board will amend IAS 16
accordingly when ED 4 is finalised.

Depreciation: depreciation method

The Board considered how an entity should account for a change in a depreciation method. The
Board concluded that a change in a depreciation method is a change in the technique used to
apply the entity’s accounting policy to recognise depreciation as an asset’s future economic
benefits are consumed. Therefore, it is a change in an accounting estimate.

Derecognition

BC34

Derecognition date

The Board decided that an entity should apply the revenue recognition principle in IAS 18
Revenue for sales of goods to its gains from the sales of items of property, plant and equipment.
The requirements in that principle ensure the representational faithfulness of an entity’s
recognised revenue. Representational faithfulness is also the appropriate objective for an
entity’s recognised gains. However, in IAS 16, the revenue recognition principle’s criteria drive
derecognition of the asset disposed of rather than recognition of the proceeds received.
Applying the principle instead to the recognition of the proceeds might lead to the conclusion
that an entity will recognise a deferred gain. Deferred gains do not meet the definition of a
liability under the Framework. Thus, the Board decided that an entity does not derecognise an
item of property, plant and equipment until the requirements in IAS 18 to recognise revenue on
the sale of goods are met.
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Gain classification

BC35

Although the Board concluded that an entity should apply the recognition principle for revenue
from sales of goods to its recognition of gains on disposals of items of property, plant and
equipment, the Board concluded that the respective approaches to income statement display
should differ. The Board concluded that users of financial statements would consider these
gains and the proceeds from an entity’s sale of goods in the course of its ordinary activities
differently in their evaluation of an entity’s past results and their projections of future cash flows.
This is because revenue from the sale of goods is typically more likely to recur in comparable
amounts than are gains from sales of items of property, plant and equipment. Accordingly, the
Board concluded that an entity should not classify as revenue gains on disposals of items of
property, plant and equipment.

Assets held for rental to others’

BC35A

The Board identified that, in some industries, entities are in the business of renting and

BC35B

subsequently selling the same assets.

The Board noted that the Standard prohibits classification as revenue of gains arising from

BC35C

derecognition of items of property, plant and equipment. The Board also noted that paragraph
BC35 states the reason for this is ‘users of financial statements would consider these gains and
the proceeds from an entity’s sale of goods in the course of its ordinary activities differently in
their evaluation of an entity’s past results and their projections of future cash flows.’

Consistently with that reason, the Board concluded that entities whose ordinary activities include

BC35D

renting and subsequently selling the same assets should recognise revenue from both renting
and selling the assets. In the Board’s view, the presentation of gross selling revenue, rather than
a net gain or loss on the sale of the assets, would better reflect the ordinary activities of such
entities.

The Board concluded that the disclosure requirements of IAS 16, IAS 2 and IAS 18 would lead an

BC35E

entity to disclose relevant information for users.

The Board also concluded that paragraph 14 of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows should be

BC35F

amended to present within operating activities cash payments to manufacture or acquire such
assets and cash receipts from rents and sales of such assets.

The Board discussed the comments received in response to its exposure draft of proposed

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards published in 2007 and noted that a
few respondents would prefer the issue to be included in one of the Board’s major projects such
as the revenue recognition project or the financial statement presentation project. However, the
Board noted that the proposed amendment would improve financial statement presentation
before those projects could be completed and decided to add paragraph 68A as previously
exposed. A few respondents raised the concern that the term ‘held for sale’ in the amendment
could be confused with the notion of held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Consegquently, the Board clarified in the amendment
that IFRS 5 should not be applied in those circumstances.

- Paragraphs BC35A-BC35F were added as a consequence of amendments to IAS 16 by Improvements to IFRSs

issued in May 2008. At the same time, the Board also amended paragraph 6 by replacing the term ‘net selling price’

in the definition of ‘recoverable amount’ with ‘fair value less costs to sell’ for consistency with the wording used in

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations and IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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Transitional provisions

BC36. The Board concluded that it would be impracticable for an entity to determine retrospectively
whether a previous transaction involving an exchange of non-monetary assets had commercial
substance. This is because it would not be possible for management to avoid using hindsight in
making the necessary estimates as of earlier dates. Accordingly, the Board decided that in
accordance with the provisions of IAS 8 an entity should consider commercial substance only in
evaluating the initial measurement of future transactions involving an exchange of
non-monetary assets.

Summary of changes from the Exposure Draft

BC37. The main changes from the ED proposals to the revised Standard are as follows.

@

(b)

©

(d)

(€

© Copyright

The ED contained two recognition principles, one applying to subsequent expenditures
on existing items of property, plant and equipment. The Standard contains a single
recognition principle that applies to costs incurred initially to acquire an item and costs
incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of or service an item. An entity applies
the recognition principle to the latter costs at the time it incurs them.

Under the approach proposed in the ED, an entity measured an item of property, plant
and equipment acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset at fair value
irrespective of whether the exchange transaction in which it was acquired had
commercial substance. Under the Standard, a lack of commercial substance is cause
for an entity to measure the acquired asset at the carrying amount of the asset given

up.

Compared with the Standard, the ED did not as clearly set out the principle that an
entity separately depreciates at least the parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment that are of significant cost.

Under the approach proposed in the ED, an entity derecognised the carrying amount
of a replaced part of an item of property, plant and equipment if it recognised in the
carrying amount of the asset the cost of the replacement under the general recognition
principle. In the Standard, an entity also applies this approach to a replacement of a
part of an item that is not depreciated separately.

In finalising the Standard, the Board identified further necessary consequential

amendments to IFRS 1, IAS 14, IAS 34, IAS 36, IAS 37, IAS 38, IAS 40, SIC-13,
SIC-21, SIC-22 and SIC-32.
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Table of Concordance

This table shows how the contents of the superseded SSAP 17 and the current HKAS 16 correspond.
Paragraphs are treated as corresponding if they broadly address the same matter even though their
guidance may differ.

The table also shows how the requirements of Interpretation 5 have been incorporated into the current

HKAS 16.

Superseded Current Superseded Current
SSAP 17 HKAS 16 SSAP 17 HKAS 16
paragraph paragraph paragraph paragraph
Introduction 1 25 None
1 2 26 None
2 None 27 13
3 None 28-29 14
4 3 30 30
5 4 31 31
6 6 32 32
7 7 33 32,33
8 None 34 34
9 None 35 35
10 None 36 36
11 None 37 37
12 8,9 38 38
13 43-47 39 39
14 11 40 40
15 15 41 41
16 16-18 42 None
17 23 43 48, 50, 60
18 19, 20 44 52
19 22 45 56
20 27 46 57
21 26 47 58
22 None 48 51, 53
23 None 49 62
24 None 50 49
51 51
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and Errors provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting
policies in the absence of explicit guidance.
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 18
Revenue

Objective

Income is defined in the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements as
increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of inflows or enhancements of
assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in equity, other than those relating to
contributions from equity participants. Income encompasses both revenue and gains. Revenue is
income that arises in the course of ordinary activities of an entity and is referred to by a variety of
different names including sales, fees, interest, dividends and royalties. The objective of this Standard is
to prescribe the accounting treatment of revenue arising from certain types of transactions and events.

The primary issue in accounting for revenue is determining when to recognise revenue. Revenue is
recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and these benefits can
be measured reliably. This Standard identifies the circumstances in which these criteria will be met and,
therefore, revenue will be recognised. It also provides practical guidance on the application of these
criteria.

Scope

1 This Standard shall be applied in accounting for revenue arising from the following
transactions and events:

€) the sale of goods;
(b) the rendering of services; and
(c) the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties and dividends.
2 This Standard supersedes SSAP 18 Revenue (revised in May 2001).
3 Goods includes goods produced by the entity for the purpose of sale and goods purchased for

resale, such as merchandise purchased by a retailer or land and other property held for resale.

4 The rendering of services typically involves the performance by the entity of a contractually
agreed task over an agreed period of time. The services may be rendered within a single
period or over more than one period. Some contracts for the rendering of services are directly
related to construction contracts, for example, those for the services of project managers and
architects. Revenue arising from these contracts is not dealt with in this Standard but is dealt
with in accordance with the requirements for construction contracts as specified in HKAS 11
Construction Contracts.

5 The use by others of entity assets gives rise to revenue in the form of:
(®) interest - charges for the use of cash or cash equivalents or amounts due to the entity;
(b) royalties - charges for the use of long-term assets of the entity, for example, patents,

trademarks, copyrights and computer software; and

(c) dividends - distributions of profits to holders of equity investments in proportion to their
holdings of a particular class of capital.

6 This Standard does not deal with revenue arising from:
(®) lease agreements (see HKAS 17 Leases);
(b) dividends arising from investments which are accounted for under the equity method

(see HKAS 28 Investments in Associates);
(c) insurance contracts within the scope of HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts;

(d) changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities or their disposal
(see HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement);
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(e) changes in the value of other current assets;

® initial recognition and from changes in the fair value of biological assets related to
agricultural activity (see HKAS 41 Agriculture);

(9) initial recognition of agricultural produce (see HKAS 41); and

(h) the extraction of mineral ores.

Definitions

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits during the period arising in the course
of the ordinary activities of an entity when those inflows result in increases in equity,
other than increases relating to contributions from equity participants.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled,
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction.

Revenue includes only the gross inflows of economic benefits received and receivable by the
entity on its own account. Amounts collected on behalf of third parties such as sales taxes,
goods and services taxes and value added taxes are not economic benefits which flow to the
entity and do not result in increases in equity. Therefore, they are excluded from revenue.
Similarly, in an agency relationship, the gross inflows of economic benefits include amounts
collected on behalf of the principal and which do not result in increases in equity for the entity.
The amounts collected on behalf of the principal are not revenue. Instead, revenue is the
amount of commission.

Measurement of revenue

10

11

12

Revenue shall be measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.”

The amount of revenue arising on a transaction is usually determined by agreement between
the entity and the buyer or user of the asset. It is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable taking into account the amount of any trade discounts and
volume rebates allowed by the entity.

In most cases, the consideration is in the form of cash or cash equivalents and the amount of
revenue is the amount of cash or cash equivalents received or receivable. However, when the
inflow of cash or cash equivalents is deferred, the fair value of the consideration may be less
than the nominal amount of cash received or receivable. For example, an entity may provide
interest-free credit to the buyer or accept a note receivable bearing a below-market interest
rate from the buyer as consideration for the sale of goods. When the arrangement effectively
constitutes a financing transaction, the fair value of the consideration is determined by
discounting all future receipts using an imputed rate of interest. The imputed rate of interest is
the more clearly determinable of either:

(@ the prevailing rate for a similar instrument of an issuer with a similar credit rating; or

(b) a rate of interest that discounts the nominal amount of the instrument to the current
cash sales price of the goods or services.

The difference between the fair value and the nominal amount of the consideration is
recognised as interest revenue in accordance with paragraphs 29 and 30 and in accordance
with HKAS 39.

When goods or services are exchanged or swapped for goods or services which are of a
similar nature and value, the exchange is not regarded as a transaction which generates
revenue. This is often the case with commodities like oil or milk where suppliers exchange or
swap inventories in various locations to fulfil demand on a timely basis in a particular location.
When goods are sold or services are rendered in exchange for dissimilar goods or services,

" See also HK(SIC) - Int 31 Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services
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the exchange is regarded as a transaction which generates revenue. The revenue is measured
at the fair value of the goods or services received, adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash
equivalents transferred. When the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be
measured reliably, the revenue is measured at the fair value of the goods or services given up,
adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash equivalents transferred.

Identification of the transaction

13 The recognition criteria in this Standard are usually applied separately to each transaction.
However, in certain circumstances, it is necessary to apply the recognition criteria to the
separately identifiable components of a single transaction in order to reflect the substance of
the transaction. For example, when the selling price of a product includes an identifiable
amount for subsequent servicing, that amount is deferred and recognised as revenue over the
period during which the service is performed. Conversely, the recognition criteria are applied to
two or more transactions together when they are linked in such a way that the commercial
effect cannot be understood without reference to the series of transactions as a whole. For
example, an entity may sell goods and, at the same time, enter into a separate agreement to
repurchase the goods at a later date, thus negating the substantive effect of the transaction; in
such a case, the two transactions are dealt with together.

Sale of goods

14 Revenue from the sale of goods shall be recognised when all the following conditions
have been satisfied:

@) the entity has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods;

(b) the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

(c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will
flow to the entity; and

(e) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably.

15 The assessment of when an entity has transferred the significant risks and rewards of
ownership to the buyer requires an examination of the circumstances of the transaction. In
most cases, the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership coincides with the transfer of the
legal title or the passing of possession to the buyer. This is the case for most retail sales. In
other cases, the transfer of the risks and rewards of ownership occurs at a different time from
the transfer of legal title or the passing of possession.

16 If the entity retains significant risks of ownership, the transaction is not a sale and revenue is
not recognised. An entity may retain a significant risk of ownership in a number of ways.
Examples of situations in which the entity may retain the significant risks and rewards of
ownership are:

(@ when the entity retains an obligation for unsatisfactory performance not covered by
normal warranty provisions;

(b) when the receipt of the revenue from a particular sale is contingent on the derivation
of revenue by the buyer from its sale of the goods;
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(c) when the goods are shipped subject to installation and the installation is a significant
part of the contract which has not yet been completed by the entity; and

(d) when the buyer has the right to rescind the purchase for a reason specified in the
sales contract and the entity is uncertain about the probability of return.

If an entity retains only an insignificant risk of ownership, the transaction is a sale and revenue
is recognised. For example, a seller may retain the legal title to the goods solely to protect the
collectibility of the amount due. In such a case, if the entity has transferred the significant risks
and rewards of ownership, the transaction is a sale and revenue is recognised. Another
example of an entity retaining only an insignificant risk of ownership may be a retail sale when
a refund is offered if the customer is not satisfied. Revenue in such cases is recognised at the
time of sale provided the seller can reliably estimate future returns and recognises a liability for
returns based on previous experience and other relevant factors.

Revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the entity. In some cases, this may not be probable until the
consideration is received or until an uncertainty is removed. For example, it may be uncertain
that a foreign governmental authority will grant permission to remit the consideration from a
sale in a foreign country. When the permission is granted, the uncertainty is removed and
revenue is recognised. However, when an uncertainty arises about the collectibility of an
amount already included in revenue, the uncollectible amount or the amount in respect of
which recovery has ceased to be probable is recognised as an expense, rather than as an
adjustment of the amount of revenue originally recognised.

Revenue and expenses that relate to the same transaction or other event are recognised
simultaneously; this process is commonly referred to as the matching of revenues and
expenses. Expenses, including warranties and other costs to be incurred after the shipment of
the goods can normally be measured reliably when the other conditions for the recognition of
revenue have been satisfied. However, revenue cannot be recognised when the expenses
cannot be measured reliably; in such circumstances, any consideration already received for the
sale of the goods is recognised as a liability.

Rendering of services

20

21

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated
reliably, revenue associated with the transaction shall be recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the transaction at the-balance-sheet-date_end of the reporting
period. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following
conditions are satisfied:

(@ the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(b) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will
flow to the entity;

(c) the stage of completion of the transaction at the batance-sheet-date-end of the
reporting period can be measured reliably; and

(d) the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction
can be measured reliably.

The recognition of revenue by reference to the stage of completion of a transaction is often
referred to as the percentage of completion method. Under this method, revenue is recognised
in the accounting periods in which the services are rendered. The recognition of revenue on
this basis provides useful information on the extent of service activity and performance during a
period. HKAS 11 also requires the recognition of revenue on this basis. The requirements of
that Standard are generally applicable to the recognition of revenue and the associated
expenses for a transaction involving the rendering of services

" See also HK(SIC)-Int-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease and
HK(SIC)-Int-31 Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
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Revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the entity. However, when an uncertainty arises about the collectibility of
an amount already included in revenue, the uncollectible amount, or the amount in respect of
which recovery has ceased to be probable, is recognised as an expense, rather than as an
adjustment of the amount of revenue originally recognised.

An entity is generally able to make reliable estimates after it has agreed to the following with
the other parties to the transaction:

(@) each party's enforceable rights regarding the service to be provided and received by
the parties;

(b) the consideration to be exchanged; and

(c) the manner and terms of settlement.

It is also usually necessary for the entity to have an effective internal financial budgeting and
reporting system. The entity reviews and, when necessary, revises the estimates of revenue as
the service is performed. The need for such revisions does not necessarily indicate that the
outcome of the transaction cannot be estimated reliably.

The stage of completion of a transaction may be determined by a variety of methods. An entity
uses the method that measures reliably the services performed. Depending on the nature of
the transaction, the methods may include:

(@) surveys of work performed;
(b) services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed; or
(c) the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total costs of the

transaction. Only costs that reflect services performed to date are included in costs
incurred to date. Only costs that reflect services performed or to be performed are
included in the estimated total costs of the transaction.

Progress payments and advances received from customers often do not reflect the services
performed.

For practical purposes, when services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over
a specified period of time, revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the specified
period unless there is evidence that some other method better represents the stage of
completion. When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of
revenue is postponed until the significant act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be
estimated reliably, revenue shall be recognised only to the extent of the expenses
recognised that are recoverable.

During the early stages of a transaction, it is often the case that the outcome of the transaction
cannot be estimated reliably. Nevertheless, it may be probable that the entity will recover the
transaction costs incurred. Therefore, revenue is recognised only to the extent of costs incurred
that are expected to be recoverable. As the outcome of the transaction cannot be estimated
reliably, no profit is recognised.

When the outcome of a transaction cannot be estimated reliably and it is not probable that the
costs incurred will be recovered, revenue is not recognised and the costs incurred are
recognised as an expense. When the uncertainties that prevented the outcome of the contract
being estimated reliably no longer exist, revenue is recognised in accordance with paragraph
20 rather than in accordance with paragraph 26.
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Interest, royalties and dividends

29

30

31

32

33

34

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties and
dividends shall be recognised on the bases set out in paragraph 30 when:

(@) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will
flow to the entity; and

(b) the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.
Revenue shall be recognised on the following bases:

(@) interest shall be recognised using the effective interest method as set out in
HKAS 39, paragraphs 9 and AG5-AGS;

(b) royalties shall be recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the
substance of the relevant agreement; and

(c) dividends shall be recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment
is established.

[Deleted]

When unpaid interest has accrued before the acquisition of an interest-bearing investment, the
subsequent recelpt of |nterest is allocated between pre- acqwsmon and post- acqwsmon perlods

Royalties accrue in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreement and are usually
recognised on that basis unless, having regard to the substance of the agreement, it is more
appropriate to recognise revenue on some other systematic and rational basis.

Revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the entity. However, when an uncertainty arises about the collectibility of
an amount already included in revenue, the uncollectible amount, or the amount in respect of
which recovery has ceased to be probable, is recognised as an expense, rather than as an
adjustment of the amount of revenue originally recognised.

Disclosure

35

An entity shall disclose:

(@) the accounting policies adopted for the recognition of revenue including the
methods adopted to determine the stage of completion of transactions
involving the rendering of services;

(b) the amount of each significant category of revenue recognised during the
period, including revenue arising from:

0] the sale of goods;

(i) the rendering of services;
(iii) interest;

(iv) royalties;

(v) dividends; and
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(c) the amount of revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services included in
each significant category of revenue.

36 An entity discloses any contingent liabilities and contingent assets in accordance with HKAS 37

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. Contingent liabilities and contingent
assets may arise from items such as warranty costs, claims, penalties or possible losses.

Effective date

37 This Standard becomes operative for financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2005. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies this
Standard for a period beginning before 1 January 2005, it shall disclose that fact and
apply Hong Kong (SIC) Interpretation (HK(SIC)-Int) 31 Revenue — Barter Transactions
Involving Advertising Services at the same time.

38 Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate (Amendments to
HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements), issued in October 2008, amended
paragraph 32. An entity shall apply that amendment prospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2009. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies the related
amendments in paragraphs 4 and 38A of HKAS 27 for an earlier period, it shall apply the
amendment in paragraph 32 at the same time.
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Appendix

This appendix accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 18. The examples focus on particular aspects of a
transaction and are not a comprehensive discussion of all the relevant factors that might influence the
recognition of revenue. The examples generally assume that the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the costs incurred or to be
incurred can be measured reliably.

Sale of goods

The law in different countries may mean the recognition criteria in this Standard are met at different
times. In particular, the law may determine the point in time at which the entity transfers the significant
risks and rewards of ownership. Therefore, the examples in this section of the appendix need to be read
in the context of the laws relating to the sale of goods in the country in which the transaction takes place.

1 ‘Bill and hold' sales, in which delivery is delayed at the buyer's request but the buyer takes title
and accepts billing.

Revenue is recognised when the buyer takes title, provided:
(@) it is probable that delivery will be made;

(b) the item is on hand, identified and ready for delivery to the buyer at the time the sale
is recognised,;

(c) the buyer specifically acknowledges the deferred delivery instructions; and
(d) the usual payment terms apply.

Revenue is not recognised when there is simply an intention to acquire or manufacture the
goods in time for delivery.

2 Goods shipped subject to conditions.
(@) installation and inspection.
Revenue is normally recognised when the buyer accepts delivery, and installation and
inspection are complete. However, revenue is recognised immediately upon the
buyer's acceptance of delivery when:
0] the installation process is simple in nature, for example the installation of a
factory tested television receiver which only requires unpacking and

connection of power and antennae; or

(i) the inspection is performed only for purposes of final determination of
contract prices, for example, shipments of iron ore, sugar or soya beans.

(b) on approval when the buyer has negotiated a limited right of return.
If there is uncertainty about the possibility of return, revenue is recognised when the
shipment has been formally accepted by the buyer or the goods have been delivered

and the time period for rejection has elapsed.

(c) consignment sales under which the recipient (buyer) undertakes to sell the goods on
behalf of the shipper (seller).

Revenue is recognised by the shipper when the goods are sold by the recipient to a
third party.

(d) cash on delivery sales.

Revenue is recognised when delivery is made and cash is received by the seller or its
agent.
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3 Lay away sales under which the goods are delivered only when the buyer makes the final
payment in a series of instalments.

Revenue from such sales is recognised when the goods are delivered. However, when
experience indicates that most such sales are consummated, revenue may be recognised
when a significant deposit is received provided the goods are on hand, identified and ready for
delivery to the buyer.

4 Orders when payment (or partial payment) is received in advance of delivery for goods not
presently held in inventory, for example, the goods are still to be manufactured or will be
delivered directly to the customer from a third party.

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered to the buyer.

5 Sale and repurchase agreements (other than swap transactions) under which the seller
concurrently agrees to repurchase the same goods at a later date, or when the seller has a call
option to repurchase, or the buyer has a put option to require the repurchase, by the seller, of
the goods.

For a sale and repurchase agreement on an asset other than a financial asset, the terms of the
agreement need to be analysed to ascertain whether, in substance, the seller has transferred
the risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer and hence revenue is recognised. When the
seller has retained the risks and rewards of ownership, even though legal title has been
transferred, the transaction is a financing arrangement and does not give rise to revenue. For a
sale and repurchase agreement on a financial asset, IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement applies.

6 Sales to intermediate parties, such as distributors, dealers or others for resale.

Revenue from such sales is generally recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership
have passed. However, when the buyer is acting, in substance, as an agent, the sale is treated
as a consignment sale.

7 Subscriptions to publications and similar items.

When the items involved are of similar value in each time period, revenue is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period in which the items are despatched. When the items vary in
value from period to period, revenue is recognised on the basis of the sales value of the item
despatched in relation to the total estimated sales value of all items covered by the subscription.

8 Instalment sales, under which the consideration is receivable in instalments.
Revenue attributable to the sales price, exclusive of interest, is recognised at the date of sale.
The sale price is the present value of the consideration, determined by discounting the

instalments receivable at the imputed rate of interest. The interest element is recognised as
revenue as it is earned, using the effective interest method.

9 Real estate sales.

This example has been superseded by IFRIC Interpretation 15 Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate.
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Rendering of services

10

11

12

13

14

Installation fees.

Installation fees are recognised as revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the
installation, unless they are incidental to the sale of a product in which case they are
recognised when the goods are sold.

Servicing fees included in the price of the product.

When the selling price of a product includes an identifiable amount for subsequent servicing
(for example, after sales support and product enhancement on the sale of software), that
amount is deferred and recognised as revenue over the period during which the service is
performed. The amount deferred is that which will cover the expected costs of the services
under the agreement, together with a reasonable profit on those services.

Advertising commissions.

Media commissions are recognised when the related advertisement or commercial appears
before the public. Production commissions are recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the project.

Insurance agency commissions.

Insurance agency commissions received or receivable which do not require the agent to render
further service are recognised as revenue by the agent on the effective commencement or
renewal dates of the related policies. However, when it is probable that the agent will be
required to render further services during the life of the policy, the commission, or part thereof,
is deferred and recognised as revenue over the period during which the policy is in force.

Financial service fees.

The recognition of revenue for financial service fees depends on the purposes for which the
fees are assessed and the basis of accounting for any associated financial instrument. The
description of fees for financial services may not be indicative of the nature and substance of
the services provided. Therefore, it is necessary to distinguish between fees that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument, fees that are earned as
services are provided, and fees that are earned on the execution of a significant act.

(@ Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument.

Such fees are generally treated as an adjustment to the effective interest rate.
However, when the financial instrument is measured at fair value with the change in
fair value recognised in profit or loss, the fees are recognised as revenue when the
instrument is initially recognised.

0] Origination fees received by the entity relating to the creation or acquisition
of a financial asset other than one that under IAS 39 is classified as a
financial asset at ‘fair value through profit or loss’.
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Such fees may include compensation for activities such as evaluating the
borrower's financial condition, evaluating and recording guarantees,
collateral and other security arrangements, negotiating the terms of the
instrument, preparing and processing documents and closing the transaction.
These fees are an integral part of generating an involvement with the
resulting financial instrument and, together with the related direet-transaction
costs- (as defined in IAS 39), are deferred and recognised as an adjustment
to the effective interest rate.

Commitment fees received by the entity to originate a loan when the loan
commitment is outside the scope of IAS 39.

If it is probable that the entity will enter into a specific lending arrangement
and the loan commitment is not within the scope of IAS 39, the commitment
fee received is regarded as compensation for an ongoing involvement with
the acquisition of a financial instrument and, together with the related direct
transaction costs (as defined in 1AS 39), is deferred and recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate. If the commitment expires without
the entity making the loan, the fee is recognised as revenue on expiry. Loan
commitments that are within the scope of IAS 39 are accounted for as
derivatives and measured at fair value.

Origination fees received on issuing financial liabilites measured at
amortised cost.

These fees are an integral part of generating an involvement with a financial
liability. When a financial liability is not classified as ‘at fair value through
profit or loss’, the origination fees received are included, with the related
transaction costs (as defined in IAS 39) incurred, in the initial carrying
amount of the financial liability and recognised as an adjustment to the
effective interest rate. An entity distinguishes fees and costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate for the financial liability from
origination fees and transaction costs relating to the right to provide services,
such as investment management services.

Fees earned as services are provided.

0

(ii)

(iii)

Fees charged for servicing a loan.

Fees charged by an entity for servicing a loan are recognised as revenue as
the services are provided.

Commitment fees to originate a loan when the loan commitment is outside
the scope of IAS 39.

If it is unlikely that a specific lending arrangement will be entered into and the
loan commitment is outside the scope of IAS 39, the commitment fee is
recognised as revenue on a time proportion basis over the commitment
period. Loan commitments that are within the scope of IAS 39 are accounted
for as derivatives and measured at fair value.

Investment management fees

Fees charged for managing investments are recognised as revenue as the
services are provided.

- In Improvements to IFRSs issued in May 2008, the Board replaced the term ‘direct costs’ with ‘transaction costs’ as

defined in paragraph 9 of IAS 39. This amendment removed an inconsistency for costs incurred in originating

financial assets and liabilities that should be deferred and recognised as an adjustment to the underlying effective

interest rate. ‘Direct costs’, as previously defined, did not require such costs to be incremental.
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Incremental costs that are directly attributable to securing an investment
management contract are recognised as an asset if they can be identified
separately and measured reliably and if it is probable that they will be
recovered. As in IAS 39, an incremental cost is one that would not have been
incurred if the entity had not secured the investment management contract.
The asset represents the entity’s contractual right to benefit from providing
investment management services, and is amortised as the entity recognises
the related revenue. If the entity has a portfolio of investment management
contracts, it may assess their recoverability on a portfolio basis.

Some financial services contracts involve both the origination of one or more
financial instruments and the provision of investment management services.
An example is a long-term monthly saving contract linked to the
management of a pool of equity securities. The provider of the contract
distinguishes the transaction costs relating to the origination of the financial
instrument from the costs of securing the right to provide investment
management services.

(c) Fees that are earned on the execution of a significant act.

The fees are recognised as revenue when the significant act has been completed, as
in the examples below.

@) Commission on the allotment of shares to a client.

The commission is recognised as revenue when the shares have been
allotted.

(i) Placement fees for arranging a loan between a borrower and an investor.
The fee is recognised as revenue when the loan has been arranged.
(iii) Loan syndication fees.

A syndication fee received by an entity that arranges a loan and retains no
part of the loan package for itself (or retains a part at the same effective
interest rate for comparable risk as other participants) is compensation for
the service of syndication. Such a fee is recognised as revenue when the
syndication has been completed.

15 Admission fees.

Revenue from artistic performances, banquets and other special events is recognised when the
event takes place. When a subscription to a number of events is sold, the fee is allocated to
each event on a basis which reflects the extent to which services are performed at each event.

16 Tuition fees.
Revenue is recognised over the period of instruction.
17 Initiation, entrance and membership fees.

Revenue recognition depends on the nature of the services provided. If the fee permits only
membership, and all other services or products are paid for separately, or if there is a separate
annual subscription, the fee is recognised as revenue when no significant uncertainty as to its
collectibility exists. If the fee entitles the member to services or publications to be provided
during the membership period, or to purchase goods or services at prices lower than those
charged to non-members, it is recognised on a basis that reflects the timing, nature and value
of the benefits provided.

18 Franchise fees.
Franchise fees may cover the supply of initial and subsequent services, equipment and other
tangible assets, and know-how. Accordingly, franchise fees are recognised as revenue on a

basis that reflects the purpose for which the fees were charged. The following methods of
franchise fee recognition are appropriate:
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@) Supplies of equipment and other tangible assets.

The amount, based on the fair value of the assets sold, is recognised as revenue
when the items are delivered or title passes.

(b) Supplies of initial and subsequent services.

Fees for the provision of continuing services, whether part of the initial fee or a
separate fee, are recognised as revenue as the services are rendered. When the
separate fee does not cover the cost of continuing services together with a reasonable
profit, part of the initial fee, sufficient to cover the costs of continuing services and to
provide a reasonable profit on those services, is deferred and recognised as revenue
as the services are rendered.

The franchise agreement may provide for the franchisor to supply equipment,
inventories, or other tangible assets, at a price lower than that charged to others or a
price that does not provide a reasonable profit on those sales. In these circumstances,
part of the initial fee, sufficient to cover estimated costs in excess of that price and to
provide a reasonable profit on those sales, is deferred and recognised over the period
the goods are likely to be sold to the franchisee. The balance of an initial fee is
recognised as revenue when performance of all the initial services and other
obligations required of the franchisor (such as assistance with site selection, staff
training, financing and advertising) has been substantially accomplished.

The initial services and other obligations under an area franchise agreement may
depend on the number of individual outlets established in the area. In this case, the
fees attributable to the initial services are recognised as revenue in proportion to the
number of outlets for which the initial services have been substantially completed.

If the initial fee is collectible over an extended period and there is a significant
uncertainty that it will be collected in full, the fee is recognised as cash instalments are
received.

(c) Continuing franchise fees.

Fees charged for the use of continuing rights granted by the agreement, or for other
services provided during the period of the agreement, are recognised as revenue as
the services are provided or the rights used.

(d) Agency transactions.
Transactions may take place between the franchisor and the franchisee which, in
substance, involve the franchisor acting as an agent for the franchisee. For example,
the franchisor may order supplies and arrange for their delivery to the franchisee at no
profit. Such transactions do not give rise to revenue.
19 Fees from the development of customised software.
Fees from the development of customised software are recognised as revenue by reference to

the stage of completion of the development, including completion of services provided for post-
delivery service support.

Interest, royalties and dividends

20 Licence fees and royalties.

Fees and royalties paid for the use of an entity's assets (such as trademarks, patents, software,
music copyright, record masters and motion picture films) are normally recognised in
accordance with the substance of the agreement. As a practical matter, this may be on a
straight-line basis over the life of the agreement, for example, when a licensee has the right to
use certain technology for a specified period of time.
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An assignment of rights for a fixed fee or non refundable guarantee under a non-cancellable
contract which permits the licensee to exploit those rights freely and the licensor has no
remaining obligations to perform is, in substance, a sale. An example is a licensing agreement
for the use of software when the licensor has no obligations subsequent to delivery. Another
example is the granting of rights to exhibit a motion picture film in markets where the licensor
has no control over the distributor and expects to receive no further revenues from the box
office receipts. In such cases, revenue is recognised at the time of sale.

In some cases, whether or not a licence fee or royalty will be received is contingent on the
occurrence of a future event. In such cases, revenue is recognised only when it is probable that
the fee or royalty will be received, which is normally when the event has occurred.

Determining whether an entity is acting as a principal or as an agent (2009 amendment).

Paragraph 8 states that ‘in an agency relationship, the gross inflows of economic benefits
include amounts collected on behalf of the principal and which do not result in increases in
equity for the entity. The amounts collected on behalf of the principal are not revenue. Instead,
revenue is the amount of commission.” Determining whether an entity is acting as a principal
or as an agent requires judgement and consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances.

An entity is acting as a principal when it has exposure to the significant risks and rewards
associated with the sale of goods or the rendering of services. Features that indicate that an
entity is acting as a principal include:

(a) the entity has the primary responsibility for providing the goods or services to the
customer or for fulfilling the order, for example by being responsible for the
acceptability of the products or services ordered or purchased by the customer;

(b) the entity has inventory risk before or after the customer order, during shipping or on
return;
(c) the entity has latitude in establishing prices, either directly or indirectly, for example

by providing additional goods or services; and

(d) the entity bears the customer’s credit risk for the amount receivable from the
customer.

An entity is acting as an agent when it does not have exposure to the significant risks and
rewards associated with the sale of goods or the rendering of services. One feature indicating
that an entity is acting as an agent is that the amount the entity earns is predetermined, being
either a fixed fee per transaction or a stated percentage of the amount billed to the customer.
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Appendix A

Comparison with International Accounting Standards

This comparison appendix, which was prepared as at October 2004 and deals only with significant
differences in the standards extant, is produced for information only and does not form part of the
standards in HKAS 18.

The International Accounting Standard comparable with HKAS 18 is IAS 18 Revenue.

There are no major textual differences between HKAS 18 and IAS 18.
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Appendix B

Amendments resulting from other HKFRSs

The following sets out amendments required for this Standard resulting from other newly issued
HKFRSs that are not yet effective. Once effective, the amendments set out below will be incorporated
into the text of this Standard and this appendix will be deleted. In the amended paragraphs shown below,
new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued in November 2009) -
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

In the rubric the reference to ‘paragraphs 1-38’ is amended to ‘paragraphs 1-39’. Paragraph 6(d) and
the last sentence of paragraph 11 are amended and paragraph 39 is added as follows:

6 This Standard does not deal with revenue arising from:

(d) changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities or their
disposal (see HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement);

11 In most cases ... The difference between the fair value and the nominal amount of
the consideration is recognised as interest revenue in accordance with paragraphs
29 and 30 and in accordance with HKAS 39 and HKFRS 9.

39 HKFRS 9, issued in November 2009, amended paragraphs 6(d) and 11. An entity
shall apply those amendments when it applies HKFRS 9.

In the appendix to IAS 18, examples 5 and 14(a) are amended as follows:
5

For a sale and repurchase agreement on an asset other than a financial asset, the
terms of the agreement need to be analysed to ascertain whether, in substance, the
seller has transferred the risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer and hence
revenue is recognised. When the seller has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership, even though legal title has been transferred, the transaction is a
financing arrangement and does not give rise to revenue. For a sale and repurchase
agreement on a financial asset, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement apply applies.

14 Financial service fees

(@) Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial
instrument.

(i) Origination fees received by the entity relating to the creation or
acquisition of a financial asset other than one that under |IFRS 9
1AS-39 is measured classified as—a-financial-asset—at fair value
through profit or loss-.

Such fees may include compensation for activities such as
evaluating the borrower's financial condition, evaluating and
recording guarantees, collateral and other security arrangements,
negotiating the terms of the instrument, preparing and processing
documents and closing the transaction. These fees are an
integral part of generating an involvement with the resulting
financial instrument and, together with the related transaction
costs [footnote omitted] (as defined in IAS 39), are deferred and
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate.
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 20
Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government
Assistance*

Scope

1 This Standard shall be applied in accounting for, and in the disclosure of, government
grants and in the disclosure of other forms of government assistance.

2 This Standard does not deal with:

(a) the special problems arising in accounting for government grants in financial
statements reflecting the effects of changing prices or in supplementary information of
a similar nature:.

(b) government assistance that is provided for an entity in the form of benefits that are
available in determining taxable irceme-profit or tax loss, or are determined or limited
on the basis of income tax liability. Examples of such benefits are {sueh-as-income tax
holidays, investment tax credits, accelerated depreciation allowances and reduced
income tax rates);.

(c) government participation in the ownership of the entity:.
(d) government grants covered by HKAS 41 Agriculture.
Definitions
3 The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Government refers to government, government agencies and similar bodies whether
local, national or international.

Government assistance is action by government designed to provide an economic benefit
specific to an entity or range of entities qualifying under certain criteria. Government
assistance for the purpose of this Standard does not include benefits provided only
indirectly through action affecting general trading conditions, such as the provision of
infrastructure in development areas or the imposition of trading constraints on
competitors.

Government grants are assistance by government in the form of transfers of resources to
an entity in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the
operating activities of the entity. They exclude those forms of government assistance
which cannot reasonably have a value placed upon them and transactions with
government which cannot be distinguished from the normal trading transactions of the
entity.

Grants related to assets are government grants whose primary condition is that an entity
qualifying for them shalshould purchase, construct or otherwise acquire long-term
assets. Subsidiary conditions may also be attached restricting the type or location of
the assets or the periods during which they are to be acquired or held.

Grants related to income are government grants other than those related to assets.

*+ As part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in October 2008 the HKICPA amended terminology used
in this Standard to be consistent with other HKFRSs as follows: (a) ‘taxable income’ was amended to
‘taxable profit or tax loss’, (b) ‘recognised as income/expense’ was amended to ‘recognised in profit or
loss’, (c) ‘credited directly to shareholders’ interests/equity’ was amended to ‘recognised outside profit
or loss’, and (d)‘revision to an accounting estimate’ was amended to ‘change in accounting estimate’.

See also HK(SIC)-Int 10 Government Assistance — No Specific Relation to Operating Activities.
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Forgivable loans are loans which the lender undertakes to waive repayment of under
certain prescribed conditions.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between a
knowledgeable, willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm's length
transaction.

Government assistance takes many forms varying both in the nature of the assistance given
and in the conditions which are usually attached to it. The purpose of the assistance may be to
encourage an entity to embark on a course of action which it would not normally have taken if
the assistance was not provided.

The receipt of government assistance by an entity may be significant for the preparation of the
financial statements for two reasons. Firstly, if resources have been transferred, an appropriate
method of accounting for the transfer must be found. Secondly, it is desirable to give an
indication of the extent to which the entity has benefited from such assistance during the
reporting period. This facilitates comparison of an entity’s financial statements with those of
prior periods and with those of other entities.

Government grants are sometimes called by other names such as subsidies, subventions, or
premiums.

Government grants

7

10

10A

Government grants, including non-monetary grants at fair value, shall not be recognised
until there is reasonable assurance that:

@) the entity will comply with the conditions attaching to them; and

(b) the grants will be received.

A government grant is not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the entity will
comply with the conditions attaching to it, and that the grant will be received. Receipt of a grant
does not of itself provide conclusive evidence that the conditions attaching to the grant have
been or will be fulfilled.

The manner in which a grant is received does not affect the accounting method to be adopted
in regard to the grant. Thus a grant is accounted for in the same manner whether it is received
in cash or as a reduction of a liability to the government.

A forgivable loan from government is treated as a government grant when there is reasonable
assurance that the entity will meet the terms for forgiveness of the loan.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government

11

12

13

grant. The loan shall be recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The benefit of the below-market rate of interest
shall be measured as the difference between the initial carrying value of the loan determined in
accordance with HKAS 39 and the proceeds received. The benefit is accounted for in
accordance with this Standard. The entity shall consider the conditions and obligations that
have been, or must be, met when identifying the costs for which the benefit of the loan is
intended to compensate.

Once a government grant is recognised, any related contingent liability or contingent asset is
treated in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Government grants shall be recognised as—ineeme in profit or loss on a systematic

basis over the periods recessary-to-match-them-with in which the entity recognises as
expenses the related costs for which they the grants are intended to compensate.—oen-a

. e ot | itod direst] hareholders. int _

There are two broad approaches may-be-found to the accounting treatment-of for government
grants: the capital approach, under which a grant is recognised outside profit or loss eredited

directlyto-shareholders’interests, and the income approach, under which a grant is taken-te

ineome recognised in profit or loss over one or more periods.
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Those in support of the capital approach argue as follows:

(@) government grants are a financing device and should be dealt with as such in the
balance—sheet—statement of financial position rather than be passed—through
recognised in the-income-statement-profit or loss to offset the items of expense which
that they finance. Since Because no repayment is expected, they such grants should

be eredited-directly-to-shareholders-interests recognised outside profit or loss;:-and.

(b) it is inappropriate to recognise government grants in the-income-statement-profit or
loss, since because they are not earned but represent an incentive provided by
government without related costs.

Arguments in support of the income approach are as follows:
@) sinee because government grants are receipts from a source other than shareholders,

they should not be ered#ed—&reeﬂy—te—sha«teheldem—mterests recognised directly in
equity but should be recognised as-income in profit or loss in appropriate periods;.

(b) government grants are rarely gratuitous. The entity earns them through compliance
with their conditions and meeting the envisaged obligations. They should therefore be
recognised as-irceme in profit or loss over the periods in which the entity recognises
as expenses the related and-matched-with-the-asseciated costs for which the grant is
intended to compensate;-and.

(c) as because income and other taxes are eharges-againstincome expenses, it is logical
to deal also with government grants, which are an extension of fiscal poI|C|es in the

income-statement-profit or loss.

It is fundamental to the income approach that government grants should be recognised as
income in profit or loss on a systematic and-rational basis over the periods in which the entity
recognises as expenses the necessary-to-match-them-with-the related costs for which the grant
is intended to compensate. eeme-rRecognition of government grants in profit or loss on a
receipts basis is not in accordance with the accrual accounting assumption (see HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements) and would enly be acceptable only if no basis existed for
allocating a grant to periods other than the one in which it was received.

In most cases the periods over which an entity recognises the costs or expenses related to a
government grant are readily ascertainable. and—tThus grants in recognition of specific
expenses are recognised as—ineeme in profit or loss in the same period as the relevant
expenses. Similarly, grants related to depreciable assets are usually recognised as-irceme in
profit or loss over the periods and in the proportions in which depreciation expense on those
assets is ehargedrecognised.

Grants related to non-depreciable assets may also require the fulfilment of certain obligations
and would then be recognised as-irceme in profit or loss over the periods that which bear the
cost of meeting the obligations. As an example, a grant of land may be conditional upon the
erection of a building on the site and it may be appropriate to recognise i the grant as-income
in profit or loss over the life of the building.

Grants are sometimes received as part of a package of financial or fiscal aids to which a
number of conditions are attached. In such cases, care is needed in identifying the conditions
giving rise to costs and expenses which determine the periods over which the grant will be
earned. It may be appropriate to allocate part of a grant on one basis and part on another.

A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the entity
with no future related costs shall be recognised as-inceme-in profit or loss of the period
in which it becomes receivable.

In some circumstances, a government grant may be awarded for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to an entity rather than as an incentive to undertake specific
expenditures. Such grants may be confined to an-individual a particular entity and may not be
available to a whole class of beneficiaries. These circumstances may warrant recognising a
grant as-irceme in profit or loss of i the period in which the entity qualifies to receive it, with
disclosure to ensure that its effect is clearly understood.
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A government grant may become receivable by an entity as compensation for expenses or
losses incurred in a previous period. Such a grant is recognised as-ircome in profit or loss of
the period in which it becomes receivable, with disclosure to ensure that its effect is clearly
understood.

Non-monetary government grants

A government grant may take the form of a transfer of a non-monetary asset, such as land or
other resources, for the use of the entity. In these circumstances it is usual to assess the fair
value of the non-monetary asset and to account for both grant and asset at that fair value. An
alternative course that is sometimes followed is to record both asset and grant at a nominal
amount.

Presentation of grants related to assets

Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, shall
be presented in the balance-sheet statement of financial position either by setting up the
grant as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of
the asset.

Two methods of presentation in financial statements of grants (or the appropriate portions of
grants) related to assets are regarded as acceptable alternatives.

One method sets—up recognises the grant as deferred income that which is recognised as
ineome in profit or loss on a systematic and-rational basis over the useful life of the asset.

The other method deducts the grant in arriving-at calculating the carrying amount of the asset.
The grant is recognised as-income in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset by-way-of
as a reduced depreciation eharge expense.

The purchase of assets and the receipt of related grants can cause major movements in the
cash flow of an entity. For this reason and in order to show the gross investment in assets,
such movements are often disclosed as separate items in the statement of cash flows
statement regardless of whether or not the grant is deducted from the related asset—for-the
purpose-of-balance-sheet-presentation_for presentation purposes in the statement of financial

Presentation of grants related to income

Grants related to income are sometimes presented as a credit in the income—statement
statement of comprehensive income, either separately or under a general heading such as
"Other income"; alternatively, they are deducted in reporting the related expense.

If an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement as

30

31

described in paragraph 81 of HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007), it presents grants related to income
as required in paragraph 29 in that separate statement.

Supporters of the first method claim that it is inappropriate to net income and expense items
and that separation of the grant from the expense facilitates comparison with other expenses
not affected by a grant. For the second method it is argued that the expenses might well not
have been incurred by the entity if the grant had not been available and presentation of the
expense without offsetting the grant may therefore be misleading.

Both methods are regarded as acceptable for the presentation of grants related to income.
Disclosure of the grant may be necessary for a proper understanding of the financial
statements. Disclosure of the effect of the grants on any item of income or expense which is
required to be separately disclosed is usually appropriate.
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Repayment of government grants

A government grant that becomes repayable shall be accounted for as a revisionto-an
change in accounting estimate (see HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors). Repayment of a grant related to income shall be applied first
against any unamortised deferred credit set-up recognised in respect of the grant. To
the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred credit, or when where no
deferred credit exists, the repayment shall be recognised immediately as-an-expense in
profit or loss. Repayment of a grant related to an asset shall be recorded recognised by
increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the deferred income balance by
the amount repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation that would have been
recognised in profit or loss to date as—an-expense in the absence of the grant shall be

recognised immediately as-an-expense in profit or loss.

Circumstances giving rise to repayment of a grant related to an asset may require
consideration to be given to the possible impairment of the new carrying amount of the asset.

Government assistance

34 Excluded from the definition of government grants in paragraph 3 are certain forms of
government assistance which cannot reasonably have a value placed upon them and
transactions with government which cannot be distinguished from the normal trading
transactions of the entity.

35 Examples of assistance that cannot reasonably have a value placed upon them are free
technical or marketing advice and the provision of guarantees. An example of assistance that
cannot be distinguished from the normal trading transactions of the entity is a government
procurement policy that is responsible for a portion of the entity's sales. The existence of the
benefit might be unquestioned but any attempt to segregate the trading activities from
government assistance could well be arbitrary.

36 The significance of the benefit in the above examples may be such that disclosure of the nature,
extent and duration of the assistance is necessary in order that the financial statements may
not be misleading.

37 Deleted] i A

38 In this Standard, government assistance does not include the provision of infrastructure by
improvement to the general transport and communication network and the supply of improved
facilities such as irrigation or water reticulation which is available on an ongoing indeterminate
basis for the benefit of an entire local community.

Disclosure

39 The following matters shall be disclosed:

(@ the accounting policy adopted for government grants, including the methods of
presentation adopted in the financial statements;

(b) the nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial
statements and an indication of other forms of government assistance from
which the entity has directly benefited; and

(c) unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government
assistance that has been recognised.

Transitional provisions

40

[Not used]
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Effective date

41 This Standard becomes operative for financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2005. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies this
Standard for a period beginning before 1 January 2005, it shall disclose that fact and
apply Hong Kong (SIC) Interpretation (HK(SIC)-Int) 10 Government Assistance — No
Specific Relation to Operating Activities at the same time.

41Aa  This Standard supersedes SSAP 35 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance (issued in March 2002).

42 HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007) amended the terminology used throughout HKFRSs. In addition it
added paragraph 29A. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2009. If an entity applies HKAS 1 (revised 2007) for an earlier period, the
amendments shall be applied for that earlier period.

43 Paragraph 37 was deleted and paragraph 10A added by Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
October 2008. An entity shall apply those amendments prospectively to government loans
received in periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Earlier application is permitted. If an
entity applies the amendments for an earlier period it shall disclose that fact.
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Appendix

Comparison with International Accounting Standards

This comparison appendix, which was prepared as at December 2004 and deals only with significant
differences in the standards extant, is produced for information only and does not form part of the
standards in HKAS 20.

The International Accounting Standard comparable with HKAS 20 is IAS 20 Accounting for Government
Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance.

There are no major textual differences between HKAS 20 and IAS 20.
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Basis for Conclusions on

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of

Government Assistance

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 20.

HKAS 20 is based on IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government

Assistance. In_approving HKAS 20, the Council of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants considered and agreed with the IASB’s Basis for Conclusions on IAS 20. Accordingly, there

are no_significant differences between HKAS 20 and IAS 20. The IASB’s Basis for Conclusions is

reproduced below. The paragraph numbers of IAS 20 referred to below generally correspond with those

in HKAS 20.

BC1

This Basis for Conclusions summarises the International Accounting Standards Board’s

BC2

considerations in_amending IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance as part of Improvements to IFRSs issued in May 2008.

IAS 20 was developed by the International Accounting Standards Committee in 1983 and did

not include a Basis for Conclusions. This Basis refers to the insertion of paragraphs 10A and
43 and the deletion of paragraph 37. Those changes require government loans with below-
market rates of interest to be recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and the benefit of the reduced interest to be
accounted for using IAS 20.

Accounting for loans from government with a below-market

rate of interest

BC3

The Board identified an apparent inconsistency between the guidance in IAS 20 and IAS 39. It

BC4

related to the accounting for loans with a below-market rate of interest received from a
government. |1AS 20 stated that no interest should be imputed for such a loan, whereas IAS 39
required all loans to be recognised at fair value, thus requiring interest to be imputed to loans
with a below-market rate of interest.

The Board decided to remove this inconsistency. It believed that the imputation of interest

BC5

provides more relevant information to a user of the financial statements. Accordingly the Board
amended IAS 20 to require that loans received from a government that have a below-market
rate of interest should be recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 39. The benefit of
the government loan is measured at the inception of the loan as the difference between the
cash received and the amount at which the loan is initially recognised in the statement of
financial position. This benefit is accounted for in accordance with 1AS 20.

Noting that applying IAS 39 to loans retrospectively may require entities to measure the fair

value of loans at a past date, the Board decided that the amendment should be applied
prospectively to new loans.
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BORROWING COSTS

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 23 Borrowing Costs (HKAS 23) is set out in paragraphs 1 -
30. All of the paragraphs have equal authority. HKAS 23 should be read in the context of its
core principle and the Basis for Conclusions, the Preface to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements.
HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors provides a basis
for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.

[This revised Standard was issued in June 2007. It supersedes HKAS 23, issued in 2004. |
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 23
Borrowing Costs

Core principle

1 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset form part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are recognised as an expense.

Scope
2 An entity shall apply this Standard in accounting for borrowing costs.
3 The Standard does not deal with the actual or imputed cost of equity, including

preferred capital not classified as a liability.

4 An entity is not required to apply the Standard to borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of:

€) a qualifying asset measured at fair value, for example a biological asset; or

(b) inventories that are manufactured, or otherwise produced, in large quantities
on a repetitive basis.

Definitions

5 This Standard uses the following terms with the meanings specified:

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale.

6 Borrowing costs may include:

€) interest expense calculated using the effective interest method as described in
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement interest-on

bank-overdrafts-and-short-term-and-long-term-berrowings;
(b) [deleted] a

(c) [deleted] ameortisation—of —ancillary—costs—incurred—in—connection—with—the

(d) finance charges in respect of finance leases recognised in accordance with
HKAS 17 Leases; and

(e) exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent
that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.
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7 Depending on the circumstances, any of the following may be qualifying assets:
€) inventories
(b) manufacturing plants
(c) power generation facilities
(d) intangible assets
(e) investment properties.

Financial assets, and inventories that are manufactured, or otherwise produced, over
a short period of time, are not qualifying assets. Assets that are ready for their
intended use or sale when acquired are not qualifying assets.

Recognition

8 An entity shall capitalise borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost
of that asset. An entity shall recognise other borrowing costs as an expense in
the period in which it incurs them.

9 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are included in the cost of that asset. Such borrowing
costs are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset when it is probable that they will
result in future economic benefits to the entity and the costs can be measured reliably.
When an entity applies HKAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies,
it recognises as an expense the part of borrowing costs that compensates for inflation
during the same period in accordance with paragraph 21 of that Standard.

Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation

10 The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are those borrowing costs that would have been
avoided if the expenditure on the qualifying asset had not been made. When an entity
borrows funds specifically for the purpose of obtaining a particular qualifying asset, the
borrowing costs that directly relate to that qualifying asset can be readily identified.

11 It may be difficult to identify a direct relationship between particular borrowings and a
qualifying asset and to determine the borrowings that could otherwise have been
avoided. Such a difficulty occurs, for example, when the financing activity of an entity
is co-ordinated centrally. Difficulties also arise when a group uses a range of debt
instruments to borrow funds at varying rates of interest, and lends those funds on
various bases to other entities in the group. Other complications arise through the use
of loans denominated in or linked to foreign currencies, when the group operates in
highly inflationary economies, and from fluctuations in exchange rates. As a result, the
determination of the amount of borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of a qualifying asset is difficult and the exercise of judgement is required.

12 To the extent that an entity borrows funds specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset, the entity shall determine the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation as the actual borrowing costs incurred on that
borrowing during the period less any investment income on the temporary
investment of those borrowings.

© Copyright 6 HKAS 23



BORROWING COSTS

13 The financing arrangements for a qualifying asset may result in an entity obtaining
borrowed funds and incurring associated borrowing costs before some or all of the
funds are used for expenditures on the qualifying asset. In such circumstances, the
funds are often temporarily invested pending their expenditure on the qualifying asset.
In determining the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation during a period,
any investment income earned on such funds is deducted from the borrowing costs
incurred.

14 To the extent that an entity borrows funds generally and uses them for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the entity shall determine the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate shall be the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the entity that are
outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The amount of borrowing costs that an
entity capitalises during a period shall not exceed the amount of borrowing
costs it incurred during that period.

15 In some circumstances, it is appropriate to include all borrowings of the parent and its
subsidiaries when computing a weighted average of the borrowing costs; in other
circumstances, it is appropriate for each subsidiary to use a weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to its own borrowings.

Excess of the carrying amount of the qualifying asset over
recoverable amount

16 When the carrying amount or the expected ultimate cost of the qualifying asset
exceeds its recoverable amount or net realisable value, the carrying amount is written
down or written off in accordance with the requirements of other Standards. In certain
circumstances, the amount of the write-down or write-off is written back in accordance
with those other Standards.

Commencement of capitalisation
17 An entity shall begin capitalising borrowing costs as part of the cost of a

qualifying asset on the commencement date. The commencement date for
capitalisation is the date when the entity first meets all of the following

conditions:

€) it incurs expenditures for the asset;

(b) it incurs borrowing costs; and

(c) it undertakes activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its

intended use or sale.

18 Expenditures on a qualifying asset include only those expenditures that have resulted
in payments of cash, transfers of other assets or the assumption of interest-bearing
liabilities. Expenditures are reduced by any progress payments received and grants
received in connection with the asset (see HKAS 20 Accounting for Government
Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance). The average carrying amount of
the asset during a period, including borrowing costs previously capitalised, is normally
a reasonable approximation of the expenditures to which the capitalisation rate is
applied in that period.
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19 The activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale encompass
more than the physical construction of the asset. They include technical and
administrative work prior to the commencement of physical construction, such as the
activities associated with obtaining permits prior to the commencement of the physical
construction. However, such activities exclude the holding of an asset when no
production or development that changes the asset’'s condition is taking place. For
example, borrowing costs incurred while land is under development are capitalised
during the period in which activities related to the development are being undertaken.
However, borrowing costs incurred while land acquired for building purposes is held
without any associated development activity do not qualify for capitalisation.

Suspension of capitalisation

20 An entity shall suspend capitalisation of borrowing costs during extended
periods in which it suspends active development of a qualifying asset.

21 An entity may incur borrowing costs during an extended period in which it suspends
the activities necessary to prepare an asset for its intended use or sale. Such costs
are costs of holding partially completed assets and do not qualify for capitalisation.
However, an entity does not normally suspend capitalising borrowing costs during a
period when it carries out substantial technical and administrative work. An entity also
does not suspend capitalising borrowing costs when a temporary delay is a hecessary
part of the process of getting an asset ready for its intended use or sale. For example,
capitalisation continues during the extended period that high water levels delay
construction of a bridge, if such high water levels are common during the construction
period in the geographical region involved.

Cessation of capitalisation

22 An entity shall cease capitalising borrowing costs when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale
are complete.

23 An asset is normally ready for its intended use or sale when the physical construction
of the asset is complete even though routine administrative work might still continue. If
minor modifications, such as the decoration of a property to the purchaser’s or user’s
specification, are all that are outstanding, this indicates that substantially all the
activities are complete.

24 When an entity completes the construction of a qualifying asset in parts and
each part is capable of being used while construction continues on other parts,
the entity shall cease capitalising borrowing costs when it completes
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare that part for its intended use
or sale.

25 A business park comprising several buildings, each of which can be used individually,
is an example of a qualifying asset for which each part is capable of being usable
while construction continues on other parts. An example of a qualifying asset that
needs to be complete before any part can be used is an industrial plant involving
several processes which are carried out in sequence at different parts of the plant
within the same site, such as a steel mill.
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Disclosure
26 An entity shall disclose:
(a) the amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the period; and
(b) the capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs

eligible for capitalisation.

Transitional provisions

27 When application of this Standard constitutes a change in accounting policy, an
entity shall apply the Standard to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets
for which the commencement date for capitalisation is on or after the effective
date.

28 However, an entity may designate any date before the effective date and apply

the Standard to borrowing costs relating to all qualifying assets for which the
commencement date for capitalisation is on or after that date.

Effective date

29 An entity shall apply the Standard for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies the Standard from a date
before 1 January 2009, it shall disclose that fact.

29A Paragraph 6 was amended by Improvements to HKFRSs issued in October 2008. An
entity shall apply that amendment for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies the amendment for an earlier
period it shall disclose that fact.

Withdrawal of HKAS 23 (issued 2004)

30 This Standard supersedes HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs issued in 2004.
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Appendix
Amendments to other pronouncements

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009. If an entity applies this Standard for an earlier period, the amendments in this
appendix shall be applied for that earlier period. In the amended paragraphs, new text is
underlined and deleted text is struck through.

* % %

The amendments contained in this appendix when this Standard was issued have been
incorporated into the relevant Standards.
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Basis for Conclusions on
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 23.

HKAS 23 is based on IAS 23 Borrowing Costs. In approving HKAS 23, the Council of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants considered and agreed with the IASB’s Basis for
Conclusions on IAS 23. Accordingly, there are no significant differences between HKAS 23
and IAS 23. The IASB’s Basis for Conclusions is reproduced below. The paragraph numbers
of IAS 23 referred to below generally correspond with those in HKAS 23.

Introduction

BC1 This Basis for Conclusions summarises the International Accounting Standards
Board’s considerations in reaching its conclusions on revising IAS 23 Borrowing Costs
in 2007. Individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to others.

BC2  The revisions to IAS 23 result from the Board’s Short-term Convergence project. The
project is being conducted jointly with the United States standard-setter, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The objective of the project is to reduce
differences between IFRSs and US generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
that are capable of resolution in a relatively short time and can be addressed outside
major projects. The revisions to IAS 23 are principally concerned with the elimination
of one of the two treatments that exist for borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. The application of only
one method will enhance comparability. For the reasons set out below, the Board
decided to eliminate the option of immediate recognition of such borrowing costs as an
expense. It believes this will result in an improvement in financial reporting as well as
achieving convergence in principle with US GAAP.

BC3  The Board considered whether to seek convergence on the detailed requirements for
the capitalisation of borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset. However, the Board noted statements
by the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the European
Commission that the IASB and FASB should focus their short-term convergence effort
on eliminating major differences of principle between IFRSs and US GAAP. For their
purposes, convergence on the detailed aspects of accounting treatments is not
necessary. The Board further noted that both IAS 23 and SFAS 34 Capitalization of
Interest Cost were developed some years ago. Consequently, neither set of specific
provisions may be regarded as being of a clearly higher quality than the other.
Therefore, the Board concluded that it should not spend time and resources
considering aspects of IAS 23 beyond the choice between capitalisation and
immediate recognition as an expense. This Basis for Conclusions does not, therefore,
discuss aspects of IAS 23 that the Board did not reconsider. Paragraphs BC19 - BC26
analyse the differences between IAS 23 and SFAS 34.

Amendments to the scope

Assets measured at fair value

BC4  The exposure draft of proposed amendments to IAS 23 proposed excluding from the
scope of IAS 23 assets measured at fair value. Some respondents objected to the
proposal, interpreting the scope exclusion as limiting capitalisation of borrowing costs
to qualifying assets measured at cost. The Board confirmed its decision not to require
capitalisation of borrowing costs relating to assets that are measured at fair value. The
measurement of such assets will not be affected by the amount of borrowing costs
incurred during their construction or production period. Therefore, requirements on
how to account for borrowing costs are unnecessary, as paragraphs B61 and B62 of
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the Basis for Conclusions on IAS 41 Agriculture explain. But the Board noted that the
exclusion of assets measured at fair value from the requirements of IAS 23 does not
prohibit an entity from presenting items in profit or loss as if borrowing costs had been
capitalised on such assets before measuring them at fair value.

Inventories that are manufactured, or otherwise produced, in large
guantities on a repetitive basis

BC5 The US standard, SFAS 34, requires an entity to recognise as an expense interest
costs for inventories that are routinely manufactured or otherwise produced in large
guantities on a repetitive basis because, in the FASB’s view, the informational benefit
from capitalising interest costs does not justify the cost. The exposure draft did not
make an exception for borrowing costs relating to such inventories. The exposure draft,
therefore, proposed to require an entity to capitalise borrowing costs relating to
inventories that are manufactured in large quantities on a repetitive basis and take a
substantial period of time to get ready for sale. Respondents argued that capitalising
those borrowing costs would create a significant administrative burden, would not be
informative to users and would create a reconciling item between IFRSs and US
GAAP.

BC6 The Board decided to exclude from the scope of IAS 23 inventories that are
manufactured, or otherwise produced, in large quantities on a repetitive basis, even if
they take a substantial period of time to get ready for sale. The Board acknowledges
the difficulty in both allocating borrowing costs to inventories that are manufactured in
large quantities on a repetitive basis and monitoring those borrowing costs until the
inventory is sold. It concluded that it should not require an entity to capitalise
borrowing costs on such inventories because the costs of capitalisation are likely to
exceed the potential benefits.

Elimination of the option of immediate recognition as an expense of
borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset

BC7  The previous version of IAS 23 permitted two treatments for accounting for borrowing
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset. They could be capitalised or, alternatively, recognised immediately as
an expense. SFAS 34 requires the capitalisation of such borrowing costs.

BC8 The Board proposed in the exposure draft to eliminate the option of immediate
recognition as an expense. Many respondents disagreed with the Board’s proposal in
the exposure draft, arguing that:

€) borrowing costs should not be the subject of a short-term convergence
project.

(b) the Board had not explored in sufficient detail the merits of both accounting
options.

(c) the proposal did not result in benefits for users of financial statements
because:

0) it addressed only one of the differences between IAS 23 and SFAS
34.

(i) comparability would not be enhanced because the capital structure of
an entity could affect the cost of an asset.

(iii) credit analysts reverse capitalised borrowing costs when calculating
coverage ratios.
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(d) the costs of implementing the capitalisation model in IAS 23 would be
burdensome.
(e) the proposal was not consistent with the Board’s approach on other projects

(in particular, the second phase of the Business Combinations project).

BC9 The Board concluded that borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are part of the cost of that
asset. During the period when an asset is under development, the expenditures for the
resources used must be financed. Financing has a cost. The cost of the asset should
include all costs necessarily incurred to get the asset ready for its intended use or sale,
including the cost incurred in financing the expenditures as a part of the asset’s
acquisition cost. The Board reasoned that recognising immediately as an expense
borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets does not give a faithful representation of
the cost of the asset.

BC10 The Board confirmed that the objective of the project is not to achieve full convergence
on all aspects of accounting for borrowing costs. Rather, it is to reduce differences
between IFRSs and US GAAP that are capable of resolution in a relatively short time.
The removal of a choice of accounting treatment and convergence in principle with US
GAAP will enhance comparability. The Board acknowledges that capitalising
borrowing costs does not achieve comparability between assets that are financed with
borrowings and those financed with equity. However, it achieves comparability among
all non-equity financed assets, which is an improvement.

BC11 A requirement to recognise immediately as an expense borrowing costs relating to
qualifying assets would not enhance comparability. Rather, comparability between
assets that are internally developed and those acquired from third parties would be
impaired. The purchase price of a completed asset purchased from a third party would
include financing costs incurred by the third party during the development phase.

BC12 Respondents to the exposure draft argued that requiring the capitalisation of
borrowing costs is not consistent with the Board’s proposal in the second phase of the
Business Combinations project to require an entity to treat as an expense acquisition
costs relating to a business combination. The Board disagrees with those respondents.
Acquisition costs as defined in the context of a business combination are different from
borrowing costs incurred in constructing or producing a qualifying asset. Borrowing
costs are part of the cost necessarily incurred to get the asset ready for its intended
use or sale. Acquisition costs relating to a business combination are costs incurred for
services performed to help with the acquisition, such as due diligence and
professional fees. They are not costs of assets acquired in a business combination.

BC13 The Board concluded that the additional benefits in terms of higher comparability,
improvements in financial reporting and achieving convergence in principle with US
GAAP exceed any additional costs of implementation. Achieving convergence in
principle with US GAAP on this topic is a milestone in the Memorandum of
Understanding published by the FASB and IASB in February 2006, which is a step
towards removal of the requirement imposed on foreign registrants with the SEC to
reconcile their financial statements to US GAAP.

BC14 The Board observes that there is an unavoidable cost of complying with any new
financial reporting standard. Accordingly, the Board carefully considers the costs and
benefits of any new pronouncement. In this case, the Board has not been told that
preparers who elected to capitalise borrowing costs under the previous version of IAS
23 found doing so unnecessarily burdensome. In the Board’s judgement, any
additional costs of capitalising an item of cost of an asset are offset by the advantage
of having all entities account for that item in the same way.
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Effective date and transition

BC15 Development of a qualifying asset may take a long time. Additionally, some assets
currently in use may have undergone and completed their production or construction
process many years ago. If the entity has been following the accounting policy of
immediately recognising borrowing costs as an expense, the costs of gathering the
information required to capitalise them retrospectively and to adjust the carrying
amount of the asset may exceed the potential benefits. Hence, the Board decided to
require prospective application, which was supported by respondents to the exposure
draft.

BC16 The Board noted that the revisions would result in information that is more comparable
between entities. On that basis, if an entity wished to apply the revised Standard from
any date before the effective date, users of the entity’s financial statements would
receive more useful and comparable information than previously.

BC17 Therefore, an entity is permitted to apply the revised Standard from any designated
date before the effective date. However, if an entity applies the Standard from such an
earlier date, it should apply the Standard to all qualifying assets for which the
commencement date for capitalisation is on or after that designated date.

BC18 The Board recognises that the Standard may require an entity that reconciles its IFRS
financial statements to US GAAP to maintain two sets of capitalisation information—
one set that complies with the requirements of IAS 23 and one that complies with the
requirements of SFAS 34. The Board wishes to avoid imposing on such entities the
need to maintain two sets of capitalisation information. Therefore, before the effective
date, the Board will consider what actions it might take to avoid this outcome.

Differences between IAS 23 and SFAS 34

BC19 The following paragraphs summarise the main differences between IAS 23 and SFAS
34.

Definition of borrowing costs

BC20 |AS 23 uses the term “borrowing costs” whereas SFAS 34 uses the term “interest

costs”. “Borrowing costs” reflects the broader definition in IAS 23, which encompasses
interest and other costs, such as :

&) exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent
that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs;. and

" In_ 2007 the Board was advised that some of the components of borrowing costs in paragraph 6 are
broadly equivalent to the components of interest expense calculated using the effective interest method
in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Therefore, the Board
amended paragraph 6 to refer to the relevant guidance in IAS 39 when describing the components of
borrowing costs.
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BC21 EITF Issue No. 99-9 concludes that derivative gains and losses (arising from the
effective portion of a derivative instrument that qualifies as a fair value hedge) are part
of the capitalised interest cost. IAS 23 does not address such derivative gains and
losses.

Definition of a qualifying asset

BC22 The main differences are as follows:

(a) IAS 23 defines a qualifying asset as one that takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale. The SFAS 34 definition does not
include the term substantial.

(b) IAS 23 excludes from its scope qualifying assets that are measured at fair
value. SFAS 34 does not address assets measured at fair value.

(c) SFAS 34 includes as qualifying assets investments in investees accounted for
using the equity method, in some circumstances.” Such investments are not
qualifying assets according to IAS 23.

(d) SFAS 34 does not permit the capitalisation of interest costs on assets

acquired with gifts or grants that are restricted by the donor or grantor in some
situations. 1AS 23 does not address such assets.

Measurement

BC23 When an entity borrows funds specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying

asset:

€) IAS 23 requires an entity to capitalise the actual borrowing costs incurred on
that borrowing. SFAS 34 states that an entity may use the rate of that
borrowing.

(b) IAS 23 requires an entity to deduct any income earned on the temporary

investment of actual borrowings from the amount of borrowing costs to be
capitalised. SFAS 34 does not generally permit this deduction, unless
particular tax-exempt borrowings are involved.

BC24 SFAS 34 requires an entity to use judgement in determining the capitalisation rate to
apply to the expenditures on the asset—an entity selects the borrowings that it
considers appropriate to meet the objective of capitalising the interest costs incurred
that otherwise could have been avoided. When an entity borrows funds generally and
uses them to obtain a qualifying asset, IAS 23 permits some flexibility in determining
the capitalisation rate, but requires an entity to use all outstanding borrowings other
than those made specifically to obtain a qualifying asset.

Disclosure requirements

BC25 |AS 23 requires disclosure of the capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. SFAS 34 does not require this disclosure.

BC26 SFAS 34 requires disclosure of the total amount of interest cost incurred during the
period, including the amount capitalised and the amount recognised as an expense.

* While the investee has activities in progress necessary to commence its planned principal operations
provided that the investee’s activities include the use of funds to acquire qualifying assets for its
operations.
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IAS 23 requires disclosure only of the amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the
period. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements requires the disclosure of finance
costs for the period.

Consequential amendments to IAS 11 Construction Contracts

BC27 |AS 11 paragraph 18 states that “costs that may be attributable to contract activity in
general and can be allocated to specific contracts also include borrowing costs when
the contractor adopts the allowed alternative treatment in IAS 23 Borrowing Costs.”
The Board decided to delete the reference to IAS 23 in this paragraph because it is
unnecessary. Attributing borrowing costs to contracts is not a matter of capitalisation.
Rather, it is a matter of identifying the contract costs. The inclusion of borrowing costs
in contract costs affects the presentation of borrowing costs in profit or loss. It does not
affect the recognition of borrowing costs as specified in 1AS 23.
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Dissenting opinions on IAS 23

Dissent of Anthony T Cope, Philippe Danjou and Robert P Garnett

DO1 The Board’s decision to require the capitalisation of borrowing costs relating to
qualifying assets will cause a significant change in accounting for the many preparers
that currently apply the benchmark treatment of recognising borrowing costs as an
expense. Messrs Cope, Danjou and Garnett believe that such a change will require
the establishment of cumbersome measurement processes and monitoring of
capitalised costs over a long period. This is likely to involve considerable accounting
work and incremental auditing costs.

DO2 Users of financial statements responding to the exposure draft did not support the
change because they saw no informational benefit in a model that capitalises costs,
other than the capitalisation of the actual economic cost of capital of the investment. In
addition, Messrs Cope, Danjou and Garnett believe that a standard requiring the
capitalisation of borrowing costs should discuss more extensively which assets qualify
for the purpose of capitalising which borrowing costs.

DO3 As a consequence, Messrs Cope, Danjou and Garnett dissent because, in their view,
the costs of this particular change will far outweigh the benefits to users.

DO4 In addition, this requirement to capitalise borrowing costs will achieve only limited
convergence with US GAAP—differences will remain that could lead to materially
different capitalised amounts. Furthermore, entities that are required to reconcile net
income and shareholders’ equity to US GAAP already have the option to capitalise
borrowing costs and, thus, may recognise amounts that are more comparable to,
albeit still potentially materially different from, those recognised in accordance with US
GAAP.

DO5 The Memorandum of Understanding published by the FASB and the IASB states that
trying to eliminate differences between standards that are both in need of significant
improvement is not the best use of resources. Messrs Cope, Danjou and Garnett
support the convergence work programme, but only if it results in higher quality
standards and improved financial reporting. They are of the opinion that IAS 23 and
SFAS 34 are both in need of significant improvement and should not have been
addressed as part of short-term convergence.
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Appendix
Amendments to Basis for Conclusions on other
pronouncements

This appendix contains amendments to the Basis for Conclusions on other pronouncements
that are necessary in order to ensure consistency with the revised IAS 23.

* k *

The amendments contained in this appendix when this Basis for Conclusions was issued have
been incorporated into the relevant Basis for Conclusions.
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Amendments to guidance on other pronouncements
The following amendments to guidance on other pronouncements are necessary in order to

ensure consistency with the revised HKAS 23. In the amended paragraphs, new text is
underlined and deleted text is struck through.

* % %

The amendments contained in this appendix when this Implementation Guidance was issued
have been incorporated into the relevant Implementation Guidance.
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Table of Concordance

This table shows how the contents of the superseded version of HKAS 23 and the revised
version of HKAS 23 correspond. Paragraphs are treated as corresponding if they broadly
address the same matter even though the guidance may differ.

Superseded Revised Superseded Revised
HKAS 23 paragraph | HKAS 23 paragraph |HKAS 23 paragraph| HKAS 23 paragraph

Objective 1 18 15
1 2 19 16
2 None 20 17
3 3 21 18
4 5 22 19
5 6 23 20
6 7 24 21
7 None 25 22
8 None 26 23
9 None 27 24
10 8 28 25
11 None 29 26
12 9 30 None
13 10 31 None
14 11 None 4
15 12 None 27,28
16 13 None 29
17 14 None 30
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Introduction

IN1

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 31 Interests in Joint Ventures (HKAS 31) should be applied for

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005. Earlier application is encouraged.

Reasons for issuing HKAS 31

IN2 The objectives of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) issuing
HKAS 31 were to reduce or eliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts within the
Standards, to deal with some convergence issues and to make other improvements.

IN3 For HKAS 31 the HKICPA did not reconsider the fundamental approach to the accounting for

interests in joint ventures contained in HKAS 31.

The main features

IN4

The main features of HKAS 31 are described below.

INS

Scope

The Standard does not apply to investments that would otherwise be interests of venturers in

ING

jointly controlled entities held by venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and
similar entities when those investments are classified as held for trading and accounted for in
accordance with HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Those
investments are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they occur.

Furthermore, the Standard provides exemptions from application of proportionate consolidation

IN7

or the equity method similar to those provided for certain parents not to prepare consolidated
financial statements. These exemptions include when the investor is also a parent exempt in
accordance with HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements from preparing
consolidated financial statements (paragraph 2(b)), and when the investor, though not such a
parent, can satisfy the same type of conditions that exempt such parents (paragraph 2(c)).

Exemptions from applying proportionate consolidation
or the equity method

The Standard does not require proportionate consolidation or the equity method to be applied

IN8

when an interest in a joint venture is acquired and held with a view to its disposal within twelve
months of acquisition. There must be evidence that the investment is acquired with the intention
to dispose of it and that management is actively seeking a buyer. When such an interest in a
joint_venture is not disposed of within twelve months it must be accounted for using
proportionate consolidation or the equity method as from the date of acquisition, except in
narrowly specified circumstances.*

The Standard does not permit a venturer that continues to have joint control of an interest in a

joint_venture not to apply proportionate consolidation or the equity method when the joint
venture is operating under severe long-term restrictions that significantly impair_its_ability to
transfer funds to the venturer. Joint control must be lost before proportionate consolidation or
the equity method ceases to apply.

HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations removes this scope exclusion and now

eliminates the exemption from applying proportionate consolidation or the equity method when joint control of a

joint venture is intended to be temporary. See HKFRS 5 Basis for Conclusions for further discussion.

© Copyright 4
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Separate financial statements

IN9 The requirements for the preparation of an investor's separate financial statements are
established by reference to HKAS 27.

Disclosure

IN10 The Standard requires a venturer to disclose the method it uses to recognise its interests in
jointly controlled entities (ie proportionate consolidation or the equity method).

© Copyright 5
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 31
Interests in Joint Ventures

Scope

1 This Standard shall be applied in accounting for interests in joint ventures and the
reporting of joint venture assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the financial
statements of venturers and investors, regardless of the structures or forms under which
the joint venture activities take place. However, it does not apply to venturers’ interests
in jointly controlled entities held by:

@) venture capital organisations, or

(b) mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked
insurance funds

that upon initial recognition are designated as at fair value through profit or loss or are
classified as held for trading and accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Such investments shall be measured at fair
value in accordance with HKAS 39, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss
in the period of the change. A venturer holding such an interest shall make the
disclosures required by paragraphs 55 and 56.

2 A venturer with an interest in a jointly controlled entity is exempted from paragraphs 30
(proportionate consolidation) and 38 (equity method) when it meets the following
conditions:

@) the interest is classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations;

(b) the exception in paragraph 10 of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements allowing a parent that also has an interest in a jointly controlled
entity not to present consolidated financial statements is applicable; or

(c) all of the following apply:

(i) the venturer is a wholly-owned subsidiary, or is a partially-owned
subsidiary of another entity and its owners, including those not
otherwise entitled to vote, have been informed about, and do not object
to, the venturer not applying proportionate consolidation or the equity
method;

(i) the venturer’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public
market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter
market, including local and regional markets);

(iii) the venturer did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its financial
statements with a securities commission or other regulatory
organisation, for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a
public market; and

(iv) the ultimate or any intermediate parent of the venturer produces
consolidated financial statements available for public use that comply
with  Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards or International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Definitions

3 The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an economic activity
S0 as to obtain benefits from it.

© Copyright 6
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The equity method is a method of accounting whereby an interest in a jointly controlled
entity is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change
in the venturer’s share of net assets of the jointly controlled entity. The profit or loss of
the venturer includes the venturer’s share of the profit or loss of the jointly controlled
entity.

An investor in a joint venture is a party to a joint venture and does not have joint control
over that joint venture.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic activity, and
exists only when the strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control (the venturers).

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an
economic activity that is subject to joint control.

Proportionate consolidation is a method of accounting whereby a venturer’s share of each
of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a jointly controlled entity is combined
line by line with similar items in the venturer’s financial statements or reported as
separate line items in the venturer’s financial statements.

Separate financial statements are those presented by a parent, an investor in an associate
or a venturer in ajointly controlled entity, in which the investments are accounted for on
the basis of the direct equity interest rather than on the basis of the reported results and
net assets of the investees.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of an economic activity but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A venturer is a party to a joint venture and has joint control over that joint venture.

4 Financial statements in which proportionate consolidation or the equity method is applied are
not separate financial statements, nor are the financial statements of an entity that does not
have a subsidiary, associate or venturer’s interest in a jointly controlled entity.

5 Separate financial statements are those presented in addition to consolidated financial
statements, financial statements in which investments are accounted for using the equity
method and financial statements in which venturers’ interests in joint ventures are
proportionately consolidated. Separate financial statements need not be appended to, or
accompany, those statements.

6 Entities that are exempted in accordance with paragraph 10 of HKAS 27 from consolidation,
paragraph 13(c) of HKAS 28 Investments in Associates from applying the equity method or
paragraph 2 of this Standard from applying proportionate consolidation or the equity method
may present separate financial statements as their only financial statements.

Forms of joint venture

7 Joint ventures take many different forms and structures. This Standard identifies three broad
types— jointly controlled operations, jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled entities—that
are commonly described as, and meet the definition of, joint ventures. The following
characteristics are common to all joint ventures:
(@ two or more venturers are bound by a contractual arrangement; and

(b) the contractual arrangement establishes joint control.
Joint control

8 Joint control may be precluded when an investee is in legal reorganisation or in bankruptcy, or
operates under severe long-term restrictions on its ability to transfer funds to the venturer. If joint

control is continuing, these events are not enough in themselves to justify not accounting for
joint ventures in accordance with this Standard.
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Contractual arrangement

The existence of a contractual arrangement distinguishes interests that involve joint control from
investments in associates in which the investor has significant influence (see HKAS 28).
Activities that have no contractual arrangement to establish joint control are not joint ventures
for the purposes of this Standard.

The contractual arrangement may be evidenced in a number of ways, for example by a contract
between the venturers or minutes of discussions between the venturers. In some cases, the
arrangement is incorporated in the articles or other by-laws of the joint venture. Whatever its
form, the contractual arrangement is usually in writing and deals with such matters as:

(@) the activity, duration and reporting obligations of the joint venture;

(b) the appointment of the board of directors or equivalent governing body of the joint
venture and the voting rights of the venturers;

(c) capital contributions by the venturers; and
(d) the sharing by the venturers of the output, income, expenses or results of the joint
venture.

The contractual arrangement establishes joint control over the joint venture. Such a requirement
ensures that no single venturer is in a position to control the activity unilaterally.

The contractual arrangement may identify one venturer as the operator or manager of the joint
venture. The operator does not control the joint venture but acts within the financial and
operating policies that have been agreed by the venturers in accordance with the contractual
arrangement and delegated to the operator. If the operator has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of the economic activity, it controls the venture and the venture is a
subsidiary of the operator and not a joint venture.

Jointly controlled operations

The operation of some joint ventures involves the use of the assets and other resources of the
venturers rather than the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity, or a
financial structure that is separate from the venturers themselves. Each venturer uses its own
property, plant and equipment and carries its own inventories. It also incurs its own expenses
and liabilities and raises its own finance, which represent its own obligations. The joint venture
activities may be carried out by the venturer's employees alongside the venturer's similar
activities. The joint venture agreement usually provides a means by which the revenue from the
sale of the joint product and any expenses incurred in common are shared among the
venturers.

An example of a jointly controlled operation is when two or more venturers combine their
operations, resources and expertise to manufacture, market and distribute jointly a particular
product, such as an aircraft. Different parts of the manufacturing process are carried out by each
of the venturers. Each venturer bears its own costs and takes a share of the revenue from the
sale of the aircraft, such share being determined in accordance with the contractual
arrangement.

In respect of its interests in jointly controlled operations, a venturer shall recognise in its
financial statements:

(@ the assets that it controls and the liabilities that it incurs; and

(b) the expenses that it incurs and its share of the income that it earns from the sale
of goods or services by the joint venture.

Because the assets, liabilities, income and expenses are recognised in the financial statements
of the venturer, no adjustments or other consolidation procedures are required in respect of
these items when the venturer presents consolidated financial statements.

Separate accounting records may not be required for the joint venture itself and financial
statements may not be prepared for the joint venture. However, the venturers may prepare
management accounts so that they may assess the performance of the joint venture.

© Copyright 8
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Jointly controlled assets

18

19

20

21

22

23

Some joint ventures involve the joint control, and often the joint ownership, by the venturers of
one or more assets contributed to, or acquired for the purpose of, the joint venture and
dedicated to the purposes of the joint venture. The assets are used to obtain benefits for the
venturers. Each venturer may take a share of the output from the assets and each bears an
agreed share of the expenses incurred.

These joint ventures do not involve the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other
entity, or a financial structure that is separate from the venturers themselves. Each venturer has
control over its share of future economic benefits through its share of the jointly controlled asset.

Many activities in the oil, gas and mineral extraction industries involve jointly controlled assets.
For example, a number of oil production companies may jointly control and operate an oil
pipeline. Each venturer uses the pipeline to transport its own product in return for which it bears
an agreed proportion of the expenses of operating the pipeline. Another example of a jointly
controlled asset is when two entities jointly control a property, each taking a share of the rents
received and bearing a share of the expenses.

In respect of its interest in jointly controlled assets, a venturer shall recognise in its
financial statements:

(@) its share of the jointly controlled assets, classified according to the nature of the
assets;

(b) any liabilities that it has incurred;

(c) its share of any liabilities incurred jointly with the other venturers in relation to

the joint venture;

(d) any income from the sale or use of its share of the output of the joint venture,
together with its share of any expenses incurred by the joint venture; and

(e) any expenses that it has incurred in respect of its interest in the joint venture.

In respect of its interest in jointly controlled assets, each venturer includes in its accounting
records and recognises in its financial statements:

(@ its share of the jointly controlled assets, classified according to the nature of the assets
rather than as an investment. For example, a share of a jointly controlled oil pipeline is
classified as property, plant and equipment.

(b) any liabilities that it has incurred, for example those incurred in financing its share of
the assets.

(c) its share of any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers in relation to the joint
venture.

(d) any income from the sale or use of its share of the output of the joint venture, together

with its share of any expenses incurred by the joint venture.

(e) any expenses that it has incurred in respect of its interest in the joint venture, for
example those related to financing the venturer’s interest in the assets and selling its
share of the output.

Because the assets, liabilities, income and expenses are recognised in the financial statements
of the venturer, no adjustments or other consolidation procedures are required in respect of
these items when the venturer presents consolidated financial statements.

The treatment of jointly controlled assets reflects the substance and economic reality and,
usually, the legal form of the joint venture. Separate accounting records for the joint venture
itself may be limited to those expenses incurred in common by the venturers and ultimately
borne by the venturers according to their agreed shares. Financial statements may not be
prepared for the joint venture, although the venturers may prepare management accounts so
that they may assess the performance of the joint venture.
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Jointly controlled entities
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A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the establishment of a corporation,
partnership or other entity in which each venturer has an interest. The entity operates in the
same way as other entities, except that a contractual arrangement between the venturers
establishes joint control over the economic activity of the entity.

A jointly controlled entity controls the assets of the joint venture, incurs liabilities and expenses
and earns income. It may enter into contracts in its own name and raise finance for the purposes
of the joint venture activity. Each venturer is entitled to a share of the profits of the jointly
controlled entity, although some jointly controlled entities also involve a sharing of the output of
the joint venture.

A common example of a jointly controlled entity is when two entities combine their activities in a
particular line of business by transferring the relevant assets and liabilities into a jointly
controlled entity. Another example is when an entity commences a business in a foreign country
in conjunction with the government or other agency in that country, by establishing a separate
entity that is jointly controlled by the entity and the government or agency.

Many jointly controlled entities are similar in substance to those joint ventures referred to as
jointly controlled operations or jointly controlled assets. For example, the venturers may transfer
a jointly controlled asset, such as an oil pipeline, into a jointly controlled entity, for tax or other
reasons. Similarly, the venturers may contribute into a jointly controlled entity assets that will be
operated jointly. Some jointly controlled operations also involve the establishment of a jointly
controlled entity to deal with particular aspects of the activity, for example, the design, marketing,
distribution or after-sales service of the product.

A jointly controlled entity maintains its own accounting records and prepares and presents
financial statements in the same way as other entities in conformity with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards or International Financial Reporting Standards.

Each venturer usually contributes cash or other resources to the jointly controlled entity. These
contributions are included in the accounting records of the venturer and recognised in its
financial statements as an investment in the jointly controlled entity.

Financial statements of a venturer
Proportionate consolidation

A venturer shall recognise its interest in a jointly controlled entity using proportionate
consolidation or the alternative method described in paragraph 38. When proportionate
consolidation is used, one of the two reporting formats identified below shall be used.

A venturer recognises its interest in a jointly controlled entity using one of the two reporting
formats for proportionate consolidation irrespective of whether it also has investments in
subsidiaries or whether it describes its financial statements as consolidated financial
statements.

When recognising an interest in a jointly controlled entity, it is essential that a venturer reflects
the substance and economic reality of the arrangement, rather than the joint venture’s particular
structure or form. In a jointly controlled entity, a venturer has control over its share of future
economic benefits through its share of the assets and liabilities of the venture. This substance
and economic reality are reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the venturer when
the venturer recognises its interests in the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly
controlled entity by using one of the two reporting formats for proportionate consolidation
described in paragraph 34.

The application of proportionate consolidation means that the balance—sheetstatement of
financial position of the venturer includes its share of the assets that it controls jointly and its
share of the liabilities for which it is jointly responsible. The inceme-statement of comprehensive
income of the venturer includes its share of the income and expenses of the jointly controlled
entity. Many of the procedures appropriate for the application of proportionate consolidation are
similar to the procedures for the consolidation of investments in subsidiaries, which are set out
in HKAS 27.
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Different reporting formats may be used to give effect to proportionate consolidation. The
venturer may combine its share of each of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the
jointly controlled entity with the similar items, line by line, in its financial statements. For example,
it may combine its share of the jointly controlled entity’s inventory with its inventory and its share
of the jointly controlled entity’s property, plant and equipment with its property, plant and
equipment. Alternatively, the venturer may include separate line items for its share of the assets,
liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entity in its financial statements. For
example, it may show its share of a current asset of the jointly controlled entity separately as
part of its current assets; it may show its share of the property, plant and equipment of the jointly
controlled entity separately as part of its property, plant and equipment. Both these reporting
formats result in the reporting of identical amounts of profit or loss and of each major
classification of assets, liabilities, income and expenses; both formats are acceptable for the
purposes of this Standard.

Whichever format is used to give effect to proportionate consolidation, it is inappropriate to
offset any assets or liabilities by the deduction of other liabilities or assets or any income or
expenses by the deduction of other expenses or income, unless a legal right of set-off exists
and the offsetting represents the expectation as to the realisation of the asset or the settlement
of the liability.

A venturer shall discontinue the use of proportionate consolidation from the date on
which it ceases to have joint control over a jointly controlled entity.

A venturer discontinues the use of proportionate consolidation from the date on which it ceases
to share in the control of a jointly controlled entity. This may happen, for example, when the
venturer disposes of its interest or when such external restrictions are placed on the jointly
controlled entity that the venturer no longer has joint control.

Equity method

As an alternative to proportionate consolidation described in paragraph 30, a venturer
shall recognise its interest in a jointly controlled entity using the equity method.

A venturer recognises its interest in a jointly controlled entity using the equity method
irrespective of whether it also has investments in subsidiaries or whether it describes its
financial statements as consolidated financial statements.

Some venturers recognise their interests in jointly controlled entities using the equity method, as
described in HKAS 28. The use of the equity method is supported by those who argue that it is
inappropriate to combine controlled items with jointly controlled items and by those who believe
that venturers have significant influence, rather than joint control, in a jointly controlled entity.
This Standard does not recommend the use of the equity method because proportionate
consolidation better reflects the substance and economic reality of a venturer’s interest in a
jointly controlled entity, that is to say, control over the venturer's share of the future economic
benefits. Nevertheless, this Standard permits the use of the equity method, as an alternative
treatment, when recognising interests in jointly controlled entities.

A venturer shall discontinue the use of the equity method from the date on which it
ceases to have joint control over, or have significant influence in, a jointly controlled
entity.

Exceptions to proportionate consolidation and equity method

Interests in jointly controlled entities that are classified as held for sale in accordance
with HKFRS 5 shall be accounted for in accordance with that HKFRS.

When an interest in a jointly controlled entity previously classified as held for sale no longer
meets the criteria to be so classified, it shall be accounted for using proportionate consolidation
or the equity method as from the date of its classification as held for sale. Financial statements
for the periods since classification as held for sale shall be amended accordingly.

[Deleted].
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When an investor ceases to have joint control over an entity, it shall account for any
remaining investment in _accordance with HKAS 39 from that date, provided that the
former jointly controlled entity does not become a subsidiary or associate. From the date
en-which-when a jointly controlled entity becomes a subsidiary of an_investor-venturer,
the venturer—investor shall account for its interest in accordance with HKAS 27 and
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations (as revised in 2008). From the date en—whichwhen a
jointly controlled entity becomes an associate of an__investor—venturer, the
venturerinvestor shall account for its interest in accordance with HKAS 28. On the loss of
joint control, the investor shall measure at fair value any investment the investor retains
in the former jointly controlled entity. The investor shall recognise in profit or loss any
difference between:

(a) the fair value of any retained investment and any proceeds from
disposing of the part interest in the jointly controlled entity; and

(b) the carrying amount of the investment at the date when joint control is
lost.

When _an _investment ceases to be a jointly controlled entity and is accounted for in

4587

accordance with HKAS 39, the fair value of the investment when it ceases to be a jointly
controlled entity shall be regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial
asset in accordance with HKAS 39.

If an investor loses joint control of an entity, the investor shall account for all amounts

46

47

recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that entity on the same basis as would
be required if the jointly controlled entity had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the investor
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when
the investor loses joint control of the entity. For example, if a jointly controlled entity has
available-for-sale financial assets and the investor loses joint control of the entity, the investor
shall reclassify to profit or loss the gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to those assets. If an investor’s ownership interest in a jointly controlled entity
is_reduced, but the investment continues to be a jointly controlled entity, the investor shall
reclassify to profit or loss only a proportionate amount of the gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Separate financial statements of a venturer

An interest in a jointly controlled entity shall be accounted for in a venturer’s separate
financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 37-4238-43 of HKAS 27.

This Standard does not mandate which entities produce separate financial statements available
for public use.

Transactions between a venturer and a joint venture

48

49

When a venturer contributes or sells assets to a joint venture, recognition of any portion
of a gain or loss from the transaction shall reflect the substance of the transaction. While
the assets are retained by the joint venture, and provided the venturer has transferred
the significant risks and rewards of ownership, the venturer shall recognise only that
portion of the gain or loss that is attributable to the interests of the other venturers.” The
venturer shall recognise the full amount of any loss when the contribution or sale
provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets or an
impairment loss.

When a venturer purchases assets from a joint venture, the venturer shall not recognise
its share of the profits of the joint venture from the transaction until it resells the assets
to an independent party. A venturer shall recognise its share of the losses resulting from
these transactions in the same way as profits except that losses shall be recognised
immediately when they represent a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets
or an impairment loss.

+

Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

*  See also HKAS-Int-13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers.
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50 To assess whether a transaction between a venturer and a joint venture provides evidence of
impairment of an asset, the venturer determines the recoverable amount of the asset in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets. In determining value in use, the venturer
estimates future cash flows from the asset on the basis of continuing use of the asset and its
ultimate disposal by the joint venture.

Reporting interests in joint ventures in the financial
statements of an investor

51 An investor in a joint venture that does not have joint control shall account for that
investment in accordance with HKAS 39 or, if it has significant influence in the joint
venture, in accordance with HKAS 28.

Operators of joint ventures

52 Operators or managers of a joint venture shall account for any fees in accordance with
HKAS 18 Revenue.

53 One or more venturers may act as the operator or manager of a joint venture. Operators are
usually paid a management fee for such duties. The fees are accounted for by the joint venture
as an expense.

Disclosure

54 A venturer shall disclose the aggregate amount of the following contingent liabilities,
unless the probability of loss is remote, separately from the amount of other contingent
liabilities:
(@) any contingent liabilities that the venturer has incurred in relation to its interests

in joint ventures and its share in each of the contingent liabilities that have been
incurred jointly with other venturers;

(b) its share of the contingent liabilities of the joint ventures themselves for which it
is contingently liable; and

(c) those contingent liabilities that arise because the venturer is contingently liable
for the liabilities of the other venturers of a joint venture.

55 A venturer shall disclose the aggregate amount of the following commitments in respect
of its interests in joint ventures separately from other commitments:

(@ any capital commitments of the venturer in relation to its interests in joint
ventures and its share in the capital commitments that have been incurred
jointly with other venturers; and

(b) its share of the capital commitments of the joint ventures themselves.

56 A venturer shall disclose a listing and description of interests in significant joint
ventures and the proportion of ownership interest held in jointly controlled entities. A
venturer that recognises its interests in jointly controlled entities using the line-by-line
reporting format for proportionate consolidation or the equity method shall disclose the
aggregate amounts of each of current assets, long-term assets, current liabilities,
long-term liabilities, income and expenses related to its interests in joint ventures.

57 A venturer shall disclose the method it uses to recognise its interests in jointly
controlled entities.

Effective date and transition

58 An entity shall apply this Standard for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2005. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period
beginning before 1 January 2005, it shall disclose that fact.
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If an entity decides to apply this Standard for an earlier period, it is not required to apply all the
HKASs with the same effective date for that same period. However, it is required to apply the
amendments set out in the appendix on amendments to other pronouncements for that earlier
period.

HKAS 27 (as amended in 2008) amended paragraphs 45-46 and added paragraphs 45A

58B

and 45B. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 July 2009. If an entity applies HKAS 27 (amended 2008) for an earlier period, the

amendments shall be applied for that earlier period.

Paragraph 1 was amended by Improvements to HKFRSs issued in October 2008. An entity

shall apply that amendment for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Earlier
application is permitted. If an entity applies the amendment for an earlier period it shall disclose
that fact and apply for that earlier period the amendments to paragraph 3 of HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures, paragraph 1 of HKAS 28 and paragraph 4 of HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation issued in _October 2008. An entity is permitted to apply the
amendment prospectively.

Withdrawal of SSAP 21 (revised 2001)

59

This Standard supersedes SSAP 21 Accounting for Interests in Joint Ventures (revised in
2001).

© Copyright 14
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Appendix A

Comparison with International Accounting Standards

This comparison appendix, which as prepared as at December 2004 and deals only with significant
differences in the standards extant, is produced for information only and does not form part of the
standards in HKAS 31.

The International Accounting Standards comparable with HKAS 31 is IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

There are no major textual differences between HKAS 31 and IAS 31.

© Copyright 15
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Appendix B

Amendments to Other Pronouncements

The amendments in this appendix become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2005. If an entity applies this Standard for an earlier period, these amendments become effective for that
earlier period.

* k%

The amendments contained in this appendix when this Standard was issued have been incorporated into
the relevant Standards.

© Copyright 16
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HKAS 31 (March 26082010)

Amendments resulting from other HKFRSs

The following sets out amendments required for this Standard resulting from other newly issued HKFRSs
that are not yet effective. Once effective, the amendments set out below will be incorporated into the text
of this Standard and this appendix will be deleted. In amended paragraphs, deleted text is struck through
and new text is underlined.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued in November 2009) -
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2013

Paragraph IN5 is amended as follows:

IN5

The Standard does not apply to investments that would otherwise be
interests of venturers in jointly controlled entities held by venture capital
organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities when those
investments are elassified-as-held-fortrading-and accounted for at fair value
through profit or loss in accordance with HKERS 9 Financial Instruments and
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Those
investments are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they occur.

Paragraphs 1, 45-45B and 51 are amended and paragraph 58C is added as follows:

1

45

45A

© Copyright

This Standard shall be applied in accounting for interests in joint
ventures and the reporting of joint venture assets, liabilities, income
and expenses in the financial statements of venturers and investors,
regardless of the structures or forms under which the joint venture
activities take place. However, it does not apply to venturers’ interests
in jointly controlled entities held by:

€) venture capital organisations, or

(b) mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including
investment-linked insurance funds

that are measured upoen—initial-recognition—are-designhated—as at fair

value through profit or loss erareclassified-as-heldfor tradingand
accounted-for in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. An
entity shall measure such Such investments shall-be-measured at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 HKAS 39 with

change. A venturer holding such an interest shall make the disclosures
required by paragraphs 55 and 56.

When an investor ceases to have joint control over an entity, it shall
account for any remaining investment in accordance with HKFRS 9 and
HKAS 39 from that date, provided that the former jointly controlled
entity does not become a subsidiary or associate. From ...

When an investment ceases to be a jointly controlled entity and is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39, the fair value
of the investment when it ceases to be a jointly controlled entity shall
be regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in
accordance with HKFRS 9 HKAS-39.
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If an investor loses joint control of an entity, ... For example, if a jointly
controlled entity has cumulative exchange differences relating to a foreign
operation avaitable-for-sale—financial-assets and the investor loses joint
control of the entity, the investor shall reclassify to profit or loss the gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the
foreign operation these-assets. If ...

An investor in a joint venture that does not have joint control shall
account for that investment in accordance with HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39
or, if it has significant influence in the joint venture, in accordance with
HKAS 28.

HKFRS 9, issued in November 2009, amended paragraphs 1, 45—-45B and 51.
An entity shall apply those amendments when it applies HKFRS 9.
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Basis for Conclusions on
IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 31.

HKAS 31 is based on IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. In approving HKAS 31, the Council of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants considered and agreed with the IASB’s Basis for
Conclusions on IAS 31. Accordingly, there are no significant differences between HKAS 31 and IAS 31.
The |IASB’s Basis for Conclusions is reproduced below. The paragraph numbers of IAS 31 referred to
below generally correspond with those in HKAS 31.

Introduction

BC1 This Basis for Conclusions summarises the International Accounting Standards Board’s
considerations in reaching its conclusions on revising IAS 31 Financial Reporting of Interests in
Joint Ventures in 2003. Individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to
others.

BC2 In July 2001 the Board announced that, as part of its initial agenda of technical projects, it would
undertake a project to improve a number of Standards, including IAS 27 Consolidated Financial
Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries and IAS 28 Accounting for
Investments in Associates. The project was undertaken in the light of queries and criticisms
raised in relation to the Standards by securities regulators, professional accountants and other
interested parties.The objectives of the Improvements project were to reduce or eliminate
alternatives, redundancies and conflicts within Standards, to deal with some convergence
issues and to make other improvements. Because of the changes that were to be proposed for
the revised versions of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and IAS 28
Investments in Associates, the Board also proposed to make some important consequential
amendments to IAS 31 Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures.

BC3 Because the Board’s intention was not to reconsider the fundamental approach to the
accounting for joint ventures established by IAS 31 and to reflect only those changes related to
its decisions in the Improvements project, in particular in relation to IAS27 and IAS 28, this Basis
for Conclusions does not discuss requirements in IAS 31 that the Board has not reconsidered.
However, because of the scale of the amendments to the Standard, the Board believes it will be
helpful to users to issue IAS 31 along with the Standards that were previously identified for
revision as part of the Improvements project.

Scope exclusion: investments in joint ventures held by
venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and
similar entities

BC4 There are no specific requirements that address accounting for investments by venture capital
organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities. As a result, depending on whether
an entity has control, joint control or significant influence over an investee, one of the following
Standards is applied:

(@ IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements,
(b) IAS 28 Investments in Associates, or
(c) IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

BC5 The Board considered whether another approach is appropriate for these investors when they
do not have control but have joint control or significant influence over their investees. The Board
noted that use of proportionate consolidation or the equity method for investments held by
venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities often produces
information that is not relevant to their management and investors and that fair value
measurement produces more relevant information in these circumstances. As noted in the
Basis for Conclusions on IAS 27, the Board confirmed that a subsidiary should not be excluded
from consolidation on the basis of the nature of the controlling entity. Consolidation is based on
the parent’s ability to control the investee and should not be affected by whether management
intends to hold an investment in an entity that it controls for the short term. The Board concluded
that for investments under the control of private equity entities, users’ information needs are
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best served by financial statements in which those investments are consolidated, thus revealing
the extent of the operations of the entities they control.

In addition, the Board noted that there may be frequent changes in the level of ownership in
these investments and that financial statements are less useful if there are frequent changes in
the method of accounting for an investment.

Measurement at fair value in accordance with 1AS 39

Accordingly, the Board decided that investments held by venture capital organisations, mutual
funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds should be
excluded from the scope of IAS 31 when they are measured at fair value in accordance with IAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The Board understands that fair value
information is often readily available because fair value measurement is a well-established
practice in these industries including for investments in entities in the early stages of their
development or in non-listed entities.

Treatment of changes in fair value

The Board decided that if venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar
entities are to be excluded from the scope of IAS 31, it should be only when they recognise
changes in the fair value of their interests in joint ventures in profit or loss in the period in which
those changes occur. This is to achieve the same treatment as for investments in subsidiaries or
associates that are not consolidated or accounted for using the equity method because control
or significant influence is intended to be temporary. The Board’'s approach distinguishes
between accounting for the investment and accounting for the economic entity. In relation to the
former, the Board decided that there should be consistency in the treatment of all investments,
including changes in the fair value of these investments.

The Board noted that if such investments were classified in accordance with IAS 39, they would
not always meet the definition of investments classified as held for trading because venture
capital organisations may hold an investment for a period of 3-5 years. In accordance with IAS
39 such an investment is classified as available for sale (unless the entity elects to designate
the investment on initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss). Classification as
available for sale would not result in recognising changes in fair value in profit or loss . To
achieve a similar effect on income to that of applying proportionate consolidation or the equity
method, the Board decided to exempt investments held by venture capital organisations, mutual
funds, unit trusts and similar entities from this Standard only when they are measured at fair
value through profit or loss (either by designation or because they meet the definition in IAS 39
of held for trading).

Reference to ‘well-established’ industry practices

The Exposure Draft of IAS 28 proposed to limit the availability of the scope exclusion to
situations in which well-established industry practice existed. Some respondents noted that the
development of industry practice to measure such investments at fair value would have been
precluded in industries established in countries already applying IFRSs. The Board confirmed
that the main purpose of the reference to ‘well-established’ practice in the Exposure Draft was to
emphasise that the exclusion would apply generally to those investments for which fair value is
already available.

Therefore, the Board decided that the availability of the exclusion from the scope of IAS 31
should be based only on the nature of an entity’s activities and to delete the reference to
‘well-established’ practices. The Board understands that measurement of these investments at
fair value is ‘well-established’ practice in these industries.

Definition of ‘venture capital organisations’

The Board decided not to define further those ‘venture capital organisations and similar entities’
excluded from the scope of IAS 31. Apart from recognising the difficulties of arriving at a
universally applicable definition, the Board did not want inadvertently to make it difficult for
entities to measure investments at fair value. However, the Board decided to clarify that the
reference to ‘similar entities’ in the scope exclusion includes investment linked insurance funds.
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Application of proportionate consolidation or the equity method

Temporary joint control

BC13 The Board considered whether to remove the exemption from applying proportionate
consolidation or the equity method when joint control in a joint venture is intended to be
temporary. The Board decided to consider this issue as part of a comprehensive standard
dealing with asset disposals. It decided to retain an exemption from applying proportionate
consolidation or the equity method when there is evidence that an interest in a joint venture is
acquired with the intention to dispose of it within twelve months and that management is actively
seeking a buyer. The Board’'s Exposure Draft ED 4 Disposal of Non-current Assets and
Presentation of Discontinued Operations proposes to measure and present assets held for sale
in a consistent manner irrespective of whether they are held by an investor in an associate, a
joint venture or a subsidiary.*

Severe long-term restrictions impairing ability to transfer funds to
the investor

BC14 The Board decided to remove the exemption from applying proportionate consolidation or the
equity method for an interest in a joint venture that previously applied when severe long-term
restrictions impaired a venture’s ability to transfer funds to the venturer. It did so because such
circumstances may not preclude the venturer's joint control over the venture. The Board
decided that an investor should, when assessing its ability to exercise joint control over an entity,
consider restrictions on the transfer of funds from the entity to the investor. In themselves, such
restrictions do not preclude the existence of joint control.

Non-coterminous year-ends

BC15 The Exposure Draft of May 2002 proposed to limit to three months any difference between the
reporting dates of the venturer and the venture when applying proportionate consolidation or the
equity method. Some respondents to that Exposure Draft believed that it could be impracticable
for the venturer to prepare financial statements as of the same date when the date of the
venturer’'s and the venture’s financial statements differ by more than three months. The Board
noted that a three-month limit operates in several jurisdictions and it was concerned that a
longer period, such as six months, would lead to the recognition of stale information. Therefore,
it decided to retain the three-month limit.

Loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity®

BC16 In the second phase of the Board’s project on business combinations, the Board observed that
the loss of control of an investee and the loss of joint control of an investee are economically
similar events; thus they should be accounted for similarly. The loss of joint control represents
an_economic event that changes the nature of the investment. The Board concluded that the
accounting guidance on the loss of control of a subsidiary should be extended to events,
transactions or _other changes in circumstances in which an investor loses joint control of an
investee. Thus, when an investor loses joint control of an investee, the investor measures any
retained investment at fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the jointly
controlled entity when joint control is lost, the disposal proceeds (if any) and the fair value of any
retained interest is recognised in profit or loss.

* In March 2004, the Board issued IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. IFRS 5
removes this scope exclusion and now eliminates the exemption from applying proportionate consolidation or the
equity method when joint control of a joint venture is intended to be temporary. See IFRS 5 Basis for Conclusions
for further discussion.

This heading and paragraph BC16 were added as a consequence of amendments to IAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements made as part of the second phase of the business combinations project in 2008.
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Scope (2008 amendment)’

BC17 The Board identified an apparent inconsistency in the disclosure requirements for
entities that are eligible and elect to _account for their interests in jointly controlled
entities at fair value in accordance with IAS 39. Those interests are excluded from the
scope of IAS 31 and the entities are therefore not required to make the disclosures that
the Standard would otherwise require. However, IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures both require entities that
account for interests in jointly controlled entities in accordance with IAS 39 to make the
disclosures required by IAS 31 in addition to the disclosures they require.

BC18 The Board decided to remove this inconsistency by deleting from IAS 32 and IFRS 7
the general requirement to make the 1AS 31 disclosures, and instead identifying the
specific_disclosures that should be made. The Board noted that the specific
disclosures identified would be relevant because of the significant interest venturers
hold in such investments. The Board also decided to delete from IAS 32 and IFRS 7
the requirement to _make the disclosures in IAS 27 because it duplicates the
requirement in IAS 27.

* _ This section was added as a consequence of an amendment to IAS 31 by Improvements to IFRSs issued in May
2008.
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Appendix

Amendments resulting from other Basis for Conclusions

The following sets out amendments required for this Basis for Conclusions resulting from other newly
issued HKFRSs that are not yet effective. Once effective, the amendments set out below will be
incorporated into the text of this Basis for Conclusions and this appendix will be deleted. In the amended
paragraphs shown below, new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued in November 2009) -
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

In_ paragraph BC7 the reference to ‘IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’ is footnoted as follows:

[ In November 2009 the Board amended some of the requirements of
IAS 39 and relocated them to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. IFRS 9
applies to all assets within the scope of IAS 39.

In paragraph BC9 the first reference to IAS 39 is footnoted as follows:

& In November 2009 the Board amended the requirements of IAS 39
relating to classification and measurement of assets within the scope
of IAS 39 and relocated them to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. IFRS 9
eliminated the available-for-sale category and permits entities to make
an _irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income
subsequent changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument that is not held for trading.

In paragraph BC17 the first reference to ‘IAS 39’ is footnoted as follows:

[ In_ November 2009 the IASB amended the requirements of IAS 39
relating to classification and measurement of assets within the scope
of IAS 39 and relocated them to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. IFRS 9
applies to all assets within the scope of IAS 39.
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Appendix C

Amendments resulting from other HKFRSs

The following sets out amendments required for this Standard resulting from other newly
issued HKFRSs that are not yet effective. Once effective, the amendments set out below will be
incorporated into the text of this Standard and this appendix will be deleted. In the amended
paragraphs shown below, new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

HKFERS 9 Financial Instruments (issued in November 2009) -
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

Paragraphs 3, 12 and 31 are amended and paragraph 97F is added as follows:

3 The principles in this Standard complement the principles for recognising and
measuring financial assets and financial liabilities in HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, and for disclosing information about them in HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

12 The following terms are defined in paragraph 9 of HKAS 39 and are used in
this Standard with the meaning specified in HKAS 39.

. amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
B lablo £ lo fi "

. derecognition

. derivative

. effective interest method

- financialassetor financial liability at fair value through profit or loss
. financial guarantee contract

. firm commitment

. forecast transaction

. hedge effectiveness

. hedged item

. hedging instrument

. held for trading

. hel s
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2 loans-and-receivables
. regular way purchase or sale
. transaction costs.

HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 deals with the measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities respectively. Equity instruments ...

HKFRS 9, issued in November 2009, amended paragraphs 3, 12, 31, AG2
and AG30. An entity shall apply those amendments when it applies HKFRS
0.

In the Appendix (Application Guidance), paragraphs AG2 and AG30 are amended as follows:

AG2

AG30

© Copyright

The Standard does not deal with the recognition or measurement of financial
instruments. Requirements about the recognition and measurement are set out
in HKFRS 9 for ef financial assets and HKAS 39 for financial liabilities-are
set-eutin-HKAS39.

Paragraph 28 applies only to issuers of non-derivative compound financial
instruments. Paragraph 28 does not deal with compound financial
instruments from the perspective of holders. HKFRS 9 deals with the
classification and measurement of financial assets that are compound

1nstruments from the holder s perspectlve HKASJ\,Q—deaIs—Wﬁh—the
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Appendix C

Amendments resulting from other Basis for Conclusions

The following sets out amendments required for this Basis for Conclusions resulting from
other newly issued HKFRSs that are not yet effective. Once effective, the amendments set out
below will be incorporated into the text of this Basis for Conclusions and this appendix will
be deleted. In the amended paragraphs shown below, new text is underlined and deleted text
is struck through.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued in November 2009) - effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

In paragraph BC2 the reference to ‘IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’ is footnoted as follows:

* In November 2009 the Board amended some of the requirements of IAS 39 and
relocated them to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

In paragraph BC25 the reference to ‘[AS 39, paragraph 43’ is footnoted as follows:
* In November 2009 the requirements of IAS 39, paragraph 43 relating to the initial
measurement of financial assets were relocated to paragraph 5.1.1 of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments.

In paragraphs BC26, BC29 and BC53(a), the references to ‘IAS 39’ are footnoted as follows:

* In November 2009 the requirements on measurement of assets within the scope of
IAS 39 were moved from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
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IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
Illustrative examples

These examples accompany, but are not part of, I1AS 32.

Accounting for contracts on equity instruments of an entity

IE1 The following examples illustrate the application of paragraphs 15 - 27 and 1AS 39
to the accounting for contracts on an entity’s own equity instruments (other than the
financial instruments specified in paragraphs 16A and 16B or paragraphs 16C and

16D).

Example 1: Forward to buy shares

IE2 This example illustrates the journal entries for forward purchase contracts on an
entity’s own shares that will be settled (a) net in cash, (b) net in shares or (c) by
delivering cash in exchange for shares. It also discusses the effect of settlement
options (see (d) below). To simplify the illustration, it is assumed that no dividends
are paid on the underlying shares (i.e. the ‘carry return’ is zero) so that the present
value of the forward price equals the spot price when the fair value of the forward
contract is zero. The fair value of the forward has been computed as the difference
between the market share price and the present value of the fixed forward price.

Assumptions:

Contract date 1 February 20X2
Maturity date 31 January 20X3
Market price per share on 1 February 20X2 CU100
Market price per share on 31 December 20X2 CuU110
Market price per share on 31 January 20X3 CU106
Fixed forward price to be paid on 31 January 20X3 Ccul04
Present value of forward price on 1 February 20X2 Cu100
Number of shares under forward contract 1,000
Fair value of forward on 1 February 20X2 Ccuo
Fair value of forward on 31 December 20X2 CU6,300
Fair value of forward on 31 January 20X3 CuU2,000

(@) Cash for cash (‘net cash settlement’)

IE3 In this subsection, the forward purchase contract on the entity’s own shares will be
settled net in cash, i.e. there is no receipt or delivery of the entity’s own shares upon
settlement of the forward contract.

On 1 February 20X2, Entity A enters into a contract with Entity B to receive the fair
value of 1,000 of Entity A’s own outstanding ordinary shares as of 31 January 20X3
in exchange for a payment of CU104,000 in cash (i.e. CU104 per share) on 31
January 20X3. The contract will be settled net in cash. Entity A records the following
journal entries.

" In these examples, monetary amounts are denominated in ‘currency units’ (CU).
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1 February 20X2

The price per share when the contract is agreed on 1 February 20X2 is CU100. The
initial fair value of the forward contract on 1 February 20X2 is zero.

No entry is required because the fair value of the derivative is zero and no cash is
paid or received.

31 December 20X2

On 31 December 20X2, the market price per share has increased to CU110 and, as a
result, the fair value of the forward contract has increased to CU6,300.

Dr Forward asset CU6,300
Cr Gain CU6,300

To record the increase in the fair value of the forward contract.
31 January 20X3

On 31 January 20X3, the market price per share has decreased to CU106. The fair
value of the forward contract is CU2,000 ([CU106 x 1,000] — CU104,000).

On the same day, the contract is settled net in cash. Entity A has an obligation to
deliver CU104,000 to Entity B and Entity B has an obligation to deliver CU106,000
(CU106 x 1,000) to Entity A, so Entity B pays the net amount of CU2,000 to Entity
A.

Dr Loss CU4,300
Cr Forward asset CU4,300

To record the decrease in the fair value of the forward contract (ie CU4,300 =
CU6,300 — CU2,000).

Dr Cash CU2,000
Cr Forward asset CuU2,000

To record the settlement of the forward contract.
(b) Shares for shares (‘net share settlement’)

IE4  Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made net in shares
instead of net in cash. Entity A’s journal entries are the same as those shown in (a)
above, except for recording the settlement of the forward contract, as follows:

31 January 20X3

The contract is settled net in shares. Entity A has an obligation to deliver CU104,000
(CU104 x 1,000) worth of its shares to Entity B and Entity B has an obligation to
deliver CU106,000 (CU106 x 1,000) worth of shares to Entity A. Thus, Entity B
delivers a net amount of CU2,000 (CU106,000 — CU104,000) worth of shares to
Entity A, i.e. 18.9 shares (CU2,000 / CU106).

Dr Equity CuU2,000
Cr Forward asset CuU2,000
© Copyright 4
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To record the settlement of the forward contract.
(©) Cash for shares (‘gross physical settlement’)

IE5  Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made by delivering a
fixed amount of cash and receiving a fixed number of Entity A’s shares. Similarly to
() and (b) above, the price per share that Entity A will pay in one year is fixed at
CU104. Accordingly, Entity A has an obligation to pay CU104,000 in cash to Entity
B (CU104 x 1,000) and Entity B has an obligation to deliver 1,000 of Entity A’s
outstanding shares to Entity A in one year. Entity A records the following journal
entries.

1 February 20X2

Dr Equity CU100,000

Cr Liability CU100,000
To record the obligation to deliver CU104,000 in one year at its present value of
CU100,000 discounted using an appropriate interest rate (see IAS 39, paragraph
AG64).

31 December 20X2

Dr Interest expense CU3,660

Cr Liability CU3,660
To accrue interest in accordance with the effective interest method on the liability for
the share redemption amount.

31 January 20X3
Dr Interest expense CU340
Cr Liability CuU340

To accrue interest in accordance with the effective interest method on the liability for
the share redemption amount.

Entity A delivers CU104,000 in cash to Entity B and Entity B delivers 1,000 of Entity
A’s shares to Entity A.

Dr Liability CU104,000
Cr Cash CU104,000

To record the settlement of the obligation to redeem Entity A’s own shares for cash.
(d) Settlement options

IE6 The existence of settlement options (such as net in cash, net in shares or by an
exchange of cash and shares) has the result that the forward repurchase contract is a
financial asset or a financial liability. If one of the settlement alternatives is to
exchange cash for shares ((c) above), Entity A recognises a liability for the obligation
to deliver cash, as illustrated in (c) above. Otherwise, Entity A accounts for the
forward contract as a derivative.
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Example 2: Forward to sell shares

IE7 This example illustrates the journal entries for forward sale contracts on an entity’s
own shares that will be settled (a) net in cash, (b) net in shares or (c) by receiving
cash in exchange for shares. It also discusses the effect of settlement options (see (d)
below). To simplify the illustration, it is assumed that no dividends are paid on the
underlying shares (i.e. the ‘carry return’ is zero) so that the present value of the
forward price equals the spot price when the fair value of the forward contract is zero.
The fair value of the forward has been computed as the difference between the market
share price and the present value of the fixed forward price.

Assumptions:

Contract date 1 February 20X2
Maturity date 31 January 20X3
Market price per share on 1 February 20X2 Cu100
Market price per share on 31 December 20X2 CU110
Market price per share on 31 January 20X3 CuU106
Fixed forward price to be paid on 31 January 20X3 Cul104
Present value of forward price on 1 February 20X2 Cu100
Number of shares under forward contract 1,000
Fair value of forward on 1 February 20X2 Cu0
Fair value of forward on 31 December 20X2 CU(6,300)
Fair value of forward on 31 January 20X3 CU(2,000)

(@) Cash for cash (‘net cash settlement’)

IE8  On 1 February 20X2, Entity A enters into a contract with Entity B to pay the fair
value of 1,000 of Entity A’s own outstanding ordinary shares as of 31 January 20X3
in exchange for CU104,000 in cash (i.e. CU104 per share) on 31 January 20X3. The
contract will be settled net in cash. Entity A records the following journal entries.

1 February 20X2

No entry is required because the fair value of the derivative is zero and no cash is
paid or received.

31 December 20X2

Dr Loss CU6,300
Cr Forward liability CU6,300

To record the decrease in the fair value of the forward contract.

31 January 20X3
Dr Forward liability CU4,300
Cr Gain CU4,300

To record the increase in the fair value of the forward contract (i.e. CU4,300 =
CU6,300 — CU2,000).
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The contract is settled net in cash. Entity B has an obligation to deliver CU104,000 to
Entity A, and Entity A has an obligation to deliver CU106,000 (CU106 x 1,000) to
Entity B. Thus, Entity A pays the net amount of CU2,000 to Entity B.

Dr Forward liability CuU2,000
Cr Cash CU2,000

To record the settlement of the forward contract.
(b) Shares for shares (‘net share settlement’)

IE9 Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made net in shares
instead of net in cash. Entity A’s journal entries are the same as those shown in (a),
except:

31 January 20X3
The contract is settled net in shares. Entity A has a right to receive CU104,000
(CU104 x 1,000) worth of its shares and an obligation to deliver CU106,000 (CU106

x 1,000) worth of its shares to Entity A. Thus, Entity A delivers a net amount of
CU2,000 (CU106,000 — CU104,000) worth of its shares to Entity B, i.e. 18.9 shares

(CU2,000 / CU106).
Dr Forward liability CU2,000
Cr Equity CU2,000

To record the settlement of the forward contract. The issue of the entity’s own shares
is treated as an equity transaction.

(©) Shares for cash (‘gross physical settlement’)

IE1I0  Assume the same facts as in (a), except that settlement will be made by receiving a
fixed amount of cash and delivering a fixed number of the entity’s own shares.
Similarly to (a) and (b) above, the price per share that Entity A will payreceive in one
year is fixed at CU104. Accordingly, Entity A has a right to receive CU104,000 in
cash (CU104 x 1,000) and an obligation to deliver 1,000 of its own shares in one year.
Entity A records the following journal entries.

1 February 20X2

No entry is made on 1 February. No cash is paid or received because the forward has
an initial fair value of zero. A forward contract to deliver a fixed number of Entity A’s
own shares in exchange for a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset meets
the definition of an equity instrument because it cannot be settled otherwise than
through the delivery of shares in exchange for cash.

31 December 20X2
No entry is made on 31 December because no cash is paid or received and a contract

to deliver a fixed number of Entity A’s own shares in exchange for a fixed amount of
cash meets the definition of an equity instrument of the entity.
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31 January 20X3
On 31 January 20X3, Entity A receives CU104,000 in cash and delivers 1,000 shares.

Dr Cash CuU104,000
Cr Equity CU104,000

To record the settlement of the forward contract
(d) Settlement options

IE11 The existence of settlement options (such as net in cash, net in shares or by an
exchange of cash and shares) has the result that the forward contract is a financial
asset or a financial liability. It does not meet the definition of an equity instrument
because it can be settled otherwise than by Entity A repurchasing a fixed number of
its own shares in exchange for paying a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset. Entity A recognises a derivative asset or liability, as illustrated in (a) and (b)
above. The accounting entry to be made on settlement depends on how the contract is
actually settled.

Example 3: Purchased call option on shares

IE12 This example illustrates the journal entries for a purchased call option right on the
entity’s own shares that will be settled (a) net in cash, (b) net in shares or (c) by
delivering cash in exchange for the entity’s own shares. It also discusses the effect of
settlement options (see (d) below):

Assumptions:

Contract date 1 February 20X2
Exercise date 31 January 20X3
(European terms, ie it can be

exercised only at maturity)

Exercise right holder Reporting entity (Entity A)
Market price per share on 1 February 20X2 CuU100
Market price per share on 31 December 20X2 Ccu104
Market price per share on 31 January 20X3 Ccu104
Fixed exercise price to be paid on 31 January 20X3 CuU102
Number of shares under option contract 1,000
Fair value of option on 1 February 20X2 CU5,000
Fair value of option on 31 December 20X2 CuU3,000
Fair value of option on 31 January 20X3 CuU2,000
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@) Cash for cash (‘net cash settlement’)

IE13 On 1 February 20X2, Entity A enters into a contract with Entity B that gives Entity B
the obligation to deliver, and Entity A the right to receive the fair value of 1,000 of
Entity A’s own ordinary shares as of 31 January 20X3 in exchange for CU102,000 in
cash (i.e. CU102 per share) on 31 January 20X3, if Entity A exercises that right. The
contract will be settled net in cash. If Entity A does not exercise its right, no payment
will be made. Entity A records the following journal entries.

1 February 20X2

The price per share when the contract is agreed on 1 February 20X2 is CU100. The
initial fair value of the option contract on 1 February 20X2 is CU5,000, which Entity
A pays to Entity B in cash on that date. On that date, the option has no intrinsic value,
only time value, because the exercise price of CU102 exceeds the market price per
share of CU100 and it would therefore not be economic for Entity A to exercise the
option. In other words, the call option is out of the money.

Dr Call option asset CU5,000
Cr Cash CU5,000

To recognise the purchased call option.

31 December 20X2

On 31 December 20X2, the market price per share has increased to CU104. The fair
value of the call option has decreased to CU3,000, of which CU2,000 is intrinsic
value ([CU104 — CU102] x 1,000), and CU1,000 is the remaining time value.

Dr Loss CuU2,000
Cr Call option asset CuU2,000

To record the decrease in the fair value of the call option.

31 January 20X3

On 31 January 20X3, the market price per share is still CU104. The fair value of the
call option has decreased to CU2,000, which is all intrinsic value ([CU104 — CU102]

x 1,000) because no time value remains.

Dr Loss CU1,000
Cr Call option asset CU1,000

To record the decrease in the fair value of the call option.

On the same day, Entity A exercises the call option and the contract is settled net in
cash. Entity B has an obligation to deliver CU104,000 (CU104 x 1,000) to Entity A in
exchange for CU102,000 (CU102 x 1,000) from Entity A, so Entity A receives a net
amount of CU2,000.

Dr Cash CU2,000
Cr Call option asset CuU2,000

To record the settlement of the option contract.
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(b) Shares for shares (‘net share settlement’)

IE14  Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made net in shares
instead of net in cash. Entity A’s journal entries are the same as those shown in (a)
except for recording the settlement of the option contract as follows:

31 January 20X3

Entity A exercises the call option and the contract is settled net in shares. Entity B has
an obligation to deliver CU104,000 (CU104 x 1,000) worth of Entity A’s shares to
Entity A in exchange for CU102,000 (CU102 x 1,000) worth of Entity A’s shares.
Thus, Entity B delivers the net amount of CU2,000 worth of shares to Entity A, i.e.
19.2 shares (CU2,000 / CU104).

Dr Equity CU2,000
Cr Call option asset CuU2,000

To record the settlement of the option contract. The settlement is accounted for as a
treasury share transaction (ie no gain or loss).

(©) Cash for shares (‘gross physical settlement’)
IE15 Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made by receiving a
fixed number of shares and paying a fixed amount of cash, if Entity A exercises the

option. Similarly to (a) and (b) above, the exercise price per share is fixed at CU102.
Accordingly, Entity A has a right to receive 1,000 of Entity A’s own outstanding

shares in exchange for CU102,000 (CU102 x 1,000) in cash, if Entity A exercises its
option. Entity A records the following journal entries.
1 February 20X2

Dr Equity CU5,000
Cr Cash CU5,000

To record the cash paid in exchange for the right to receive Entity A’s own shares in
one year for a fixed price. The premium paid is recognised in equity.

31 December 20X2

No entry is made on 31 December because no cash is paid or received and a contract
that gives a right to receive a fixed number of Entity A’s own shares in exchange for a
fixed amount of cash meets the definition of an equity instrument of the entity.

31 January 20X3

Entity A exercises the call option and the contract is settled gross. Entity B has an
obligation to deliver 1,000 of Entity A’s shares in exchange for CU102,000 in cash.

Dr  Equity CU102,000
Cr  Cash CU102,000

To record the settlement of the option contract.
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(@) Settlement options

IE16 The existence of settlement options (such as net in cash, net in shares or by an
exchange of cash and shares) has the result that the call option is a financial asset. It
does not meet the definition of an equity instrument because it can be settled
otherwise than by Entity A repurchasing a fixed number of its own shares in
exchange for paying a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset. Entity A
recognises a derivative asset, as illustrated in (a) and (b) above. The accounting entry
to be made on settlement depends on how the contract is actually settled.

Example 4: Written call option on shares

IE17  This example illustrates the journal entries for a written call option obligation on the
entity’s own shares that will be settled (a) net in cash, (b) net in shares or (c) by
delivering cash in exchange for shares. It also discusses the effect of settlement
options (see (d) below).

Assumptions:

Contract date 1 February 20X2
Exercise date 31 January 20X3
(European terms, ie it can be

exercised only at maturity)

Exercise right holder Counterparty (Entity B)
Market price per share on 1 February 20X2 CU100
Market price per share on 31 December 20X2 Ccul04
Market price per share on 31 January 20X3 Ccul04
Fixed exercise price to be received-paid on 31 January 20X3 CuU102
Number of shares under option contract 1,000
Fair value of option on 1 February 20X2 CU5,000
Fair value of option on 31 December 20X2 CU3,000
Fair value of option on 31 January 20X3 CU2,000

(@) Cash for cash (“net cash settlement”)

IE18 Assume the same facts as in Example 3(a) above except that Entity A has written a
call option on its own shares instead of having purchased a call option on them.
Accordingly, on 1 February 20X2 Entity A enters into a contract with Entity B that
gives Entity B the right to receive and Entity A the obligation to pay the fair value of
1,000 of Entity A’s own ordinary shares as of 31 January 20X3 in exchange for
CU102,000 in cash (i.e. CU102 per share) on 31 January 20X3, if Entity B exercises
that right. The contract will be settled net in cash. If Entity B does not exercise its
right, no payment will be made. Entity A records the following journal entries.

1 February 20X2

Dr Cash CU5,000
Cr Call option obligation CU5,000

To recognise the written call option.
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31 December 20X2

Dr Call option obligation CuU2,000
Cr Gain CU2,000

To record the decrease in the fair value of the call option.

31 January 20X3
Dr Call option obligation CU1,000
Cr Gain CuU1,000

To record the decrease in the fair value of the option.

On the same day, Entity B exercises the call option and the contract is settled net in
cash. Entity A has an obligation to deliver CU104,000 (CU104 x 1,000) to Entity B in
exchange for CU102,000 (CU102 x 1,000) from Entity B, so Entity A pays a net

amount of CU2,000.
Dr Call option obligation CuU2,000
Cr Cash CU2,000

To record the settlement of the option contract.
(b) Shares for shares (‘net share settlement’)

IE19 Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made net in shares
instead of net in cash. Entity A’s journal entries are the same as those shown in (a),
except for recording the settlement of the option contract, as follows:

31 January 20X3

Entity B exercises the call option and the contract is settled net in shares. Entity A has
an obligation to deliver CU104,000 (CU104 x 1,000) worth of Entity A’s shares to
Entity B in exchange for CU102,000 (CU102 x 1,000) worth of Entity A’s shares.
Thus, Entity A delivers the net amount of CU2,000 worth of shares to Entity B, i.e.
19.2 shares (CU2,000 / CU104).

Dr Call option obligation CuU2,000
Cr Equity CU2,000

To record the settlement of the option contract. The settlement is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

(©) Cash for shares (‘gross physical settlement’)

IE20  Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made by delivering a
fixed number of shares and receiving a fixed amount of cash, if Entity B exercises the
option. Similarly to (a) and (b) above, the exercise price per share is fixed at CU102.
Accordingly, Entity B has a right to receive 1,000 of Entity A’s own outstanding
shares in exchange for CU102,000 (CU102 x 1,000) in cash, if Entity B exercises its
option. Entity A records the following journal entries.
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1 February 20X2

Dr Cash CU5,000
Cr Equity CU5,000

To record the cash received in exchange for the obligation to deliver a fixed number
of Entity A’s own shares in one year for a fixed price. The premium received is
recognised in equity. Upon exercise, the call would result in the issue of a fixed
number of shares in exchange for a fixed amount of cash.

31 December 20X2

No entry is made on 31 December because no cash is paid or received and a contract
to deliver a fixed number of Entity A’s own shares in exchange for a fixed amount of
cash meets the definition of an equity instrument of the entity.

31 January 20X3

Entity B exercises the call option and the contract is settled gross. Entity A has an
obligation to deliver 1,000 shares in exchange for CU102,000 in cash.

Dr Cash CU102,000
Cr Equity CuU102,000

To record the settlement of the option contract.
(d) Settlement options

IE21 The existence of settlement options (such as net in cash, net in shares or by an
exchange of cash and shares) has the result that the call option is a financial liability.
It does not meet the definition of an equity instrument because it can be settled
otherwise than by Entity A issuing a fixed number of its own shares in exchange for
receiving a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset. Entity A recognises a
derivative liability, as illustrated in (a) and (b) above. The accounting entry to be
made on settlement depends on how the contract is actually settled.

Example 5: Purchased put option on shares

IE22  This example illustrates the journal entries for a purchased put option on the entity’s
own shares that will be settled (a) net in cash, (b) net in shares or (c) by delivering
cash in exchange for shares. It also discusses the effect of settlement options (see (d)
below).

Assumptions:

Contract date 1 February 20X2
Exercise date 31 January 20X3
(European terms, ie it can

be exercised only at

maturity)
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Exercise right holder Reporting entity (Entity A)
Market price per share on 1 February 20X2 Cu100
Market price per share on 31 December 20X2 CuU95
Market price per share on 31 January 20X3 CuU95
Fixed exercise price to be received-paid on 31 January 20X3 Cu9s8
Number of shares under option contract 1,000
Fair value of option on 1 February 20X2 CU5,000
Fair value of option on 31 December 20X2 CU4,000
Fair value of option on 31 January 20X3 CU3,000
(@) Cash for cash (‘net cash settlement’)

On 1 February 20X2, Entity A enters into a contract with Entity B that gives Entity A
the right to sell, and Entity B the obligation to buy the fair value of 1,000 of Entity
A’s own outstanding ordinary shares as of 31 January 20X3 at a strike price of
CU98,000 (i.e. CU98 per share) on 31 January 2003, if Entity A exercises that right.
The contract will be settled net in cash. If Entity A does not exercise its right, no
payment will be made. Entity A records the following journal entries.

1 February 20X2

The price per share when the contract is agreed on 1 February 20X2 is CU100. The
initial fair value of the option contract on 1 February 20X2 is CU5,000, which Entity
A pays to Entity B in cash on that date. On that date, the option has no intrinsic value,
only time value, because the exercise price of CU98 is less than the market price per
share of CU100. Therefore it would not be economic for Entity A to exercise the
option. In other words, the put option is out of the money.

Dr Put option asset CU5,000
Cr Cash CU5,000

To recognise the purchased put option.

31 December 20X2

On 31 December 20X2 the market price per share has decreased to CU95. The fair
value of the put option has decreased to CU4,000, of which CU3,000 is intrinsic
value ([CU98 — CU95] x 1,000) and CU1,000 is the remaining time value.

Dr Loss CU1,000
Cr Put option asset CU1,000

To record the decrease in the fair value of the put option.
31 January 20X3
On 31 January 20X3 the market price per share is still CU95. The fair value of the put

option has decreased to CU3,000, which is all intrinsic value ([CU98 — CU95] x
1,000) because no time value remains.
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Dr Loss CU1,000
Cr Put option asset CU1,000

To record the decrease in the fair value of the option.

On the same day, Entity A exercises the put option and the contract is settled net in
cash. Entity B has an obligation to deliver CU98,000 to Entity A and Entity A has an
obligation to deliver CU95,000 (CU95 x 1,000) to Entity B, so Entity B pays the net
amount of CU3,000 to Entity A.

Dr Cash CU3,000
Cr Put option asset CU3,000

To record the settlement of the option contract.
(b) Shares for shares (‘net share settlement’)

IE24  Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made net in shares
instead of net in cash. Entity A’s journal entries are the same as shown in (a), except:

31 January 20X3

Entity A exercises the put option and the contract is settled net in shares. In effect,
Entity B has an obligation to deliver CU98,000 worth of Entity A’s shares to Entity A,
and Entity A has an obligation to deliver CU95,000 worth of Entity A’s shares (CU95
x 1,000) to Entity B, so Entity B delivers the net amount of CU3,000 worth of shares
to Entity A, ie 31.6 shares (CU3,000 / CU95).

Dr Equity CU3,000
Cr Put option asset CU3,000

To record the settlement of the option contract.
(©) Cash for shares (‘gross physical settlement’)

IE25 Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made by receiving a
fixed amount of cash and delivering a fixed number of Entity A’s shares, if Entity A
exercises the option. Similarly to (a) and (b) above, the exercise price per share is
fixed at CU98. Accordingly, Entity B has an obligation to pay CU98,000 in cash to
Entity A (CU98 x 1,000) in exchange for 1,000 of Entity A’s outstanding shares, if
Entity A exercises its option. Entity A records the following journal entries.

1 February 20X2

Dr Equity CU5,000
Cr Cash CU5,000

To record the cash received in exchange for the right to deliver Entity A’s own shares
in one year for a fixed price. The premium paid is recognised directly in equity. Upon
exercise, it results in the issue of a fixed number of shares in exchange for a fixed
price.
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31 December 20X2

No entry is made on 31 December because no cash is paid or received and a contract
to deliver a fixed number of Entity A’s own shares in exchange for a fixed amount of
cash meets the definition of an equity instrument of Entity A.

31 January 20X3

Entity A exercises the put option and the contract is settled gross. Entity B has an
obligation to deliver CU98,000 in cash to Entity A in exchange for 1,000 shares.

Dr Cash CuU98,000
Cr Equity CU98,000

To record the settlement of the option contract.
(d) Settlement options

IE26 The existence of settlement options (such as net in cash, net in shares or by an
exchange of cash and shares) has the result that the put option is a financial asset. It
does not meet the definition of an equity instrument because it can be settled
otherwise than by Entity A issuing a fixed number of its own shares in exchange for
receiving a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset. Entity A recognises a
derivative asset, as illustrated in (a) and (b) above. The accounting entry to be made
on settlement depends on how the contract is actually settled.

Example 6: Written put option on shares

IE27  This example illustrates the journal entries for a written put option on the entity’s own
shares that will be settled (a) net in cash, (b) net in shares or (c) by delivering cash in
exchange for shares. It also discusses the effect of settlement options (see (d) below).

Assumptions:

Contract date 1 February 20X2
Exercise date 31 January 20X3
(European terms, i.e. it

can be exercised only at

maturity)
Exercise right holder Counterparty (Entity B)
Market price per share on 1 February 20X2 Cu100
Market price per share on 31 December 20X2 CU95
Market price per share on 31 January 20X3 CuU95
Fixed exercise price to be paid on 31 January 20X3 Cu98
Present value of exercise price on 1 February 20X2 CuU95
Number of shares under option contract 1,000
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Fair value of option on 1 February 20X2 CU5,000
Fair value of option on 31 December 20X2 CU4,000
Fair value of option on 31 January 20X3 CU3,000

(@) Cash for cash (‘net cash settlement’)

Assume the same facts as in Example 5(a) above, except that Entity A has written a
put option on its own shares instead of having purchased a put option on its own
shares. Accordingly, on 1 February 20X2, Entity A enters into a contract with Entity
B that gives Entity B the right to receive and Entity A the obligation to pay the fair
value of 1,000 of Entity A’s outstanding ordinary shares as of 31 January 20X3 in
exchange for CU98,000 in cash (ie CU98 per share) on 31 January 20X3, if Entity B
exercises that right. The contract will be settled net in cash. If Entity B does not
exercise its right, no payment will be made. Entity A records the following journal
entries.

1 February 20X2

Dr Cash CU5,000
Cr Put option liability CU5,000

To recognise the written put option.
31 December 20X2

Dr Put option liability CU1,000
Cr Gain CuU1,000

To record the decrease in the fair value of the put option.

31 January 20X3
Dr Put option liability CU1,000
Cr Gain CuU1,000

To record the decrease in the fair value of the put option.

On the same day, Entity B exercises the put option and the contract is settled net in
cash. Entity A has an obligation to deliver CU98,000 to Entity B, and Entity B has an
obligation to deliver CU95,000 (CU95 x 1,000) to Entity A. Thus, Entity A pays the
net amount of CU3,000 to Entity B.

Dr Put option liability CU3,000
Cr Cash CU3,000

To record the settlement of the option contract.

© Copyright 17



HKAS 32 (May 2004)

(b) Shares for shares (‘net share settlement’)

IE29  Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made net in shares
instead of net in cash. Entity A’s journal entries are the same as those in (a), except
for the following:

31 January 20X3

Entity B exercises the put option and the contract is settled net in shares. In effect,
Entity A has an obligation to deliver CU98,000 worth of shares to Entity B, and
Entity B has an obligation to deliver CU95,000 worth of Entity A’s shares (CU95 x
1,000) to Entity A. Thus, Entity A delivers the net amount of CU3,000 worth of
Entity A’s shares to Entity B, ie 31.6 shares (3,000 / 95).

Dr Put option liability CU3,000
Cr Equity CU3,000

To record the settlement of the option contract. The issue of Entity A’s own shares is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

(©) Cash for shares (‘gross physical settlement’)

IE30  Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made by delivering a
fixed amount of cash and receiving a fixed number of shares, if Entity B exercises the
option. Similarly to (a) and (b) above, the exercise price per share is fixed at CU98.
Accordingly, Entity A has an obligation to pay CU98,000 in cash to Entity B (CU98
x 1,000) in exchange for 1,000 of Entity A’s outstanding shares, if Entity B exercises
its option. Entity A records the following journal entries.

1 February 20X2

Dr Cash CU5,000
Cr Equity CU5,000

To recognise the option premium received of CU5,000 in equity.

Dr Equity CU95,000
Cr Liability CU95,000

To recognise the present value of the obligation to deliver CU98,000 in one year, i.e.
CU95,000, as a liability.

31 December 20X2

Dr Interest expense CuU2,750
Cr Liability CU2,750

To accrue interest in accordance with the effective interest method on the liability for
the share redemption amount.
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31 January 20X3
Dr Interest expense CuU250
Cr Liability CuU250

To accrue interest in accordance with the effective interest method on the liability for
the share redemption amount.

On the same day, Entity B exercises the put option and the contract is settled gross.
Entity A has an obligation to deliver CU98,000 in cash to Entity B in exchange for
CU95,000 worth of shares (CU95 x1,000).

Dr Liability CuU98,000
Cr Cash Cu98,000

To record the settlement of the option contract.
(d) Settlement options

The existence of settlement options (such as net in cash, net in shares or by an
exchange of cash and shares) has the result that the written put option is a financial
liability. If one of the settlement alternatives is to exchange cash for shares ((c)
above), Entity A recognises a liability for the obligation to deliver cash, as illustrated
in (c) above. Otherwise, Entity A accounts for the put option as a derivative liability.

Entities such as mutual funds and Co-operatives whose
share capital is not equity as Defined in IAS 32

IE32

Example 7: Entities with no equity

The following example illustrates an—income—staterment-and-balance-sheetformat-a
format of a statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position
that may be used by entities such as mutual funds that do not have equity as defined
in IAS 32. Other formats are possible.

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 20X1

20X1 20X0

Cu Cu

Revenue 2,956 1,718
Expenses (classified by nature or function) (644) (614)
Profit from operating activities 2,312 1,104
Finance costs — other finance costs 47 47)
— distributions to unitholders (50) (50)

Change in net assets attributable to unitholders 2,215 1,007
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Statement of financial position at 31 December 20X1

20X1 20X0
CuU CuU Cu CuU
ASSETS
Non-current assets (classified in
accordance with IAS 1) 91,374 78,484
Total non-current assets 91,374 78,484
Current assets (classified in
accordance with IAS 1) 1,422 1,769
Total current assets 1,422 1,769
Total assets 92,796 80,253
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities (classified in
accordance with IAS 1) 647 66
Total current liabilities (647) (66)
Non-current liabilities excluding net
assets attributable to unitholders
(classified in accordance with IAS
1) 280 136
(280) (136)
Net assets attributable to unitholders 91,869 80,051

Example 8: Entities with some equity

IE33  The following example illustrates anr-income-statement-and-balance—sheetformat-a
format of a statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position
that may be used by entities whose share capital is not equity as defined in 1AS 32
because the entity has an obligation to repay the share capital on demand but does not
have all the features or meet the conditions in paragraphs 16A and 16B or paragraphs
16C and 16D. Other formats are possible.

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 20X1

20X1 20X0

CuU CuU

Revenue 472 498
Expenses (classified by nature or function) (367) (396)
Profit from operating activities 105 102
Finance costs — other finance costs 4 (@)
— distributions to members (50) (50)

Change in net assets attributable to members 51 48
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Statement of financial position at 31 December 20X1

20X1 20X0
CuU CuU CuU CuU
ASSETS
Non-current assets (classified in
accordance with IAS 1) 908 830
Total non-current assets 908 830

Current assets (classified in

accordance with IAS 1) 383 350
Total current assets 383 350
Total assets 1,291 1,180

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities (classified in 372 338
accordance with IAS 1)
Share capital repayable on
demand 202 161
Total current liabilities (574) (499)
Total assets less current
liabilities 717 681

Non-current liabilities (classified
in accordance with 1AS 1) 187 196
187 196

RESERVESOTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY®
Reserves e.g. revaluation surplus,
retained earnings etc 530 485
530 485
717 681

MEMORANDUM NOTE - Total members’ interests

Share capital repayable on 202 161

demand
Reserves 530 485
732 646

@ n this example, the entity has no obligation to deliver a share of its reserves to its members.
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Accounting for compound financial instruments

IE34

IE35

IE36

IE37

IE38

Example 9: Separation of a compound financial instrument on
initial recognition

Paragraph 28 describes how the components of a compound financial instrument are
separated by the entity on initial recognition. The following example illustrates how
such a separation is made.

An entity issues 2,000 convertible bonds at the start of year 1. The bonds have a
three-year term, and are issued at par with a face value of CU1,000 per bond, giving
total proceeds of CU2,000,000. Interest is payable annually in arrears at a hominal
annual interest rate of 6 per cent. Each bond is convertible at any time up to maturity
into 250 ordinary shares. When the bonds are issued, the prevailing market interest
rate for similar debt without conversion options is 9 per cent.

The liability component is measured first, and the difference between the proceeds of
the bond issue and the fair value of the liability is assigned to the equity component.
The present value of the liability component is calculated using a discount rate of 9
per cent, the market interest rate for similar bonds having no conversion rights, as
shown below.

CuU

Present value of the principal — CU2,000,000 payable at the
end of three years 1,544,367

Present value of the interest — CU120,000 payable annually
in arrears for three years 303,755
Total liability component 1,848,122
Equity component (by deduction) 151,878
Proceeds of the bond issue 2,000,000

Example 10: Separation of a compound financial instrument
with multiple embedded derivative features

The following example illustrates the application of paragraph 31 to the separation of
the liability and equity components of a compound financial instrument with multiple
embedded derivative features.

Assume that the proceeds received on the issue of a callable convertible bond are
CUG0. The value of a similar bond without a call or equity conversion option is CU57.
Based on an option pricing model, it is determined that the value to the entity of the
embedded call feature in a similar bond without an equity conversion option is CU2.
In this case, the value allocated to the liability component under paragraph 31 is
CU55 (CU57 — CU2) and the value allocated to the equity component is CU5
(CU60 — CU55).
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Example 11: Repurchase of a convertible instrument

The following example illustrates how an entity accounts for a repurchase of a
convertible instrument. For simplicity, at inception, the face amount of the instrument
is assumed to be equal to the aggregate carrying amount of its liability and equity
components in the financial statements, i.e. no original issue premium or discount
exists. Also, for simplicity, tax considerations have been omitted from the example.

On 1 January 20X0, Entity A issued a 10 per cent convertible debenture with a face
value of CU1,000 maturing on 31 December 20X9. The debenture is convertible into
ordinary shares of Entity A at a conversion price of CU25 per share. Interest is
payable half-yearly in cash. At the date of issue, Entity A could have issued
non-convertible debt with a ten-year term bearing a coupon interest rate of 11 per
cent.

In the financial statements of Entity A the carrying amount of the debenture was
allocated on issue as follows:
CuU

Liability component
Present value of 20 half-yearly interest payments of CU50,

discounted at 11% 597
Present value of CU1,000 due in 10 years, discounted at

11%, compounded half-yearly 343

940

Equity component
(difference between CU1,000 total proceeds and CU940
allocated above) 60

Total proceeds 1,000

On 1 January 20X5, the convertible debenture has a fair value of CU1,700.

Entity A makes a tender offer to the holder of the debenture to repurchase the
debenture for CU1,700, which the holder accepts. At the date of repurchase, Entity A
could have issued non-convertible debt with a five-year term bearing a coupon
interest rate of 8 per cent.

The repurchase price is allocated as follows:

Carrying Fair Difference

value value

Liability component: Cu Cu
Present value of 10 remaining half-yearly

interest payments of CU50, discounted

at 11% and 8%, respectively 377 405
Present value of CU1,000 due in 5 years,

discounted at 11% and 8%,

Cu

compounded half-yearly, respectively 585 676
962 1,081 (119)
Equity component 60 619@ (559)
Total 1,022 1,700 (678)

® This amount represents the difference between the fair value amount allocated to the liability
component and the repurchase price of CU1,700.
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Entity A recognises the repurchase of the debenture as follows:

Dr Liability component Cu962
Dr Debt settlement expense
(income-statementprofit or 10ss) CuU119
Cr Cash CuU1,081

To recognise the repurchase of the liability component.

Dr Equity Cu619
Cr Cash CuU619

To recognise the cash paid for the equity component.

The equity component remains as equity, but may be transferred from one line item
within equity to another.

Example 12: Amendment of the terms of a convertible
instrument to induce early conversion

The following example illustrates how an entity accounts for the additional
consideration paid when the terms of a convertible instrument are amended to induce
early conversion.

On 1 January 20X0, Entity A issued a 10 per cent convertible debenture with a face
value of CU1,000 with the same terms as described in Example 11. On 1 January
20X1, to induce the holder to convert the convertible debenture promptly, Entity A
reduces the conversion price to CU20 if the debenture is converted before 1 March
20X1 (i.e. within 60 days).

Assume the market price of Entity A’s ordinary shares on the date the terms are
amended is CU40 per share. The fair value of the incremental consideration paid by
Entity A is calculated as follows:

Number of ordinary shares to be issued to debenture holders under amended
conversion terms:

Face amount CuU1,000
New conversion price /CU20 per share
Number of ordinary shares to be issued on

conversion 50 shares
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Number of ordinary shares to be issued to debenture holders under original
conversion terms:

Face amount CU1,000
Original conversion price /CU25 per share
Number of ordinary shares to be issued on

Conversion 40 shares

Number of incremental ordinary shares issued upon
conversion 10 shares

Value of incremental ordinary shares issued upon conversion

CUA40 per share x 10 incremental shares CuU400

IES0  The incremental consideration of CU400 is recognised as a loss in profit or loss.

© Copyright 25



HKAS 33
jssuedMarch-—2004Revised March 2010

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 33

Earnings per Share

CPA Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants
-y EEASTMAY




HKAS 33

COPYRIGHT
© Copyright 2010 Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

This Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard contains International Accounting Standards
Committee Foundation copyright material. Reproduction within Hong Kong in unaltered
form (retaining this notice) is permitted for personal and non-commercial use subject to the
inclusion of an acknowledgment of the source. Requests and inquiries concerning
reproduction and rights for commercial purposes within Hong Kong should be addressed to
the Director, Operation and Finance, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
37/F., Wu Chung House, 213 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

All rights in this material outside of Hong Kong are reserved by International Accounting
Standards Committee Foundation. Reproduction of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards outside of Hong Kong in unaltered form (retaining this notice) is permitted for
personal and non-commercial use only. Further information and requests for authorisation to
reproduce for commercial purposes outside Hong Kong should be addressed to the
International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation at www.iasb.org.

© Copyright 2


http://www.iasb.org/

HKAS 33 (March-2004March 2010)

CONTENTS
paragraphs
INTRODUCTION IN1-IN3
HONG KONG ACCOUNTING STANDARD 33
EARNINGS PER SHARE
OBJECTIVE 1
SCOPE 2-4A
DEFINITIONS 5-8
MEASUREMENT 9-63
Basic Earnings per Share 9-29
Earnings 12-18
Shares 19-29
Diluted Earnings per Share 30-63
Earnings 33-35
Shares 36-40
Dilutive Potential Ordinary Shares 41-63
Options, warrants and their equivalents 45-48
Convertible instruments 49-51
Contingently issuable shares 52-57
Contracts that may be settled in ordinary shares or cash 58-61
Purchased options 62
Written put options 63
RETROSPECTIVE ADJUSTMENTS 64-65
PRESENTATION 66-69
DISCLOSURE 70-73A
EFFECTIVE DATE 74-T4A
WITHDRAWAL OF OTHER PRONOUNCEMENTS 75-76

© Copyright 3



HKAS 33 (December 2007)

APPENDICES:
Comparison with International Accounting Standards
Appendix A Application Guidance

Appendix B Amendments to Other Pronouncements

BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS
ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES

TABLE OF CONCORDANCE

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 33 Earnings per Share
(HKAS 33) is set out in paragraphs 1-76 and Appendices A
and B. All the paragraphs have equal authority. HKAS 33
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Introduction

IN1 Hong Kong Accounting Standard 33 Earnings per Share (HKAS 33) replaces SSAP
5 Earnings per Shares (revised in 1998), and should be applied for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005. Earlier application is encouraged. The standard
also replaces Interpretation 10 Earnings Per Share — Financial Instruments and
Other Contracts that May Be Settled in Shares.

Reasons for issuing HKAS 33

IN2 The objectives of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA)
issuing HKAS 33 were to reduce or eliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts
within the Standards, to deal with some convergence issues and to make other

improvements.

IN3 For HKAS 33 the HKICPA’s main objective was to provide additional guidance and
illustrative examples on selected complex matters, such as the effects of contingently
issuable shares; potential ordinary shares of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates;
participating equity instruments; written put options; purchased put and call options;
and mandatorily convertible instruments. The HKICPA did not reconsider the
fundamental approach to the determination and presentation of earnings per share
contained in HKAS 33.
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 33
Earnings per Share

Objective

1 The objective of this Standard is to prescribe principles for the determination and
presentation of earnings per share, so as to improve performance comparisons
between different entities in the same reporting period and between different
reporting periods for the same entity. Even though earnings per share data have
limitations because of the different accounting policies that may be used for
determining ‘earnings’, a consistently determined denominator enhances financial
reporting. The focus of this Standard is on the denominator of the earnings per share

calculation.

Scope

2
sham&%pete%al%rdm#sh&re&mﬁaabm_mapket&Thls Standard shall applv to
(a) the separate or individual financial statements of an entity:

(i) whose ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares are traded in
a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an
over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets)
or_

(i) that files, or is in the process of filing, its financial statements
with a securities commission or other reqgulatory organisation for
the purpose of issuing ordinary shares in a public market; and

(b) the consolidated financial statements of a group with a parent:

() whose ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares are traded in
a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an
over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets)
or_

(i) that files, or is in the process of filing, its financial statements
with a securities commission or other regulatory organisation for
the purpose of issuing ordinary shares in a public market.

3 An entity that discloses earnings per share shall calculate and disclose earnings
per share in accordance with this Standard.
4 When an entity presents both consolidated financial statements and separate

financial statements prepared in accordance with HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements, the disclosures required by this Standard need be
presented only on the basis of the consolidated information. An entity that
chooses to disclose earnings per share based on its separate financial statements

shall present such earnings per share information only-en-theface-of-its-separate
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income-statement in its statement of comprehensive income. An entity shall not
present such earnings per share information in the consolidated financial
statements.

If an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income

statement as described in paragraph 81 of HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements (as revised in 2007), it presents earnings per share only in that
separate statement.

Definitions

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Antidilution is an increase in earnings per share or a reduction in loss per share
resulting from the assumption that convertible instruments are converted, that
options or warrants are exercised, or that ordinary shares are issued upon the
satisfaction of specified conditions.

A contingent share agreement is an agreement to issue shares that is dependent on
the satisfaction of specified conditions.

Contingently issuable ordinary shares are ordinary shares issuable for little or no
cash or other consideration upon the satisfaction of specified conditions in a
contingent share agreement.

Dilution is a reduction in earnings per share or an increase in loss per share
resulting from the assumption that convertible instruments are converted, that
options or warrants are exercised, or that ordinary shares are issued upon the
satisfaction of specified conditions.

Options, warrants and their equivalents are financial instruments that give the
holder the right to purchase ordinary shares.

An ordinary share is an equity instrument that is subordinate to all other classes
of equity instruments.

A potential ordinary share is a financial instrument or other contract that may
entitle its holder to ordinary shares.

Put options on ordinary shares are contracts that give the holder the right to sell
ordinary shares at a specified price for a given period.

Ordinary shares participate in profit for the period only after other types of shares
such as preference shares have participated. An entity may have more than one class
of ordinary shares. Ordinary shares of the same class have the same rights to receive
dividends.
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7 Examples of potential ordinary shares are:

@) financial liabilities or equity instruments, including preference shares, that
are convertible into ordinary shares;

(b) options and warrants;

(c) shares that would be issued upon the satisfaction of conditions resulting from
contractual arrangements, such as the purchase of a business or other assets.

8 Terms defined in HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure-and-Presentation are
used in this Standard with the meanings specified in paragraph 11 of HKAS 32,
unless otherwise noted. HKAS 32 defines financial instrument, financial asset,
financial liability, equity instrument, and fair value, and provides guidance on
applying those definitions.

Measurement

Basic earnings per share

9 An entity shall calculate basic earnings per share amounts for profit or loss
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity and, if presented,
profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to those equity holders.

10 Basic earnings per share shall be calculated by dividing profit or loss
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity (the numerator) by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (the denominator)
during the period.

11 The objective of basic earnings per share information is to provide a measure of the
interests of each ordinary share of a parent entity in the performance of the entity
over the reporting period.

Earnings

12 For the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share, the amounts
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity in respect of:

(a) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to the parent entity;
and

(b) profit or loss attributable to the parent entity

shall be the amounts in (a) and (b)adjusted for the after-tax amounts of
preference dividends, differences arising on the settlement of preference shares,
and other similar effects of preference shares classified as equity.

13 All items of income and expense attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
entity that are recognised in a period, including tax expense and dividends on
preference shares classified as liabilities are included in the determination of profit or
loss for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity (see
HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements).
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The after-tax amount of preference dividends that is deducted from profit or loss is:

(@) the after-tax amount of any preference dividends on non-cumulative
preference shares declared in respect of the period; and

(b) the after-tax amount of the preference dividends for cumulative preference
shares required for the period, whether or not the dividends have been
declared. The amount of preference dividends for the period does not include
the amount of any preference dividends for cumulative preference shares
paid or declared during the current period in respect of previous periods.

Preference shares that provide for a low initial dividend to compensate an entity for
selling the preference shares at a discount, or an above-market dividend in later
periods to compensate investors for purchasing preference shares at a premium, are
sometimes referred to as increasing rate preference shares. Any original issue
discount or premium on increasing rate preference shares is amortised to retained
earnings using the effective interest method and treated as a preference dividend for
the purposes of calculating earnings per share.

Preference shares may be repurchased under an entity’s tender offer to the holders. The
excess of the fair value of the consideration paid to the preference shareholders over
the carrying amount of the preference shares represents a return to the holders of the
preference shares and a charge to retained earnings for the entity. This amount is
deducted in calculating profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent entity.

Early conversion of convertible preference shares may be induced by an entity
through favourable changes to the original conversion terms or the payment of
additional consideration. The excess of the fair value of the ordinary shares or other
consideration paid over the fair value of the ordinary shares issuable under the
original conversion terms is a return to the preference shareholders, and is deducted
in calculating profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity.

Any excess of the carrying amount of preference shares over the fair value of the
consideration paid to settle them is added in calculating profit or loss attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent entity.

Shares

For the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share, the number of ordinary
shares shall be the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the period.

Using the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period
reflects the possibility that the amount of shareholders’ capital varied during the
period as a result of a larger or smaller number of shares being outstanding at any
time. The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period
is the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the beginning of the period, adjusted
by the number of ordinary shares bought back or issued during the period multiplied
by a time-weighting factor. The time-weighting factor is the number of days that the
shares are outstanding as a proportion of the total number of days in the period; a
reasonable approximation of the weighted average is adequate in many
circumstances.
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21 Shares are usually included in the weighted average number of shares from the date
consideration is receivable (which is generally the date of their issue), for example:

@ ordinary shares issued in exchange for cash are included when cash is
receivable;

(b) ordinary shares issued on the voluntary reinvestment of dividends on
ordinary or preference shares are included when dividends are reinvested;

(c) ordinary shares issued as a result of the conversion of a debt instrument to
ordinary shares are included from the date that interest ceases to accrue;

(d) ordinary shares issued in place of interest or principal on other financial
instruments are included from the date that interest ceases to accrue;

(e) ordinary shares issued in exchange for the settlement of a liability of the
entity are included from the settlement date;

)] ordinary shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of an asset other
than cash are included as of the date on which the acquisition is recognised;
and

(9) ordinary shares issued for the rendering of services to the entity are included
as the services are rendered.

The timing of the inclusion of ordinary shares is determined by the terms and
conditions attaching to their issue. Due consideration is given to the substance of any
contract associated with the issue.

22 Ordinary shares issued as part of the eest-ef-consideration transferred in a business
combination are included in the weighted average number of shares from the
acquisition date. This is because the acquirer incorporates into its ireeme-statement
of comprehensive income the acquiree's profits and losses from that date.

23 Ordinary shares that will be issued upon the conversion of a mandatorily convertible
instrument are included in the calculation of basic earnings per share from the date
the contract is entered into.

24 Contingently issuable shares are treated as outstanding and are included in the
calculation of basic earnings per share only from the date when all necessary
conditions are satisfied (ie the events have occurred). Shares that are issuable solely
after the passage of time are not contingently issuable shares, because the passage of
time is a certainty. Outstanding ordinary shares that are contingently returnable (ie
subject to recall) are not treated as outstanding and are excluded from the calculation
of basic earnings per share until the date the shares are no longer subject to recall.

25 [Deleted]

* Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
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The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period
and for all periods presented shall be adjusted for events, other than the
conversion of potential ordinary shares, that have changed the number of
ordinary shares outstanding without a corresponding change in resources.

Ordinary shares may be issued, or the number of ordinary shares outstanding may be
reduced, without a corresponding change in resources. Examples include:

@) a capitalisation or bonus issue (sometimes referred to as a stock dividend);

(b) a bonus element in any other issue, for example a bonus element in a rights
issue to existing shareholders;

(c) a share split; and
(d) a reverse share split (consolidation of shares).

In a capitalisation or bonus issue or a share split, ordinary shares are issued to
existing shareholders for no additional consideration. Therefore, the number of
ordinary shares outstanding is increased without an increase in resources. The
number of ordinary shares outstanding before the event is adjusted for the
proportionate change in the number of ordinary shares outstanding as if the event had
occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented. For example, on a
two-for-one bonus issue, the number of ordinary shares outstanding before the issue
is multiplied by three to obtain the new total number of ordinary shares, or by two to
obtain the number of additional ordinary shares.

A consolidation of ordinary shares generally reduces the number of ordinary shares
outstanding without a corresponding reduction in resources. However, when the
overall effect is a share repurchase at fair value, the reduction in the number of
ordinary shares outstanding is the result of a corresponding reduction in resources.
An example is a share consolidation combined with a special dividend. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the period in which the combined
transaction takes place is adjusted for the reduction in the number of ordinary shares
from the date the special dividend is recognised.

Diluted earnings per share

An entity shall calculate diluted earnings per share amounts for profit or loss
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity and, if presented,
profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to those equity holders.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, an entity shall adjust
profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity, and
the weighted average number of shares outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares.

The objective of diluted earnings per share is consistent with that of basic earnings
per share—to provide a measure of the interest of each ordinary share in the
performance of an entity—while giving effect to all dilutive potential ordinary shares
outstanding during the period. As a result:

@) profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity is
increased by the after-tax amount of dividends and interest recognised in the
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period in respect of the dilutive potential ordinary shares and is adjusted for
any other changes in income or expense that would result from the
conversion of the dilutive potential ordinary shares; and

(b) the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding is increased by
the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have
been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

Earnings

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, an entity shall adjust
profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity, as
calculated in accordance with paragraph 12, by the after-tax effect of:

(@) any dividends or other items related to dilutive potential ordinary shares
deducted in arriving at profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent entity as calculated in accordance with paragraph
12;

(b) any interest recognised in the period related to dilutive potential
ordinary shares; and

(©) any other changes in income or expense that would result from the
conversion of the dilutive potential ordinary shares.

After the potential ordinary shares are converted into ordinary shares, the items
identified in paragraph 33(a)-(c) no longer arise. Instead, the new ordinary shares are
entitled to participate in profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent entity. Therefore, profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent entity calculated in accordance with paragraph 12 is adjusted for the items
identified in paragraph 33(a)-(c) and any related taxes. The expenses associated with
potential ordinary shares include transaction costs and discounts accounted for in
accordance with the effective interest method (see paragraph 9 of HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement).

The conversion of potential ordinary shares may lead to consequential changes in
income or expenses. For example, the reduction of interest expense related to
potential ordinary shares and the resulting increase in profit or reduction in loss may
lead to an increase in the expense related to a non-discretionary employee
profit-sharing plan. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, profit or
loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity is adjusted for any
such consequential changes in income or expense.

Shares

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the number of
ordinary shares shall be the weighted average number of ordinary shares
calculated in accordance with paragraphs 19 and 26, plus the weighted average
number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. Dilutive potential
ordinary shares shall be deemed to have been converted into ordinary shares at
the beginning of the period or, if later, the date of the issue of the potential
ordinary shares.

© Copyright 12



37

38

39

40

41

42

43

HKAS 33 (December 2007)

Dilutive potential ordinary shares shall be determined independently for each period
presented. The number of dilutive potential ordinary shares included in the
year-to-date period is not a weighted average of the dilutive potential ordinary shares
included in each interim computation.

Potential ordinary shares are weighted for the period they are outstanding. Potential
ordinary shares that are cancelled or allowed to lapse during the period are included
in the calculation of diluted earnings per share only for the portion of the period
during which they are outstanding. Potential ordinary shares that are converted into
ordinary shares during the period are included in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share from the beginning of the period to the date of conversion; from the date of
conversion, the resulting ordinary shares are included in both basic and diluted
earnings per share.

The number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of dilutive
potential ordinary shares is determined from the terms of the potential ordinary
shares. When more than one basis of conversion exists, the calculation assumes the
most advantageous conversion rate or exercise price from the standpoint of the holder
of the potential ordinary shares.

A subsidiary, joint venture or associate may issue to parties other than the parent,
venturer or investor potential ordinary shares that are convertible into either ordinary
shares of the subsidiary, joint venture or associate, or ordinary shares of the parent,
venturer or investor (the reporting entity). If these potential ordinary shares of the
subsidiary, joint venture or associate have a dilutive effect on the basic earnings per
share of the reporting entity, they are included in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share.

Dilutive potential ordinary shares

Potential ordinary shares shall be treated as dilutive when, and only when, their
conversion to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share or increase
loss per share from continuing operations.

An entity uses profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to the parent
entity as the control number to establish whether potential ordinary shares are
dilutive or antidilutive. Profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to the
parent entity is adjusted in accordance with paragraph 12 and excludes items relating
to discontinued operations.

Potential ordinary shares are antidilutive when their conversion to ordinary shares
would increase earnings per share or decrease loss per share from continuing
operations. The calculation of diluted earnings per share does not assume conversion,
exercise, or other issue of potential ordinary shares that would have an antidilutive
effect on earnings per share.
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In determining whether potential ordinary shares are dilutive or antidilutive, each
issue or series of potential ordinary shares is considered separately rather than in
aggregate. The sequence in which potential ordinary shares are considered may affect
whether they are dilutive. Therefore, to maximise the dilution of basic earnings per
share, each issue or series of potential ordinary shares is considered in sequence from
the most dilutive to the least dilutive, ie dilutive potential ordinary shares with the
lowest ‘earnings per incremental share’ are included in the diluted earnings per share
calculation before those with a higher earnings per incremental share. Options and
warrants are generally included first because they do not affect the numerator of the
calculation.

Options, warrants and their equivalents

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, an entity shall assume
the exercise of dilutive options and warrants of the entity. The assumed proceeds
from these instruments shall be regarded as having been received from the issue
of ordinary shares at the average market price of ordinary shares during the
period. The difference between the number of ordinary shares issued and the
number of ordinary shares that would have been issued at the average market
price of ordinary shares during the period shall be treated as an issue of
ordinary shares for no consideration.

Options and warrants are dilutive when they would result in the issue of ordinary
shares for less than the average market price of ordinary shares during the period.
The amount of the dilution is the average market price of ordinary shares during the
period minus the issue price. Therefore, to calculate diluted earnings per share,
potential ordinary shares are treated as consisting of both the following:

@) a contract to issue a certain number of the ordinary shares at their average
market price during the period. Such ordinary shares are assumed to be fairly
priced and to be neither dilutive nor antidilutive. They are ignored in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share.

(b) a contract to issue the remaining ordinary shares for no consideration. Such
ordinary shares generate no proceeds and have no effect on profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shares outstanding. Therefore, such shares are
dilutive and are added to the number of ordinary shares outstanding in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share.

Options and warrants have a dilutive effect only when the average market price of
ordinary shares during the period exceeds the exercise price of the options or
warrants (ie they are ‘in the money’). Previously reported earnings per share are not
retroactively adjusted to reflect changes in prices of ordinary shares.

For share options and other share-based payment arrangements to which HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment applies, the issue price referred to in paragraph 46 and the
exercise price referred to in paragraph 47 shall include the fair value of any goods or
services to be supplied to the entity in the future under the share option or other
share-based payment arrangement.
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Employee share options with fixed or determinable terms and non-vested ordinary
shares are treated as options in the calculation of diluted earnings per share, even
though they may be contingent on vesting. They are treated as outstanding on the
grant date. Performance-based employee share options are treated as contingently
issuable shares because their issue is contingent upon satisfying specified conditions
in addition to the passage of time.

Convertible instruments

The dilutive effect of convertible instruments shall be reflected in diluted earnings
per share in accordance with paragraphs 33 and 36.

Convertible preference shares are antidilutive whenever the amount of the dividend
on such shares declared in or accumulated for the current period per ordinary share
obtainable on conversion exceeds basic earnings per share. Similarly, convertible
debt is antidilutive whenever its interest (net of tax and other changes in income or
expense) per ordinary share obtainable on conversion exceeds basic earnings per
share.

The redemption or induced conversion of convertible preference shares may affect
only a portion of the previously outstanding convertible preference shares. In such
cases, any excess consideration referred to in paragraph 17 is attributed to those
shares that are redeemed or converted for the purpose of determining whether the
remaining outstanding preference shares are dilutive. The shares redeemed or
converted are considered separately from those shares that are not redeemed or
converted.

Contingently issuable shares

As in the calculation of basic earnings per share, contingently issuable ordinary
shares are treated as outstanding and included in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share if the conditions are satisfied (ie the events have occurred). Contingently
issuable shares are included from the beginning of the period (or from the date of the
contingent share agreement, if later). If the conditions are not satisfied, the number of
contingently issuable shares included in the diluted earnings per share calculation is
based on the number of shares that would be issuable if the end of the period were the
end of the contingency period. Restatement is not permitted if the conditions are not
met when the contingency period expires.

If attainment or maintenance of a specified amount of earnings for a period is the
condition for contingent issue and if that amount has been attained at the end of the
reporting period but must be maintained beyond the end of the reporting period for an
additional period, then the additional ordinary shares are treated as outstanding, if the
effect is dilutive, when calculating diluted earnings per share. In that case, the
calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the number of ordinary shares
that would be issued if the amount of earnings at the end of the reporting period were
the amount of earnings at the end of the contingency period. Because earnings may
change in a future period, the calculation of basic earnings per share does not include
such contingently issuable ordinary shares until the end of the contingency period
because not all necessary conditions have been satisfied.

© Copyright 15



54

55

56

57

58

HKAS 33 (December 2007)

The number of ordinary shares contingently issuable may depend on the future
market price of the ordinary shares. In that case, if the effect is dilutive, the
calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the number of ordinary shares
that would be issued if the market price at the end of the reporting period were the
market price at the end of the contingency period. If the condition is based on an
average of market prices over a period of time that extends beyond the end of the
reporting period, the average for the period of time that has lapsed is used. Because
the market price may change in a future period, the calculation of basic earnings per
share does not include such contingently issuable ordinary shares until the end of the
contingency period because not all necessary conditions have been satisfied.

The number of ordinary shares contingently issuable may depend on future earnings
and future prices of the ordinary shares. In such cases, the number of ordinary shares
included in the diluted earnings per share calculation is based on both conditions (ie
earnings to date and the current market price at the end of the reporting period).
Contingently issuable ordinary shares are not included in the diluted earnings per
share calculation unless both conditions are met.

In other cases, the number of ordinary shares contingently issuable depends on a
condition other than earnings or market price (for example, the opening of a specific
number of retail stores). In such cases, assuming that the present status of the
condition remains unchanged until the end of the contingency period, the
contingently issuable ordinary shares are included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share according to the status at the end of the reporting period.

Contingently issuable potential ordinary shares (other than those covered by a
contingent share agreement, such as contingently issuable convertible instruments)
are included in the diluted earnings per share calculation as follows:

@) an entity determines whether the potential ordinary shares may be assumed to
be issuable on the basis of the conditions specified for their issue in
accordance with the contingent ordinary share provisions in paragraphs
52-56; and

(b) if those potential ordinary shares should be reflected in diluted earnings per
share, an entity determines their impact on the calculation of diluted earnings
per share by following the provisions for options and warrants in paragraphs
45-48, the provisions for convertible instruments in paragraphs 49-51, the
provisions for contracts that may be settled in ordinary shares or cash in
paragraphs 58-61, or other provisions, as appropriate.

However, exercise or conversion is not assumed for the purpose of calculating diluted
earnings per share unless exercise or conversion of similar outstanding potential
ordinary shares that are not contingently issuable is assumed.

Contracts that may be settled in ordinary shares or cash

When an entity has issued a contract that may be settled in ordinary shares or in
cash at the entity’s option, the entity shall presume that the contract will be
settled in ordinary shares, and the resulting potential ordinary shares shall be
included in diluted earnings per share if the effect is dilutive.
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When such a contract is presented for accounting purposes as an asset or a liability,
or has an equity component and a liability component, the entity shall adjust the
numerator for any changes in profit or loss that would have resulted during the period
if the contract had been classified wholly as an equity instrument. That adjustment is
similar to the adjustments required in paragraph 33.

For contracts that may be settled in ordinary shares or cash at the holder's
option, the more dilutive of cash settlement and share settlement shall be used in
calculating diluted earnings per share.

An example of a contract that may be settled in ordinary shares or cash is a debt
instrument that, on maturity, gives the entity the unrestricted right to settle the
principal amount in cash or in its own ordinary shares. Another example is a written
put option that gives the holder a choice of settling in ordinary shares or cash.

Purchased options

Contracts such as purchased put options and purchased call options (ie options held
by the entity on its own ordinary shares) are not included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share because including them would be antidilutive. The put option
would be exercised only if the exercise price were higher than the market price and
the call option would be exercised only if the exercise price were lower than the
market price.

Written put options

Contracts that require the entity to repurchase its own shares, such as written
put options and forward purchase contracts, are reflected in the calculation of
diluted earnings per share if the effect is dilutive. If these contracts are ‘in the
money’ during the period (ie the exercise or settlement price is above the
average market price for that period), the potential dilutive effect on earnings
per share shall be calculated as follows:

@ it shall be assumed that at the beginning of the period sufficient ordinary
shares will be issued (at the average market price during the period) to
raise proceeds to satisfy the contract;

(b) it shall be assumed that the proceeds from the issue are used to satisfy
the contract (ie to buy back ordinary shares); and

(c) the incremental ordinary shares (the difference between the number of
ordinary shares assumed issued and the number of ordinary shares
received from satisfying the contract) shall be included in the calculation
of diluted earnings per share.

© Copyright 17



HKAS 33 (DBecember—2007March 2010)

Retrospective adjustments

64

65

If the number of ordinary or potential ordinary shares outstanding increases as
a result of a capitalisation, bonus issue or share split, or decreases as a result of a
reverse share split, the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for all
periods presented shall be adjusted retrospectively. If these changes occur after
the balaneesheet-date-reporting period but before the financial statements are
authorised for issue, the per share calculations for those and any prior period
financial statements presented shall be based on the new number of shares. The
fact that per share calculations reflect such changes in the number of shares
shall be disclosed. In addition, basic and diluted earnings per share of all periods
presented shall be adjusted for the effects of errors and adjustments resulting
from changes in accounting policies accounted for retrospectively.

An entity does not restate diluted earnings per share of any prior period presented for
changes in the assumptions used in earnings per share calculations or for the
conversion of potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Presentation

66

67

67A

An entity shall present in the inreeme-statement of comprehensive income basic
and diluted earnings per share for profit or loss from continuing operations
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent entity and for profit or
loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent entity for the
period for each class of ordinary shares that has a different right to share in
profit for the period. An entity shall present basic and diluted earnings per
share with equal prominence for all periods presented.

Earnings per share is presented for every period for which a inreeme-statement of
comprehensive income is presented. If diluted earnings per share is reported for at
least one period, it shall be reported for all periods presented, even if it equals basic
earnings per share. If basic and diluted earnings per share are equal, dual presentation
can be accomplished in one line enin the—income statement_of comprehensive
income.

If an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement

68

68A

as described in paragraph 81 of HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007), it presents basic and
diluted earnings per share, as required in paragraphs 66 and 67, in that separate
statement.

An entity that reports a discontinued operation shall disclose the basic and
diluted amounts per share for the discontinued operation either in the income
statement of comprehensive income or in the notes.

If an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement

69

as described in paragraph 81 of HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007), it presents basic and
diluted earnings per share for the discontinued operation, as required in paragraph 68,
in that separate statement or in the notes.

An entity shall present basic and diluted earnings per share, even if the amounts
are negative (ie a loss per share).
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Disclosure

70 An entity shall disclose the following:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

the amounts used as the numerators in calculating basic and diluted
earnings per share, and a reconciliation of those amounts to profit or
loss attributable to the parent entity for the period. The reconciliation
shall include the individual effect of each class of instruments that affects
earnings per share.

the weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the
denominator in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share, and a
reconciliation of these denominators to each other. The reconciliation
shall include the individual effect of each class of instruments that affects
earnings per share.

instruments (including contingently issuable shares) that could
potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were not
included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are
antidilutive for the period(s) presented.

a description of ordinary share transactions or potential ordinary share
transactions, other than those accounted for in accordance with
paragraph 64, that occur after the balance-sheet-date-reporting period
and that would have changed significantly the number of ordinary
shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the period
if those transactions had occurred before the end of the reporting
period.

71 Examples of transactions in paragraph 70(d) include:

(a)
(b)

(©)
(d)

(€)
(f)

an issue of shares for cash;

an issue of shares when the proceeds are used to repay debt or preference
shares outstanding at the-balance-sheet-date end of the reporting period;

the redemption of ordinary shares outstanding;

the conversion or exercise of potential ordinary shares outstanding at the
balanee-sheet-date-end of the reporting period into ordinary shares;

an issue of options, warrants, or convertible instruments; and

the achievement of conditions that would result in the issue of contingently
issuable shares.

Earnings per share amounts are not adjusted for such transactions occurring after the
balanee—sheet—date—reporting period because such transactions do not affect the
amount of capital used to produce profit or loss for the period.

72 Financial instruments and other contracts generating potential ordinary shares may
incorporate terms and conditions that affect the measurement of basic and diluted
earnings per share. These terms and conditions may determine whether any potential
ordinary shares are dilutive and, if so, the effect on the weighted average number of
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shares outstanding and any consequent adjustments to profit or loss attributable to
ordinary equity holders. The disclosure of the terms and conditions of such financial
instruments and other contracts is encouraged, if not otherwise required (see HKFRS
7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures).

If an entity discloses, in addition to basic and diluted earnings per share,
amounts per share using a reported component of the ireeme—statement
comprehensive _income of other than one required by this Standard, such
amounts shall be calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary
shares determined in accordance with this Standard. Basic and diluted amounts
per share relating to such a component shall be disclosed with equal prominence
and presented in the notes. An entity shall indicate the basis on which the
numerator(s) is (are) determined, including whether amounts per share are
before tax or after tax. If a component of the #nceme—statement of
comprehensive income is used that is not reported as a line item in the income
statement_of comprehensive income, a reconciliation shall be provided between
the component used and a line item that is reported in the ireeme-statement_of
comprehensive income.

Paragraph 73 applies also to an entity that discloses, in addition to basic and

diluted earnings per share, amounts per share using a reported component of
the separate income statement (as described in paragraph 81 of HKAS 1 (as
revised in 2007)), other than one required by this Standard.

Effective date

74

74Aa

74A

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2005. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the
Standard for a period beginning before 1 January 2005, it shall disclose that
fact.

If an entity decides to apply this Standard for an earlier period, it is not required
to apply all the HKASs with the same effective date for that same period.
However, it is required to apply the amendments set out in the appendix on
amendments to other pronouncements for that earlier period.

HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007) amended the terminology used throughout

HKFERSs. In addition it added paragraphs 4A, 67A, 68A and 73A. An entity
shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009. If an entity applies HKAS 1 (revised 2007) for an earlier period,
the amendments shall be applied for that earlier period.

Withdrawal of other pronouncements

75

76

This Standard supersedes SSAP 5 Earnings Per Share revised in 1998.

This Standard supersedes Interpretation 10 Earnings Per Share—Financial
Instruments and Other Contracts that May Be Settled in Shares.
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Appendix

Comparison with International Accounting Standards

This comparison appendix, which was prepared as at 9 March 2004 and deals only with
significant differences in the standards extant, is produced for information only and does not
form part of the standards in HKAS 33.

The International Accounting Standard comparable with HKAS 33 is IAS 33 Earnings Per
Share.

There are no major textual differences between HKAS 33 and IAS 33.
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Appendix A
Application guidance

This appendix is an integral part of the Standard.

Al

A2

A3

Profit or loss attributable to the parent entity

For the purpose of calculating earnings per share based on the consolidated financial
statements, profit or loss attributable to the parent entity refers to profit or loss of the
consolidated entity after adjusting for-minerity-interests non-controlling interests.

Rights issues

The issue of ordinary shares at the time of exercise or conversion of potential
ordinary shares does not usually give rise to a bonus element. This is because the
potential ordinary shares are usually issued for full value, resulting in a proportionate
change in the resources available to the entity. In a rights issue, however, the exercise
price is often less than the fair value of the shares. Therefore, as noted in paragraph
27(b), such a rights issue includes a bonus element. If a rights issue is offered to all
existing shareholders, the number of ordinary shares to be used in calculating basic
and diluted earnings per share for all periods before the rights issue is the number of
ordinary shares outstanding before the issue, multiplied by the following factor:

Fair value per share immediately before the exercise of rights

Theoretical ex-rights fair value per share

The theoretical ex-rights fair value per share is calculated by adding the aggregate
market value of the shares immediately before the exercise of the rights to the
proceeds from the exercise of the rights, and dividing by the number of shares
outstanding after the exercise of the rights. Where the rights are to be publicly traded
separately from the shares before the exercise date, fair value for the purposes of this
calculation is established at the close of the last day on which the shares are traded
together with the rights.

Control number

To illustrate the application of the control number notion described in paragraphs 42
and 43, assume that an entity has profit from continuing operations attributable to the
parent entity of CU4,800", a loss from discontinued operations attributable to the
parent entity of (CU7,200), a loss attributable to the parent entity of (CU2,400), and
2,000 ordinary shares and 400 potential ordinary shares outstanding. The entity’s
basic earnings per share is CU2.40 for continuing operations, (CU3.60) for
discontinued operations and (CU1.20) for the loss. The 400 potential ordinary shares
are included in the diluted earnings per share calculation because the resulting
CU2.00 earnings per share for continuing operations is dilutive, assuming no profit or

Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

In this guidance, monetary amounts are denominated in ‘currency units (CU)’.
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loss impact of those 400 potential ordinary shares. Because profit from continuing
operations attributable to the parent entity is the control number, the entity also
includes those 400 potential ordinary shares in the calculation of the other earnings
per share amounts, even though the resulting earnings per share amounts are
antidilutive to their comparable basic earnings per share amounts, ie the loss per
share is less [(CU3.00) per share for the loss from discontinued operations and
(CU1.00) per share for the loss].

Average market price of ordinary shares

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the average market price of
ordinary shares assumed to be issued is calculated on the basis of the average market
price of the ordinary shares during the period. Theoretically, every market transaction
for an entity’s ordinary shares could be included in the determination of the average
market price. As a practical matter, however, a simple average of weekly or monthly
prices is usually adequate.

Generally, closing market prices are adequate for calculating the average market
price. When prices fluctuate widely, however, an average of the high and low prices
usually produces a more representative price. The method used to calculate the
average market price is used consistently unless it is no longer representative because
of changed conditions. For example, an entity that uses closing market prices to
calculate the average market price for several years of relatively stable prices might
change to an average of high and low prices if prices start fluctuating greatly and the
closing market prices no longer produce a representative average price.

Options, warrants and their equivalents

Options or warrants to purchase convertible instruments are assumed to be exercised
to purchase the convertible instrument whenever the average prices of both the
convertible instrument and the ordinary shares obtainable upon conversion are above
the exercise price of the options or warrants. However, exercise is not assumed unless
conversion of similar outstanding convertible instruments, if any, is also assumed.

Options or warrants may permit or require the tendering of debt or other instruments
of the entity (or its parent or a subsidiary) in payment of all or a portion of the
exercise price. In the calculation of diluted earnings per share, those options or
warrants have a dilutive effect if (a) the average market price of the related ordinary
shares for the period exceeds the exercise price or (b) the selling price of the
instrument to be tendered is below that at which the instrument may be tendered
under the option or warrant agreement and the resulting discount establishes an
effective exercise price below the market price of the ordinary shares obtainable upon
exercise. In the calculation of diluted earnings per share, those options or warrants
are assumed to be exercised and the debt or other instruments are assumed to be
tendered. If tendering cash is more advantageous to the option or warrant holder and
the contract permits tendering cash, tendering of cash is assumed. Interest (net of tax)
on any debt assumed to be tendered is added back as an adjustment to the numerator.

Similar treatment is given to preference shares that have similar provisions or to other
instruments that have conversion options that permit the investor to pay cash for a
more favourable conversion rate.
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The underlying terms of certain options or warrants may require the proceeds
received from the exercise of those instruments to be applied to redeem debt or other
instruments of the entity (or its parent or a subsidiary). In the calculation of diluted
earnings per share, those options or warrants are assumed to be exercised and the
proceeds applied to purchase the debt at its average market price rather than to
purchase ordinary shares. However, the excess proceeds received from the assumed
exercise over the amount used for the assumed purchase of debt are considered (ie
assumed to be used to buy back ordinary shares) in the diluted earnings per share
calculation. Interest (net of tax) on any debt assumed to be purchased is added back
as an adjustment to the numerator.

Written put options

To illustrate the application of paragraph 63, assume that an entity has outstanding
120 written put options on its ordinary shares with an exercise price of CU35. The
average market price of its ordinary shares for the period is CU28. In calculating
diluted earnings per share, the entity assumes that it issued 150 shares at CU28 per
share at the beginning of the period to satisfy its put obligation of CU4,200. The
difference between the 150 ordinary shares issued and the 120 ordinary shares
received from satisfying the put option (30 incremental ordinary shares) is added to
the denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share.

Instruments of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates

Potential ordinary shares of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate convertible
into either ordinary shares of the subsidiary, joint venture or associate, or
ordinary shares of the parent, venturer or investor (the reporting entity) are
included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share as follows:

@) instruments issued by a subsidiary, joint venture or associate that enable
their holders to obtain ordinary shares of the subsidiary, joint venture or
associate are included in calculating the diluted earnings per share data of
the subsidiary, joint venture or associate. Those earnings per share are
then included in the reporting entity’s earnings per share calculations
based on the reporting entity’s holding of the instruments of the
subsidiary, joint venture or associate.

(b) instruments of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate that are convertible
into the reporting entity’s ordinary shares are considered among the
potential ordinary shares of the reporting entity for the purpose of
calculating diluted earnings per share. Likewise, options or warrants
issued by a subsidiary, joint venture or associate to purchase ordinary
shares of the reporting entity are considered among the potential ordinary
shares of the reporting entity in the calculation of consolidated diluted
earnings per share.

For the purpose of determining the earnings per share effect of instruments issued
by a reporting entity that are convertible into ordinary shares of a subsidiary, joint
venture or associate, the instruments are assumed to be converted and the
numerator (profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
entity) adjusted as necessary in accordance with paragraph 33. In addition to
those adjustments, the numerator is adjusted for any change in the profit or loss
recorded by the reporting entity (such as dividend income or equity method
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income) that is attributable to the increase in the number of ordinary shares of the
subsidiary, joint venture or associate outstanding as a result of the assumed
conversion. The denominator of the diluted earnings per share calculation is not
affected because the number of ordinary shares of the reporting entity outstanding
would not change upon assumed conversion.

Participating equity instruments and two-class ordinary shares
The equity of some entities includes:

@ instruments that participate in dividends with ordinary shares according to a
predetermined formula (for example, two for one) with, at times, an upper
limit on the extent of participation (for example, up to, but not beyond, a
specified amount per share).

(b) a class of ordinary shares with a different dividend rate from that of another
class of ordinary shares but without prior or senior rights.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, conversion is assumed for
those instruments described in paragraph A13 that are convertible into ordinary
shares if the effect is dilutive. For those instruments that are not convertible into a
class of ordinary shares, profit or loss for the period is allocated to the different
classes of shares and participating equity instruments in accordance with their
dividend rights or other rights to participate in undistributed earnings. To calculate
basic and diluted earnings per share:

@) profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity is
adjusted (a profit reduced and a loss increased) by the amount of dividends
declared in the period for each class of shares and by the contractual amount
of dividends (or interest on participating bonds) that must be paid for the
period (for example, unpaid cumulative dividends).

(b) the remaining profit or loss is allocated to ordinary shares and participating
equity instruments to the extent that each instrument shares in earnings as if
all of the profit or loss for the period had been distributed. The total profit or
loss allocated to each class of equity instrument is determined by adding
together the amount allocated for dividends and the amount allocated for a
participation feature.

(c) the total amount of profit or loss allocated to each class of equity instrument
is divided by the number of outstanding instruments to which the earnings
are allocated to determine the earnings per share for the instrument.

For the calculation of diluted earnings per share, all potential ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued are included in outstanding ordinary shares.

Partly paid shares

Where ordinary shares are issued but not fully paid, they are treated in the calculation
of basic earnings per share as a fraction of an ordinary share to the extent that they
were entitled to participate in dividends during the period relative to a fully paid
ordinary share.
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Al6  To the extent that partly paid shares are not entitled to participate in dividends during
the period they are treated as the equivalent of warrants or options in the calculation
of diluted earnings per share. The unpaid balance is assumed to represent proceeds
used to purchase ordinary shares. The number of shares included in diluted earnings
per share is the difference between the number of shares subscribed and the number
of shares assumed to be purchased.
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Appendix B

Amendments to other pronouncements
The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2005. If an entity applies this Standard for an earlier period, these amendments shall
be applied for that earlier period.

* % %

The amendments contained in this appendix when this Standard was issued have been
incorporated into the relevant Standards.
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Basis for Conclusions on
IAS 33 Earnings per Share

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, HKAS 33.

HKAS 33 is based on IAS 33 Earnings per Share. In approving HKAS 33, the Council of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants considered and agreed with the IASB’s
Basis for Conclusions on IAS 33 (as revised 2003). Accordingly, there are no significant
differences between HKAS 33 and IAS 33. The IASB’s Basis for Conclusions is reproduced
below for reference. The paragraph numbers of IAS 33 referred to below generally
correspond with those in HKAS 33.

Introduction

BC1 This Basis for Conclusions summarises the International Accounting Standards
Board’s considerations in reaching its conclusions on revising IAS 33 Earnings Per
Share in 2003. Individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to
others.

BC2 In July 2001 the Board announced that, as part of its initial agenda of technical
projects, it would undertake a project to improve a humber of Standards, including
IAS 33. The project was undertaken in the light of queries and criticisms raised in
relation to the Standards by securities regulators, professional accountants and other
interested parties. The objectives of the Improvements project were to reduce or
eliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts within Standards, to deal with some
convergence issues and to make other improvements. In May 2002 the Board
published its proposals in an Exposure Draft of Improvements to International
Accounting Standards, with a comment deadline of 16 September 2002. The Board
received over 160 comment letters on the Exposure Draft.

BC3  Because the Board’s intention was not to reconsider the fundamental approach to the
determination and presentation of earnings per share established by IAS 33, this
Basis for Conclusions does not discuss requirements in IAS 33 that the Board has not
reconsidered.

Presentation of parent’s separate earnings per share

BC4 The Exposure Draft published in May 2002 proposed deleting paragraphs 2 and 3
of the previous version of IAS 33, which stated that when the parent’s separate
financial statements and consolidated financial statements are presented, earnings
per share need be presented only on the basis of consolidated information.

BC5 Some respondents expressed concern that the presentation of two earnings per
share figures (one for the parent’s separate financial statements and one for the
consolidated financial statements) might be misleading.

BC6 The Board noted that disclosing the parent’s separate earnings per share amount
is useful in limited situations, and therefore decided to retain the option. However,
the Board decided that the Standard should prohibit presentation of the parent’s
separate earnings per share amounts in the consolidated financial statements
(either on the face of the financial statements or in the notes).
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Contracts that may be settled in ordinary shares or cash

BC7

BC8

BC9

The Exposure Draft proposed that an entity should include in the calculation of
the number of potential ordinary shares in the diluted earnings per share
calculation contracts that may be settled in ordinary shares or cash, at the issuer’s
option, based on a rebuttable presumption that the contracts will be settled in
shares. This proposed presumption could be rebutted if the issuer had acted
through an established pattern of past practice, published policies, or by having
made a sufficiently specific current statement indicating to other parties the
manner in which it expected to settle, and, as a result, the issuer had created a
valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it would settle in a manner
other than by issuing shares.

The majority of the respondents on the Exposure Draft agreed with the proposed
treatment of contracts that may be settled in ordinary shares or cash at the issuer’s
option. However, the Board decided to withdraw the notion of a rebuttable
presumption and to incorporate into the Standard the requirements of SIC-24
Earnings Per Share—Financial Instruments and Other Contracts that May Be
Settled in Shares. SIC-24 requires financial instruments or other contracts that
may result in the issue of ordinary shares of the entity to be considered potential
ordinary shares of the entity.

Although the proposed treatment would have converged with that required by
several liaison standard-setters, for example in US SFAS 128 Earnings per Share,
the Board concluded that the notion of a rebuttable presumption is inconsistent
with the stated objective of diluted earnings per share. The US Financial
Accounting Standards Board has agreed to consider this difference as part of the
joint short-term convergence project with the IASB.

Calculation of year-to-date diluted earnings per share

BC10 The Exposure Draft proposed the following approach to the year-to-date

calculation of diluted earnings per share:

€)) The number of potential ordinary shares is a year-to-date weighted
average of the number of potential ordinary shares included in each
interim diluted earnings per share calculation, rather than a year-to-date
weighted average of the number of potential ordinary shares weighted for
the period they were outstanding (ie without regard for the diluted
earnings per share information reported during the interim periods).

(b) The number of potential ordinary shares is computed using the average
market price during the interim periods, rather than using the average
market price during the year-to-date period.

(©) Contingently issuable shares are weighted for the interim periods in
which they were included in the computation of diluted earnings per share,
rather than being included in the computation of diluted earnings per
share (if the conditions are satisfied) from the beginning of the
year-to-date reporting period (or from the date of the contingent share
agreement, if later).
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BC12

BC13

BC14
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The majority of the respondents on the Exposure Draft disagreed with the
proposed approach to the year-to-date calculation of diluted earnings per share.
The most significant argument against the proposed approach was that the
proposed calculation of diluted earnings per share could result in an amount for
year-to-date diluted earnings per share that was different for entities that report
more frequently, for example, on a quarterly or half-yearly basis, and for entities
that report only annually. It was also noted that this problem would be
exacerbated for entities with seasonal businesses.

The Board considered whether to accept that differences in the frequency of
interim reporting would result in different earnings per share amounts being
reported. However, IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting states ‘the frequency of
an entity’s reporting (annual, half-yearly, or quarterly) should not affect the
measurement of its annual results. To achieve that objective, measurements for
interim reporting purposes should be made on a year-to-date basis.’

The Board also considered whether it could mandate the frequency of interim
reporting to ensure consistency between all entities preparing financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, ie those that are brought within the scope of IAS 33 by
virtue of issuing publicly traded instruments or because they elect to present
earnings per share. However, IAS 34 states that, ‘This Standard does not mandate
which entities should be required to publish interim financial reports, how
frequently, or how soon after the end of an interim period.” The frequency of
interim reporting is mandated by securities regulators, stock exchanges,
governments, and accountancy bodies, and varies by jurisdiction.

Although the proposed approach for the calculation of year-to-date diluted
earnings per share would have converged with US SFAS 128, the Board
concluded that the approach was inconsistent with 1AS 34 and that it could not
mandate the frequency of interim reporting. The US Financial Accounting
Standards Board has agreed to consider this difference as part of the joint
short-term convergence project with the IASB as well as the issue noted in
paragraph BC9.

Other changes

BC15

Implementation questions have arisen since the previous version of 1AS 33 was
issued, typically concerning the application of the Standard to complex capital
structures and arrangements. In response, the Board decided to provide additional
application guidance in the Appendix as well as illustrative examples on more
complex matters that were not addressed in the previous version of IAS 33. These
matters include the effects of contingently issuable shares, potential ordinary
shares of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates, participating equity
instruments, written put options, and purchased put and call options.
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Illustrative Examples

These examples accompany, but are not part of, IAS 33.

Contents

Example 1
Example 2
Example 3
Example 4

Example 5

Example 5A

Example 6
Example 7
Example 8

Example 9

Example 10

Example 11

Example 12
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Example 1 Increasing rate preference shares

Reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 12 and 15

Entity D issued non-convertible, non-redeemable class A cumulative preference shares of
CU100 par value on 1 January 20X1. The class A preference shares are entitled to a
cumulative annual dividend of CU7 per share starting in 20X4.

At the time of issue, the market rate dividend yield on the class A preference shares was 7
per cent a year. Thus, Entity D could have expected to receive proceeds of approximately
CU100 per class A preference share if the dividend rate of CU7 per share had been in
effect at the date of issue.

In consideration of the dividend payment terms, however, the class A preference shares
were issued at CU81.63 per share, ie at a discount of CU18.37 per share. The issue price
can be calculated by taking the present value of CU100, discounted at 7 per cent over a
three-year period.

Because the shares are classified as equity, the original issue discount is amortised to
retained earnings using the effective interest method and treated as a preference dividend
for earnings per share purposes. To calculate basic earnings per share, the following
imputed dividend per class A preference share is deducted to determine the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity:

Year Carrying Imputed Carrying amount of  Dividend paid
amount of class dividend®  class A preference
A preference shares 31
shares 1 January December®
CuU CuU CuU CuU
20X1 81.63 5.71 87.34 -
20X2 87.34 6.12 93.46 -
20X3 93.46 6.54 100.00 -
Thereafter: 100.00 7.00 107.00 (7.00)
@ At 7%.

® This is before dividend payment.

© Copyright 32



HKAS 33 (March 2004)

Example 2 Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 19-21

Shares Treasury Shares
issued shares®  outstanding
1 January 20X1 Balance at 2,000 300 1,700
beginning of year
31 May 20X1 Issue of new 800 - 2,500
shares for cash
1 December 20X1  Purchase of treasury - 250 2,250
shares for cash
31 December 20X1 Balance at year-end 2,800 550 2,250

Calculation of weighted average:

(1,700 x 5/12) + (2,500 x 6/12) + (2,250 x 1/12) = 2,146 shares or
(1,700 x 12/12) + (800 x 7/12) - (250 x 1/12) = 2,146 shares

@ Treasury shares are equity instruments reacquired and held by the issuing entity itself or by its
subsidiaries.
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Reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 26, 27(a) and 28

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent entity 20X0

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent entity 20X1

Ordinary shares outstanding until
30 September 20X1

Bonus issue 1 October 20X1

Basic earnings per share 20X1

CuU180

CuU600

200

2 ordinary shares for each
ordinary share outstanding at
30 September 20X1

200 x 2 =400

CuU600 = CU1.00

Basic earnings per share 20X0

(200 + 400)

Cu180 = CU0.30

(200 + 400)

Because the bonus issue was without consideration, it is treated as if it had occurred

before the beginning of 20X0, the earliest period presented.
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Example 4 Rights issue

Reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 26, 27(b) and A2

20X0 20X1 20X2
Profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent entity CU1,100 CU1,500 CU1,800
Shares outstanding before
rights issue 500 shares
Rights issue One new share for each five outstanding shares

(100 new shares total)
Exercise price: CU5.00
Date of rights issue: 1 January 20X1
Last date to exercise rights: 1 March 20X1

Market price of one ordinary
share immediately before
exercise on 1 March 20X1: CU11.00

Reporting date 31 December

Calculation of theoretical ex-rights value per share

Fair value of all outstanding shares before the exercise of rights + total amount received from exercise of rights
Number of shares outstanding before exercise + number of shares issued in the exercise

(CU11.00 x 500 shares) + (CU5.00 x 100 shares)
500 shares + 100 shares

Theoretical ex-rights value per share = CU10.00
Calculation of adjustment factor

Fair value per share before exercise of rights CU11.00 =1.10
Theoretical ex-rights value per share CU10.00
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Calculation of basic earnings per share

20X0
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20X1 20X2

20XO0 basic EPS as CU1,100+500 shares Cu2.20
originally reported:

20X0 basic EPS restated Cu1,100

for rights issue: (500 shares x 1.1) CuU2.00

20X1 basic EPS
including effects of CU1,500
rights issue: (500 x 1.1 x 2+12) + (600 x 10+12)

20X2 basic EPS: CU1,800+600 shares

Cu2.54

CU3.00

Example 5 Effects of share options on diluted earnings per share

Reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 45-47

Profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent entity for year 20X1

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during year 20X1

Average market price of one ordinary
share during year 20X1

Weighted average number of shares under
option during year 20X1

Exercise price for shares under option
during year 20X1
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Calculation of earnings per share
Earnings
Profit attributable to ordinary equity CU1,200,000
holders of the parent entity for

year 20X1

Weighted average shares
outstanding during year 20X1

Basic earnings per share

Weighted average number of shares
under option

Weighted average number of shares @
that would have been issued at
average market price:
(100,000 x CU15.00) +CU20.00

Diluted earnings per share CU1,200,000

HKAS 33 (December 2007)

Shares Per share
500,000
CuU2.40
100,000
(75,000)
525,000 CuU2.29

@ Earnings have not increased because the total number of shares has increased only by the number
of shares (25,000) deemed to have been issued for no consideration (see paragraph 46(b) of the

Standard).

Example 5A Determining the exercise price of employee share options

Weighted average number of unvested share options per
employee

Weighted average amount per employee to be recognised
over the remainder of the vesting period for employee
services to be rendered as consideration for the share options,
determined in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment

Cash exercise price of unvested share options

Calculation of adjusted exercise price
Fair value of services yet to be rendered per employee:

Fair value of services yet to be rendered per option:
(CU1,200 + 1,000)

Total exercise price of share options: (CU15.00 + CU1.20)
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Example 6 Convertible bonds”

Reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 33, 34, 36 and 49

Profit attribu_table to ordinary equity holders of the CU1,004
parent entity

Ordinary shares outstanding 1,000

Basic earnings per share CuU1l.00

Convertible bonds 100

Each block of 10 bonds is convertible into three
ordinary shares

Interest expense for the current year relating to the Cul10
liability component of the convertible bonds

Current and deferred tax relating to that interest Cu4
expense

Note: the interest expense includes amortisation of the discount arising on initial
recognition of the liability component (see 1AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation).

Adjusted profit attributable to ordinary equity CU1,004 + CU10 - CU4 = CU1,010
holders of the parent entity

Number of ordinary shares resulting from 30
conversion of bonds

Number of ordinary shares used to calculate 1,000 + 30 = 1,030
diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share CU1,010 =CU0.98
1,030

This example does not illustrate the classification of the components of convertible financial
instruments as liabilities and equity or the classification of related interest and dividends as
expenses and equity as required by 1AS 32.
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Example 7 - Contingently issuable shares

Reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 19, 24, 36, 37, 41-43 and 52

Ordinary shares outstanding during 20X1 1,000,000 (there were no options, warrants
or convertible instruments outstanding
during the period)

An agreement related to a recent business combination provides for the issue of
additional ordinary shares based on the following conditions:

5,000 additional ordinary shares for each
new retail site opened during 20X1

1,000 additional ordinary shares for each
CU1,000 of consolidated profit in excess
of CU2,000,000 for the year ended 31
December 20X1

Retail sites opened during the year: one on 1 May 20X1
one on 1 September 20X1
Consolidated year-to-date profit attributable CU1,100,000 as of 31 March 20X1
to ordinary equity holders of the parent
entity:
CU2,300,000 as of 30 June 20X1
CU1,900,000 as of 30 September 20X1
(including a CU450,000 loss from a
discontinued operation)

CU2,900,000 as of 31 December 20X1
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Basic earnings per share

First Second Third Fourth
quarter quarter quarter quarter  Full year
Numerator (CU) 1,100,000 1,200,000 (400,000) 1,000,000 2,900,000
Denominator:
Ordinary shares 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
outstanding
Retail site - 3,333" 6,667 ° 10,000 5,000 *
contingency
Earnings - -
contingency ©
Total shares 1,000,000 1,003,333 1,006,667 1,010,000 1,005,000
Basic earnings per
share (CU) 1.10 1.20 (0.40) 0.99 2.89

@
(b)
©
(d)

5,000 shares x 2/3

5,000 shares + (5,000 shares x 1/3)

(5,000 shares x 8/12) + (5,000 shares x 4/12)

The earnings contingency has no effect on basic earnings per share because it is not
certain that the condition is satisfied until the end of the contingency period. The
effect is negligible for the fourth-quarter and full-year calculations because it is not
certain that the condition is met until the last day of the period.
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Diluted earnings per share

First Second Third Fourth
quarter quarter quarter quarter Full year

Numerator (CU) 1,100,000 1,200,000 (400,000) 1,000,000 2,900,000
Denominator:

Ordinary shares 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
outstanding

Retail site -- 5,000 10,000 10,000 10,000
contingency

Earnings @ ®) © @ @
contingency -- 300,000 -- 900,000 900,000
Total shares 1,000,000 1,305,000 1,010,000 1,910,000 1,910,000

Diluted earnings
©
per share (CU) 1.10 0.92 (0.40) 0.52 1.52

@ Company A does not have year-to-date profit exceeding CU2,000,000 at 31 March
20X1. The Standard does not permit projecting future earnings levels and including
the related contingent shares.

® [(CU2,300,000 - CU2,000,000) + 1,000] x 1,000 shares = 300,000 shares.

© Year-to-date profit is less than CU2,000,000.

@ [(CU2,900,000 - CU2,000,000) + 1,000] x 1,000 shares = 900,000 shares.

© Because the loss during the third quarter is attributable to a loss from a discontinued
operation, the antidilution rules do not apply. The control number (ie profit or loss
from continuing operations attributable to the equity holders of the parent entity) is

positive. Accordingly, the effect of potential ordinary shares is included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share.
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Example 8 Convertible bonds settled in shares or cash at the issuer’s option

Reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 31-33, 36, 58 and 59

An entity issues 2,000 convertible bonds at the beginning of Year 1. The bonds have a
three-year term, and are issued at par with a face value of CU1,000 per bond, giving total
proceeds of CU2,000,000. Interest is payable annually in arrears at a nominal annual
interest rate of 6 per cent. Each bond is convertible at any time up to maturity into 250
ordinary shares. The entity has an option to settle the principal amount of the convertible
bonds in ordinary shares or in cash.

When the bonds are issued, the prevailing market interest rate for similar debt without a
conversion option is 9 per cent. At the issue date, the market price of one ordinary share
is CU3. Income tax is ignored.

Profit attributable to ordinary equity CU1,000,000
holders of the parent entity Year 1

Ordinary shares outstanding 1,200,000

Convertible bonds outstanding 2,000

Allocation of proceeds of bond issue:

*

Liability component CuU1,848,122
Equity component CU151,878
CU2,000,000

The liability and equity components would be determined in accordance with IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation. These amounts are recognised as the initial carrying
amounts of the liability and equity components. The amount assigned to the issuer
conversion option equity element is an addition to equity and is not adjusted.

Basic earnings per share Year 1:

CU1,000,000 = CUO0.83 per ordinary share
1,200,000

This represents the present value of the principal and interest discounted at 9% - CU2,000,000
payable at the end of three years; CU120,000 payable annually in arrears for three years.
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Diluted earnings per share Year 1:

It is presumed that the issuer will settle the contract by the issue of ordinary shares. The
dilutive effect is therefore calculated in accordance with paragraph 59 of the Standard.

CU1,000,000 + CU166,331® = CUO0.69 per ordinary share
1,200,000 + 500,000®

@ Profit is adjusted for the accretion of CU166,331 (CU1,848,122 x 9%) of the liability
because of the passage of time.
® 500,000 ordinary shares = 250 ordinary shares x 2000 convertible bonds
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Example 9 Calculation of weighted average number of shares: determining the
order in which to include dilutive instruments”

Primary reference: 1AS 33, paragraph 44

Secondary reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 10, 12, 19, 31-33, 36, 41-47, 49 and 50

Earnings Cu

Profit from continuing operations 16,400,000
attributable to the parent entity

Less dividends on preference shares (6,400,000)

Profit from continuing operations attributable to 10,000,000
ordinary equity holders of the parent entity

Loss from discontinued operations (4,000,000)
attributable to the parent entity

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of 6,000,000
the parent entity

Ordinary shares outstanding 2,000,000

Average market price of one ordinary share during year CU75.00

Potential Ordinary Shares
Options 100,000 with exercise price of CU60

Convertible preference shares 800,000 shares with a par value of CU100 entitled to a
cumulative dividend of CU8 per share. Each preference
share is convertible to two ordinary shares.

5% convertible bonds Nominal amount CU100,000,000. Each CU1,000 bond is
convertible to 20 ordinary shares. There is no
amortisation of premium or discount affecting the
determination of interest expense.

Tax rate 40%

This example does not illustrate the classification of the components of convertible financial
instruments as liabilities and equity or the classification of related interest and dividends as
expenses and equity as required by IAS 32.
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Increase in earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders on conversion of

potential ordinary shares

Options

Increase in earnings

Incremental shares 100,000 x
issued for no (CU75-CU60)
consideration +CU75

Convertible preference shares

Increase in profit CU800,000 x 100
x0.08
Incremental shares 2 x 800,000

5% convertible bonds

Increase in profit CU100,000,000
x 0.05
X (1-0.40)

Incremental shares 100,000 x 20

Increase
in
earnings

Cu

Nil

6,400,000

3,000,000

Increase in
number of
ordinary
shares

20,000

1,600,000

2,000,000

The order in which to include the dilutive instruments is therefore:

1 Options
2 5% convertible bonds
3 Convertible preference shares
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Calculation of diluted earnings per share

As reported
Options

5% convertible
bonds

Convertible
preference
shares

Profit from continuing

operations
attributable to
ordinary equity

holders of the parent

entity (control Ordinary
number) shares

Ccu
10,000,000 2,000,000
-- 20,000
10,000,000 2,020,000
3,000,000 2,000,000
13,000,000 4,020,000
6,400,000 1,600,000
19,400,000 5,620,000

HKAS 33 (March 2004)

Per
share

5.00

4,95 Dilutive

3.23 Dilutive

3.45 Antidilutive

Because diluted earnings per share is increased when taking the convertible preference
shares into account (from CU3.23 to CU3.45), the convertible preference shares are
antidilutive and are ignored in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. Therefore,
diluted earnings per share for profit from continuing operations is CU3.23:

Profit from continuing operations

attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent entity

Loss from discontinued operations

attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent entity

Profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent entity

@ (CU4,000,000) + 2,000,000 = (CU2.00)
(v (CU4,000,000)= 4,020,000 = (CU0.99)

(¢ CU6,000,000 + 2,000,000 = CU3.00
@ (CU6,000,000 + CU3,000,000) + 4,020,000 = CU2.24
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Example 10 Instruments of a subsidiary: calculation of basic and diluted earnings

per share”

Reference: 1AS 33, paragraphs 40, A1l and A12

Parent:

Profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent entity

Ordinary shares outstanding

Instruments of subsidiary owned
by the parent

Subsidiary:
Profit
Ordinary shares outstanding

Warrants

Exercise price

Average market price of one
ordinary share

Convertible preference shares

Dividends on preference shares

CU12,000 (excluding any earnings of, or
dividends paid by, the subsidiary)

10,000
800 ordinary shares
30 warrants exercisable to purchase

ordinary shares of subsidiary
300 convertible preference shares

CU5,400
1,000

150, exercisable to purchase ordinary shares
of the subsidiary

CuU10
Cu20
400, each convertible into one ordinary
share

CUL per share

No inter-company eliminations or adjustments were necessary except for dividends. For
the purposes of this illustration, income taxes have been ignored.

This example does not illustrate the classification of the components of convertible financial
instruments as liabilities and equity or the classification of related interest and dividends as

expenses and equity as required by 1AS 32.
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Subsidiary’s earnings per share

Basic EPS CU5.00 calculated: CU5,400% - cu400®
1,000©
Diluted EPS CU3.66 calculated: CU5,400@

(1,000 + 75@ + 400)
@ Subsidiary’s profit attributable to ordinary equity holders.
®) Dividends paid by subsidiary on convertible preference shares.
© Subsidiary’s ordinary shares outstanding.

@ Subsidiary’s profit attributable to ordinary equity holders (CUS5,000) increased by
CU400 preference dividends for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share.

© Incremental shares from warrants, calculated: [(CU20 - CU10) + CU20] x 150.

 Subsidiary’s ordinary shares assumed outstanding from conversion of convertible
preference shares, calculated: 400 convertible preference shares x conversion factor
of 1.

Consolidated earnings per share

Basic EPS CU1.63 calculated: CU12,000® + CU4,300®
10,000©
Diluted EPS CU1.61 calculated: CU12,000 + CU2,9289 + CU55® + CU1,098%"
10,000

@ Parent’s profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity.

() Portion of subsidiary’s profit to be included in consolidated basic earnings per share,
calculated: (800 x CU5.00) + (300 x CU1.00).

(© Parent’s ordinary shares outstanding.

@ Parent’s proportionate interest in subsidiary’s earnings attributable to ordinary shares,
calculated: (800 + 1,000) x (1,000 shares x CU3.66 per share).

) Parent’s proportionate interest in subsidiary’s earnings attributable to warrants,
calculated: (30 + 150) x (75 incremental shares x CU3.66 per share).

n Parent’s proportionate interest in subsidiary’s earnings attributable to convertible

preference shares, calculated: (300 + 400) x (400 shares from conversion x CU3.66
per share).
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Example 11 Participating equity instruments and two-class ordinary shares”

Reference: IAS 33, paragraphs A13 and Al4

Profit attributable to equity CU100,000
holders of the parent entity

Ordinary shares outstanding 10,000

Non-convertible preference 6,000

shares

Non-cumulative annual dividend CU5.50 per share

on preference shares (before any
dividend is paid on ordinary
shares)

After ordinary shares have been paid a dividend of CU2.10 per share, the preference
shares participate in any additional dividends on a 20:80 ratio with ordinary shares (ie
after preference and ordinary shares have been paid dividends of CU5.50 and CU2.10 per
share, respectively, preference shares participate in any additional dividends at a rate of
one-fourth of the amount paid to ordinary shares on a per-share basis).

Dividends on preference shares paid CU33,000 (CU5.50 per share)
Dividends on ordinary shares paid CU21,000 (CU2.10 per share)

This example does not illustrate the classification of the components of convertible financial
instruments as liabilities and equity or the classification of related interest and dividends as
expenses and equity as required by IAS 32.
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Basic earnings per share is calculated as follows:

CU
Profit attributable to equity holders
of the parent entity
Less dividends paid:
Preference 33,000
Ordinary 21,000

Undistributed earnings

Allocation of undistributed earnings:
Allocation per ordinary share = A
Allocation per preference share =B; B =1/4 A
(A x 10,000) + (1/4 x A x 6,000) = CU46,000
A = CU46,000+ (10,000 + 1,500)
A =CU4.00
B=1/4A
B = CU1.00

Basic per share amounts:

Preference

shares

Distributed earnings CU5.50
Undistributed earnings CU1.00
Totals CU6.50
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100,000

(54,000)

46,000

Ordinary
Shares

CuU2.10

CuU4.00

CU6.10
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Example 12 Caleulation-ef Basic-and-DHuted-Earningsper-Share-and-thcome
Statement—%esent&ﬁen—é@emp#ehena#e—é@ample}Calculatlon and presentation of

basic and diluted earnings per share (comprehensive example)”

This example illustrates the quarterly and annual calculations of basic and diluted
earnings per share in the year 20X1 for Company A, which has a complex capital
structure. The control number is profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to
the parent entity. Other facts assumed are as follows:

Average market price of ordinary shares: The average market prices of ordinary
shares for the calendar year 20X1 were as follows:

First quarter Cu49
Second quarter CuU60
Third quarter cue7
Fourth quarter Cue67

The average market price of ordinary shares from 1 July to 1 September 20X1 was CUG5.

Ordinary shares: The number of ordinary shares outstanding at the beginning of 20X1
was 5,000,000. On 1 March 20X1, 200,000 ordinary shares were issued for cash.

Convertible bonds: In the last quarter of 20X0, 5 per cent convertible bonds with a
principal amount of CU12,000,000 due in 20 years were sold for cash at CU1,000 (par).
Interest is payable twice a year, on 1 November and 1 May. Each CU1,000 bond is
convertible into 40 ordinary shares. No bonds were converted in 20X0. The entire issue
was converted on 1 April 20X1 because the issue was called by Company A.

Convertible preference shares: In the second quarter of 20X0, 800,000 convertible
preference shares were issued for assets in a purchase transaction. The quarterly dividend
on each convertible preference share is CUQ.05, payable at the end of the quarter for
shares outstanding at that date. Each share is convertible into one ordinary share. Holders
of 600,000 convertible preference shares converted their preference shares into ordinary
shares on 1 June 20X1.

Warrants: Warrants to buy 600,000 ordinary shares at CU55 per share for a period of
five years were issued on 1 January 20X1. All outstanding warrants were exercised on 1
September 20X1.

Options: Options to buy 1,500,000 ordinary shares at CU75 per share for a period of 10
years were issued on 1 July 20X1. No options were exercised during 20X1 because the
exercise price of the options exceeded the market price of the ordinary shares.

Tax rate: The tax rate was 40 per cent for 20X1.

This example does not illustrate the classification of the components of convertible financial
instruments as liabilities and equity or the classification of related interest and dividends as
expenses and equity as required by IAS 32
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20X1 Profit (loss) from continuing Profit (loss)
operations attributable to attributable to the
the parent entity® parent entity
CU CU
First quarter 5,000,000 5,000,000
Second quarter 6,500,000 6,500,000
Third quarter 1,000,000 (1,000,000) ®)
Fourth quarter (700,000) (700,000)
Full year 11,800,000 9,800,000

@ This is the control number (before adjusting for preference dividends).
® Company A had a CU2,000,000 loss (net of tax) from discontinuing operations in the
third quarter.

First Quarter 20X1

Basic EPS calculation CuU
Profit from continuing operations 5,000,000
attributable to the parent entity

Less: preference shares dividends 40,000)@
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 4,960,000

entity _
Dates Shares Fraction Weighted-

outstanding of period average shares

1 January - 28 February 5,000,000 213 3,333,333
Issue of ordinary shares 200,000

on 1 March
1 March - 31 March 5,200,000 1/3 1,733,333
Weighted-average shares 5,066,666
Basic EPS Cu0.98

@ 800,000 shares x CU0.05
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Diluted EPS calculation

Profit attributable to ordinary equity CU4,960,000
holders of the parent entity

Plus: profit impact of assumed conversions

Preference share dividends CU40,000®
Interest on 5% convertible bonds CU90,000©
Effect of assumed conversions CU130,000

Profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent
entity including assumed
conversions CU5,090,000

Weighted-average shares 5,066,666

Plus: incremental shares from assumed
conversions

Warrants (0

Convertible preference shares 800,000

5% convertible bonds 480,000
Dilutive potential ordinary shares 1,280,000
Adjusted weighted-average shares 6,346,666
Diluted EPS CU0.80

® 800,000 shares x CU0.05

© (CU12,000,000 x 5%) =+ 4; less taxes at 40%

@ The warrants were not assumed to be exercised because they were antidilutive in the
period (CU55 [exercise price] > CU49 [average price])
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Basic EPS calculation

Profit from continuing operations
attributable to the parent entity

Less: preference shares dividends

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the

parent entity
Dates Shares
outstanding
1 April 5,200,000
Conversion of 5% bonds 480,000
on 1 April
1 April-31 May 5,680,000
Conversion of 600,000
preference shares on
1 June
1 June-30 June 6,280,000

Weighted-average shares

Basic EPS

@ 200,000 shares x CU0.05
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Fraction
of period

2/3

1/3

CuU

CU6,500,000

(CU10,000)®

CU6,490,000

Weighted-
average shares

3,786,666

2,093,333

5,880,000

CuUl.10




Diluted EPS calculation

Profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent
entity

Plus: profit impact of assumed
conversions
Preference share dividends
Effect of assumed conversions
Profit attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the
parent entity including assumed
conversions

Weighted-average shares

Plus: incremental shares from
assumed conversions

Warrants
Convertible preference shares

Dilutive potential ordinary shares
Adjusted weighted-average shares

Diluted EPS

®) 200,000 shares x CU0.05

CU10,000 ®

50,000©
600,000 @

HKAS 33 (March 2004)

CU6,490,000

CU10,000

CU6,500,000

5,880,000

650,000

6,530,000

CU1.00

© CU55x 600,000 = CU33,000,000; CU33,000,000 + CU60 = 550,000;

600,000 — 550,000 = 50,000 shares

OR [(CU60 - CU55) + CUB0] x 600,000 shares = 50,000 shares
@ (800,000 shares x 2/3) + (200,000 shares x 1/3)
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Third Quarter 20X1
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Basic EPS calculation

Profit from continuing operations
attributable to the parent entity

Less: preference shares dividends

Profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary

equity holders of the parent entity

Loss from discontinued operations attributable
to the parent entity

Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent entity

Dates Shares
outstanding

1 July-31 August 6,280,000

Exercise of warrants 600,000
on 1 September

1 September—30 6,880,000
September

Weighted-average
shares

Basic EPS
Profit from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations
Loss
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Fraction
of period

2/3

1/3

cU
1,000,000

(10,000)

990,000

(2,000,000)

(1,010,000)

Weighted-
Average shares

4,186,666

2,293,333

6,480,000

CU0.15
(CU0.31)

(CU0.16)




Diluted EPS calculation

Profit from continuing operations

attributable to ordinary equity holders

of the parent entity

Plus: profit impact of assumed conversions

Preference shares dividends

Effect of assumed conversions

Profit from continuing operations
attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent entity including assumed
conversions

Loss from discontinued operations
attributable to the parent entity
Loss attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the
parent entity including assumed
conversions

Weighted-average shares

Plus: incremental shares from
assumed conversions

Warrants

Convertible preference shares
Dilutive potential ordinary shares
Adjusted weighted-average shares

Diluted EPS

Profit from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Loss

HKAS 33 (March 2004)

CU990,000

CU10,000

CU10,000

CU1,000,000

(CU2,000,000)

(CU1,000,000)

6,480,000

61,538 @
200,000

261,538

6,741,538

Cu0.15
(CU0.30)

(CU0.15)

@ [(CUBS5 - CU55) + CUGS5] x 600,000 = 92,308 shares; 92,308 x 2/3 = 61,538 shares

Note:

The incremental shares from assumed conversions are included in calculating the

diluted per-share amounts for the loss from discontinued operations and loss even
though they are antidilutive. This is because the control number (profit from
continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity,
adjusted for preference dividends) was positive (ie profit, rather than loss).
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Fourth Quarter 20X1

Basic EPS calculation CuU

Loss from continuing operations (700,000)
attributable to the parent entity

Add: preference shares dividends (10,000)
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the

parent entity (710,000)

Dates Shares Fraction Weighted-

outstanding of period average shares

1 October—31 December 6,880,000 3/3 6,880,000

Weighted-average shares 6,880,000

Basic and diluted EPS

Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent entity (CU0.10)

Note: The incremental shares from assumed conversions are not included in calculating
the diluted per-share amounts because the control number (loss from continuing
operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity adjusted for
preference dividends) was negative (ie a loss, rather than profit).
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Basic EPS calculation

Profit from continuing operations
attributable to the parent entity

Less: preference shares dividends

Profit from continuing operations

attributable to ordinary equity holders of

the parent entity

Loss from discontinuing operations
attributable to the parent entity

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders

of the parent entity

Dates

1 January-28 February

Issue of ordinary shares
on 1 March

1 March-31 March

Conversion of 5% bonds
on 1 April

1 April-31 May

Conversion of
preference shares on
1 June

1 June—31 August

Exercise of warrants on
1 September

1 September—31December

Weighted-average shares

Basic EPS

Shares
outstanding

5,000,000

200,000

5,200,000

480,000

5,680,000

600,000

6,280,000

600,000

6,880,000

Profit from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations

Profit
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11,800,000

(70,000)

11,730,000

(2,000,000)

9,730,000

Fraction Weighted-
of period average shares

2/12 833,333

1/12 433,333

2/12 946,667

3/12 1,570,000

4/12 2,293,333

6,076,667

CU1.93
(CU0.33)

CU1.60
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Diluted EPS calculation

Profit from continuing operations

attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent entity CU11,730,000

Plus: profit impact of assumed

conversions

Preference share dividends Cu70,000
Interest on 5% convertible bonds CU90,000 @
Effect of assumed conversions CuU160,000

Profit from continuing operations

attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent entity including assumed
conversions

CU11,890,000

Loss from discontinued operations

attributable to the parent entity (CU2,000,000)

Profit attributable to ordinary equity

holders of the parent entity including
assumed conversions CU9,890,000

Weighted-average shares 6,076,667

Plus: incremental shares from

assumed conversions

Warrants 14,880

Convertible preference shares 450,000

5% convertible bonds 120,000
Dilutive potential ordinary shares 584,880
Adjusted weighted-average shares 6,661,547
Diluted EPS
Profit from continuing operations CU1.78
Loss from discontinued operations (CU0.30)
Profit CuUl1.48

@
(b)

©
()

(CU12,000,000 x 5%) + 4; less taxes at 40%

[(CU57.125* — CU55) + CU57.125] x 600,000 = 22,320 shares;
22,320 x 8/12 = 14,880 shares

* The average market price from 1 January 20X1 to 1 September 20X1
(800,000 shares x 5/12) + (200,000 shares x 7/12)

480,000 shares x 3/12
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The following illustrates how Company A might present its earnings per share data-en-is
income-statement_in its statement of comprehensive income. Note that the amounts per
share for the loss from discontinuing operations are not required to be presented-en-the
face-of the-income-statement in the statement of comprehensive income.

For the year

ended 20X1
(CU)

Earnings per ordinary share
Profit from continuing operations 1.93
Loss from discontinued operations 0.33
Profit 1.60
Diluted earnings per ordinary share
Profit from continuing operations 1.78
Loss from discontinued operations 0.30
Profit 1.48

The following table includes the quarterly and annual earnings per share data for
Company A. The purpose of this table is to illustrate that the sum of the four quarters’
earnings per share data will not necessarily equal the annual earnings per share data. The
Standard does not require disclosure of this information.

First Second Third Fourth Full
quarter  quarter quarter quarter year
CyU CyU CU CyU CU
Basic EPS
Profit (loss) from 0.98 1.10 0.15 (0.10) 1.93
continuing
operations
Loss from discontinued - - (0.31) - (0.33)
operations
Profit (loss) 0.98 1.10 (0.16) (0.10) 1.60
Diluted EPS
Profit (loss) from 0.80 1.00 0.15 (0.10) 1.78
continuing
operations
Loss from discontinued - - (0.30) -- (0.30)
operations
Profit (loss) 0.80 1.00 (0.15) (0.10) 1.48
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Table of Concordance

This table shows how the contents of the superseded SSAP 5 and the current HKAS 33
correspond. Paragraphs are treated as corresponding if they broadly address the same matter
even though the guidance may differ.
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the current HKAS 33.
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1 2 20 27
2 4 21 28
3 None 22 A2
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5 3 following Examples 3 and
6 5,8 paragraph 22 4
7 6 23 31
8 7 24 32
9 10 25 33
10 12 26 34
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13 19 paragraph 26
14 20 27 35
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following Example 2 29 39
paragraph 14 30 52
15 21 31 40
16 22 32 45
17 Al5 33 45, Ad
18 24, 25 34 46
35 None
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following Example 5
paragraph 34
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Introduction

IN1

This Standard (HKAS 34) addresses interim financial reporting. HKAS 34 is effective for

IN2

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005.

An interim financial report is a financial report that contains either a complete or condensed set

IN3

of financial statements for a period shorter than an entity’s full financial year.

This Standard does not mandate which entities should publish interim financial reports, how

IN4

frequently, or how soon after the end of an interim period. This Standard applies if a company
is required or elects to publish an interim financial report in accordance with Standards.

This Standard:

INS

(a) defines the minimum content of an interim financial report, including disclosures; and

(b) identifies the accounting recognition and measurement principles that should be
applied in an interim financial report.

The minimum content of an interim financial report is a condensed statement of financial

ING

position, a condensed statement of comprehensive income, a condensed statement of cash
flows, a condensed statement of changes in equity, and selected explanatory notes. If an entity
presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement as described in
paragraph 81 of HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (as revised in 2007), it presents
interim condensed information from that separate statement.

On the presumption that anyone who reads an entity’s interim report will also have access to its

IN7

most recent annual report, virtually none of the notes to the annual financial statements are
repeated or updated in the interim report. Instead, the interim notes include primarily an
explanation of the events and changes that are significant to an understanding of the changes
in financial position and performance of the entity since the end of the last annual reporting

period.

An entity should apply the same accounting policies in its interim financial report as are applied

IN8

in_its annual financial statements, except for accounting policy changes made after the date of
the most recent annual financial statements that are to be reflected in the next annual financial
statements. The frequency of an entity’s reporting—annual, half-yearly, or quarterly—should
not affect the measurement of its annual results. To achieve that objective, measurements for
interim reporting purposes are made on a year-to-date basis.

An_appendix to this Standard provides quidance for applying the basic recognition and

IN9

measurement principles at interim dates to various types of asset, liability, income, and
expense. Income tax expense for an interim period is based on an estimated average annual
effective income tax rate, consistent with the annual assessment of taxes.

In_deciding how to recognise, classify, or disclose an item for interim financial reporting

purposes, materiality is to be assessed in relation to the interim period financial data, not
forecast annual data.
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 34
Interim Financial Reporting

Objective

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the minimum content of an interim financial report and to
prescribe the principles for recognition and measurement in complete or condensed financial statements
for an interim period. Timely and reliable interim financial reporting improves the ability of investors,
creditors, and others to understand an entity’s capacity to generate earnings and cash flows and its
financial condition and liquidity.

Scope

1 This Standard does not mandate which entities should be required to publish interim financial
reports, how frequently, or how soon after the end of an interim period. However, governments,
securities regulators, stock exchanges, and accountancy bodies often require entities whose
debt or equity securities are publicly traded to publish interim financial reports. This Standard
applies if an entity is required or elects to publish an interim financial report in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards_(HKFRSs). The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants encourages publicly traded entities to provide interim financial reports that
conform to the recognition, measurement, and disclosure principles set out in this Standard.
Specifically, publicly traded entities are encouraged:

@) to provide interim financial reports at least as of the end of the first half of their
financial year; and

(b) to make their interim financial reports available not later than 60 days after the end of
the interim period.

2 Each financial report, annual or interim, is evaluated on its own for conformity to-Herg-Keng

Financial-Reporting-Standards HKFRSs. The fact that an entity may not have provided interim

financial reports during a particular financial year or may have provided interim financial reports
that do not comply with this Standard does not prevent the entity’s annual financial statements

from conforming to Heng-Keng-FinancialReperting-Standards-HKERS:s if they otherwise do so.

3 If an entity’s interim financial report is described as complying with—Heng—Keng—Financial
Repeorting-Standards_HKFRSs, it must comply with all of the requirements of this Standard.
Paragraph 19 requires certain disclosures in that regard.

Definitions

4 The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:
Interim period is a financial reporting period shorter than a full financial year.

Interim financial report means a financial report containing either a complete set of
financial statements (as described in HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements_(as
revised in_2007)) or a set of condensed financial statements (as described in this
Standard) for an interim period.

Content of an interim financial report

5 HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007) defines a complete set of financial statements as including the
following components:

(@ a-balance-sheeta statement of financial position as at the end of the period;

(b) an-income-statementa statement of comprehensive income for the period;

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period;shewing-either:
i | . ity
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(d) a cash-flow-statement_of cash flows for the period;-and

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
netes—information; and

(f) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
when an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective
restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its
financial statements.

In the interest of timeliness and cost considerations and to avoid repetition of information
previously reported, an entity may be required to or may elect to provide less information at
interim dates as compared with its annual financial statements. This Standard defines the
minimum content of an interim financial report as including condensed financial statements and
selected explanatory notes. The interim financial report is intended to provide an update on the
latest complete set of annual financial statements. Accordingly, it focuses on new activities,
events, and circumstances and does not duplicate information previously reported.

Nothing in this Standard is intended to prohibit or discourage an entity from publishing a
complete set of financial statements (as described in HKAS 1) in its interim financial report,
rather than condensed financial statements and selected explanatory notes. Nor does this
Standard prohibit or discourage an entity from including in condensed interim financial
statements more than the minimum line items or selected explanatory notes as set out in this
Standard. The recognition and measurement guidance in this Standard applies also to
complete financial statements for an interim period, and such statements would include all of
the disclosures required by this Standard (particularly the selected note disclosures in
paragraph 16) as well as those required by other-Standards HKFRSs.

Minimum components of an interim financial report
An interim financial report shall include, at a minimum, the following components:

@) a condensed-balance-sheet statement of financial position;

(b) a condensed income-statement_of comprehensive income, presented as either::

(i) a condensed single statement; or

(ii) a condensed separate income statement and a condensed statement of
comprehensive income;

(c) a condensed statement of changes in equityshewing—either(i)}al-changes—in

eguity—or—{(i—changes—in—equity—otherthan—those—arising—from—capital
X » | distributi ;

(d) a condensed eash-flew-statement_of cash flows; and
(e) selected explanatory notes.

If an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement as

10

described in paragraph 81 of HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007), it presents interim condensed
information from that separate statement.

Form and content of interim financial statements

If an entity publishes a complete set of financial statements in its interim financial report,
the form and content of those statements shall conform to the requirements of HKAS 1
for a complete set of financial statements.

If an entity publishes a set of condensed financial statements in its interim financial
report, those condensed statements shall include, at a minimum, each of the headings
and subtotals that were included in its most recent annual financial statements and the
selected explanatory notes as required by this Standard. Additional line items or notes
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shall be included if their omission would make the condensed interim financial
statements misleading.

In the statement that presents the components of profit or loss for an interim period, an

entity shall present Bbasic and diluted earnings per share shall-bepresented-en-theface
j ; for an—interim that period_when the

1 I *
entity is within the scope of HKAS 33 Earnings per share.-

If an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement as

12

13

14

15

16

described in paragraph 81 of HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007), it presents basic and diluted
earnings per share in that separate statement.

HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007) provides guidance on the structure of financial statements. The
Implementation Guidance for HKAS 1 illustrates ways in which the statement of financial
position, statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity may be
presented.

An interim financial report is prepared on a consolidated basis if the entity’s most recent annual
financial statements were consolidated statements. The parent's separate financial statements
are not consistent or comparable with the consolidated statements in the most recent annual
financial report. If an entity’s annual financial report included the parent's separate financial
statements in addition to consolidated financial statements, this Standard neither requires nor
prohibits the inclusion of the parent's separate firaneial—statements in the entity’s interim
financial report.

Selected explanatory notes

A user of an entity’s interim financial report will also have access to the most recent annual
financial report of that entity. It is unnecessary, therefore, for the notes to an interim financial
report to provide relatively insignificant updates to the information that was already reported in
the notes in the most recent annual report. At an interim date, an explanation of events and
transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and
performance of the entity since the end of the last annual reporting period is more useful.

An entity shall include the following information, as a minimum, in the notes to its
interim financial statements, if material and if not disclosed elsewhere in the interim
financial report. The information shall normally be reported on a financial year-to-date
basis. However, the entity shall also disclose any events or transactions that are
material to an understanding of the current interim period:

(@) a statement that the same accounting policies and methods of computation are
followed in the interim financial statements as compared with the most recent
annual financial statements or, if those policies or methods have been changed,
a description of the nature and effect of the change;

(b) explanatory comments about the seasonality or cyclicality of interim operations;

(c) the nature and amount of items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income,
or cash flows that are unusual because of their nature, size, or incidence;

(d) the nature and amount of changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior
interim periods of the current financial year or changes in estimates of amounts
reported in prior financial years, if those changes have a material effect in the
current interim period,;

(e) issuances, repurchases, and repayments of debt and equity securities;

This paragraph was amended by Improvements to HKFRSs issued in October 2008 to clarify the scope of HKAS

34.

© Copyright 7
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HKAS 34 (Oetober2004March 2010)

dividends paid (aggregate or per share) separately for ordinary shares and
other shares;

the foIIowmg segment Fevenue—and—segmepn—msm{—te{—basmess—segmems—e%

Fepemﬂg—lnformatlon (dlsclosure of segment da%a—lnformatlon is requlred in an

entity’s interim financial report only if HKAS14-Segment-Repeorting-HKFRS 8

Operating Segments requires that entity to disclose segment data-information in
its annual financial statements);:

(0] revenues from external customers, if included in the measure of
segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision maker
or otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker;

(D)) intersegment revenues, if included in the measure of segment profit or
loss reviewed by the chief operating decision maker or otherwise
reqularly provided to the chief operating decision maker;

iii a measure of segment profit or loss;

(iv) total assets for which there has been a material change from the
amount disclosed in the last annual financial statements;

) a description of differences from the last annual financial statements in
the basis of segmentation or in the basis of measurement of segment

profit or loss;

(vi) a reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ measures of
profit or loss to the entity’s profit or loss before tax expense (tax
income) and discontinued operations. However, if an entity allocates to
reportable segments items such as tax expense (tax income), the entity
may reconcile the total of the segments’ measures of profit or loss to
profit or loss after those items. Material reconciling items _shall be
separately identified and described in that reconciliation;

material events subsequent to the end of the interim period that have not been
reflected in the financial statements for the interim period;

the effect of changes in the composition of the entity during the interim period,
including business combinations, obtaining or losing control aeguisition—or
dispoesal of subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings, and
discontinued operations. In the case of business combinations, the entity shall
disclose the information required te-be-disclosed-under by paragraphs66-73
of HKFRS 3 Business Combinations; and

changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets since the—lastannuat
balaneesheetdate_end of the last annual reporting period.

17 Examples of the kinds of disclosures that are required by paragraph 16 are set out below.

Individual Standards—and-Interpretations-HKFRSs provide guidance regarding disclosures for

many of these items:

@

(b)

(©
(d)
(€

the write-down of inventories to net realisable value and the reversal of such a write-
down;

recognition of a loss from the impairment of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets, or other assets, and the reversal of such an impairment loss;

the reversal of any provisions for the costs of restructuring;
acquisitions and disposals of items of property, plant and equipment;

commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment;

¢

Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
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HKAS 34 (Oetober2004March 2010)

) litigation settlements;

(9) corrections of prior period errors;

(h) [Not used];

0] any loan default or breach of a loan agreement that has not been remedied on or

before the-balance-sheetdate end of the reporting period; and

0] related party transactions.

Other Standards-HKFRSs specify disclosures that shall be made in financial statements. In that
context, financial statements means complete sets of financial statements of the type normally
included in an annual financial report and sometimes included in other reports. Except as
required by paragraph 16(i), the disclosures required by those other Standards-HKFRSs are
not required if an entity’s interim financial report includes only condensed financial statements
and selected explanatory notes rather than a complete set of financial statements.

Disclosure of compliance with HKFRSs

If an entity’s interim financial report is in compliance with this Standard, that fact shall
be disclosed. An interim financial report shall not be described as complying with
Standards—HKFRSs unless it complies with all ef-the requirements of-Heng—Keng

Financial-Reporting-Standards HKFRSs.

Periods for which interim financial statements are required to be
presented

Interim reports shall include interim financial statements (condensed or complete) for
periods as follows:

@) balance-sheet-statement of financial position as of the end of the current interim
period and a comparative batarce-sheetstatement of financial position as of the
end of the immediately preceding financial year;.

(b) income statements of comprehensive income for the current interim period and
cumulatively for the current financial year to date, with comparative income
statements of comprehensive income for the comparable interim periods
(current and year-to-date) of the immediately preceding financial year;. As
permitted by HKAS 1 (as revised in _2007), an _interim report may present for
each period either a single statement of comprehensive income, or a statement
displaying components of profit or loss (separate income statement) and a
second statement beginning with profit or loss and displaying components of
other comprehensive income (statement of comprehensive income).

(c) statement showing-of changes in equity cumulatively for the current financial
year to date, with a comparative statement for the comparable year-to-date
period of the immediately preceding financial year;-and.

(d) cash-flow-statement of cash flows cumulatively for the current financial year to
date, with a comparative statement for the comparable year-to-date period of
the immediately preceding financial year.

For an entity whose business is highly seasonal, financial information for the twelve months
ending—on—the-interim—reporting—date—up to the end of the interim period and comparative
information for the prior twelve-month period may be useful. Accordingly, entities whose
business is highly seasonal are encouraged to consider reporting such information in addition
to the information called for in the preceding paragraph.

Appendix A illustrates the periods required to be presented by an entity that reports half-yearly
and an entity that reports quarterly.
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Materiality

In deciding how to recognise, measure, classify, or disclose an item for interim financial
reporting purposes, materiality shall be assessed in relation to the interim period
financial data. In making assessments of materiality, it shall be recognised that interim
measurements may rely on estimates to a greater extent than measurements of annual
financial data.

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors define
an item as material if its omission or misstatement could influence the economic decisions of
users of the financial statements. HKAS 1 requires separate disclosure of material items,
including (for example) discontinued operations, and HKAS 8 requires disclosure of changes in
accounting estimates, errors and changes in accounting policies. The two Standards do not
contain quantified guidance as to materiality.

While judgement is always required in assessing materiality, this Standard bases the
recognition and disclosure decision on data for the interim period by itself for reasons of
understandability of the interim figures. Thus, for example, unusual items, changes in
accounting policies or estimates, and errors are recognised and disclosed on the basis of
materiality in relation to interim period data to avoid misleading inferences that might result
from non-disclosure. The overriding goal is to ensure that an interim financial report includes all
information that is relevant to understanding an entity’s financial position and performance
during the interim period.

Disclosure in annual financial statements

26

27

If an estimate of an amount reported in an interim period is changed significantly during
the final interim period of the financial year but a separate financial report is not
published for that final interim period, the nature and amount of that change in estimate
shall be disclosed in a note to the annual financial statements for that financial year.

HKAS 8 requires disclosure of the nature and (if practicable) the amount of a change in
estimate that either has a material effect in the current period or is expected to have a material
effect in subsequent periods. Paragraph 16(d) of this Standard requires similar disclosure in an
interim financial report. Examples include changes in estimate in the final interim period relating
to inventory write-downs, restructurings, or impairment losses that were reported in an earlier
interim period of the financial year. The disclosure required by the preceding paragraph is
consistent with the HKAS 8 requirement and is intended to be narrow in scope—relating only to
the change in estimate. An entity is not required to include additional interim period financial
information in its annual financial statements.

Recognition and measurement

28

29

Same accounting policies as annual

An entity shall apply the same accounting policies in its interim financial statements as
are applied in its annual financial statements, except for accounting policy changes
made after the date of the most recent annual financial statements that are to be
reflected in the next annual financial statements. However, the frequency of an entity’s
reporting (annual, half-yearly, or quarterly) shall not affect the measurement of its
annual results. To achieve that objective, measurements for interim reporting purposes
shall be made on a year-to-date basis.

Requiring that an entity apply the same accounting policies in its interim financial statements as
in its annual statements may seem to suggest that interim period measurements are made as if
each interim period stands alone as an independent reporting period. However, by providing
that the frequency of an entity’s reporting shall not affect the measurement of its annual results,
paragraph 28 acknowledges that an interim period is a part of a larger financial year. Year-to-
date measurements may involve changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim
periods of the current financial year. But the principles for recognising assets, liabilities, income,
and expenses for interim periods are the same as in annual financial statements.

© Copyright 10
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To illustrate:

@) the principles for recognising and measuring losses from inventory write-downs,
restructurings, or impairments in an interim period are the same as those that an
entity would follow if it prepared only annual financial statements. However, if such
items are recognised and measured in one interim period and the estimate changes in
a subsequent interim period of that financial year, the original estimate is changed in
the subsequent interim period either by accrual of an additional amount of loss or by
reversal of the previously recognised amount;

(b) a cost that does not meet the definition of an asset at the end of an interim period is
not deferred en-the-balance-sheetin the statement of financial position either to await
future information as to whether it has met the definition of an asset or to smooth
earnings over interim periods within a financial year; and

(c) income tax expense is recognised in each interim period based on the best estimate
of the weighted average annual income tax rate expected for the full financial year.
Amounts accrued for income tax expense in one interim period may have to be
adjusted in a subsequent interim period of that financial year if the estimate of the
annual income tax rate changes.

Under the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the
Framework), recognition is the ‘process of incorporating in the balance sheet or income
statement an item that meets the definition of an element and satisfies the criteria for
recognition’. The definitions of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses are fundamental to

recognition,-both-at-annual-and-interim-financial-repeorting-dates_at the end of both annual and

interim financial reporting periods.

For assets, the same tests of future economic benefits apply at interim dates and at the end of
an entity’s financial year. Costs that, by their nature, would not qualify as assets at financial
year-end would not qualify at interim dates either. Similarly, a liability i i

date-at the end of an interim reporting period must represent an existing obligation at that date,

just as it must-at-an-annualreporting-date at the end of an annual reporting period.

An essential characteristic of income (revenue) and expenses is that the related inflows and
outflows of assets and liabilities have already taken place. If those inflows or outflows have
taken place, the related revenue and expense are recognised; otherwise they are not
recognised. The Framework says that ‘expenses are recognised in the income statement when
a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase of a
liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.... [The] Framework does not allow the
recognition of items in the balance sheet which do not meet the definition of assets or
liabilities.’

In measuring the assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and cash flows reported in its financial
statements, an entity that reports only annually is able to take into account information that
becomes available throughout the financial year. Its measurements are, in effect, on a year-to-
date basis.

An entity that reports half-yearly uses information available by mid-year or shortly thereafter in
making the measurements in its financial statements for the first six-month period and
information available by year-end or shortly thereafter for the twelve-month period. The twelve-
month measurements will reflect possible changes in estimates of amounts reported for the
first six-month period. The amounts reported in the interim financial report for the first six-month
period are not retrospectively adjusted. Paragraphs 16(d) and 26 require, however, that the
nature and amount of any significant changes in estimates be disclosed.

An entity that reports more frequently than half-yearly measures income and expenses on a
year-to-date basis for each interim period using information available when each set of financial
statements is being prepared. Amounts of income and expenses reported in the current interim
period will reflect any changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the
financial year. The amounts reported in prior interim periods are not retrospectively adjusted.
Paragraphs 16(d) and 26 require, however, that the nature and amount of any significant
changes in estimates be disclosed.

© Copyright 11



37

38

39

40

41

42

HKAS 34 (October 2004)

Revenues received seasonally, cyclically, or occasionally

Revenues that are received seasonally, cyclically, or occasionally within a financial year
shall not be anticipated or deferred as of an interim date if anticipation or deferral would
not be appropriate at the end of the entity’s financial year.

Examples include dividend revenue, royalties, and government grants. Additionally, some
entities consistently earn more revenues in certain interim periods of a financial year than in
other interim periods, for example, seasonal revenues of retailers. Such revenues are
recognised when they occur.

Costs incurred unevenly during the financial year

Costs that are incurred unevenly during an entity’s financial year shall be anticipated or
deferred for interim reporting purposes if, and only if, it is also appropriate to anticipate
or defer that type of cost at the end of the financial year.

Applying the recognition and measurement principles

Appendix B provides examples of applying the general recognition and measurement principles
set out in paragraphs 28-39.

Use of estimates

The measurement procedures to be followed in an interim financial report shall be
designed to ensure that the resulting information is reliable and that all material
financial information that is relevant to an understanding of the financial position or
performance of the entity is appropriately disclosed. While measurements in both
annual and interim financial reports are often based on reasonable estimates, the
preparation of interim financial reports generally will require a greater use of estimation
methods than annual financial reports.

Appendix C provides examples of the use of estimates in interim periods.

Restatement of previously reported interim periods

43

44

45

A change in accounting policy, other than one for which the transition is specified by a
new HKFRSs, shall be reflected by:

(@) restating the financial statements of prior interim periods of the current
financial year and the comparable interim periods of any prior financial years
that will be restated in the annual financial statements in accordance with HKAS
8; or

(b) when it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect at the beginning of
the financial year of applying a new accounting policy to all prior periods,
adjusting the financial statements of prior interim periods of the current
financial year, and comparable interim periods of prior financial years to apply
the new accounting policy prospectively from the earliest date practicable.

One objective of the preceding principle is to ensure that a single accounting policy is applied
to a particular class of transactions throughout an entire financial year. Under HKAS 8, a
change in accounting policy is reflected by retrospective application, with restatement of prior
period financial data as far back as is practicable. However, if the cumulative amount of the
adjustment relating to prior financial years is impracticable to determine, then under HKAS 8
the new policy is applied prospectively from the earliest date practicable. The effect of the
principle in paragraph 43 is to require that within the current financial year any change in
accounting policy is applied either retrospectively or, if that is not practicable, prospectively,
from no later than the beginning of the financial year.

To allow accounting changes to be reflected as of an interim date within the financial year
would allow two differing accounting policies to be applied to a particular class of transactions
within a single financial year. The result would be interim allocation difficulties, obscured
operating results, and complicated analysis and understandability of interim period information.
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Withdrawal of SSAP 25

45A This Standard supersedes SSAP 25 Interim Financial Reporting (revised in 2001).

Effective date

46 This Standard becomes operative for financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2005. Earlier application is encouraged.

47 HKAS 1 (as revised in 2007) amended the terminology used throughout HKFRSs. In
addition it amended paragraphs 4, 5, 8, 11, 12 and 20, deleted paragraph 13 and added
paragraphs 8A and 11A. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. If an entity applies HKAS 1 (revised 2007) for an
earlier period, the amendments shall be applied for that earlier period.

48° HKFRS 3 (as revised in _2008) amended paragraph 16(i). An entity shall apply that
amendment for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. If an _entity applies
HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) for an earlier period, the amendment shall also be applied for
that earlier period.

* _Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
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lllustration of periods required to be presented

HKAS 34 (October 2004)

This appendix, which accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 34, provides examples to illustrate application

of the principle in paragraph 20.

Entity publishes interim financial reports half-yearly

Al The entity’s financial year ends 31 December (calendar year). The entity will present the
following financial statements (condensed or complete) in its half-yearly interim financial report

as of 30 June 20X1:

Statement of financial position:
At

Statement of comprehensive
income:
6 months ending

Statement of cash flows:
6 months ending

Statement of changes in equity:
6 months ending

30 June 20X1

30 June 20X1

30 June 20X1

30 June 20X1

31 December 20X0

30 June 20X0

30 June 20X0

30 June 20X0

Entity publishes interim financial reports quarterly

A2 The entity’s financial year ends 31 December (calendar year). The entity will present the
following financial statements (condensed or complete) in its quarterly interim financial report

as of 30 June 2001:

Statement of financial position:
At

Statement of comprehensive
income:

6 months ending

3 months ending

Statement of cash flow:
6 months ending

Statement of changes in equity:
6 months ending

© Copyright
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Appendix B
Examples of applying the recognition and measurement principles

This appendix, which accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 34, provides examples of applying the general
recognition and measurement principles set out in paragraphs 28-39.

Employer payroll taxes and insurance contributions

Bl If employer payroll taxes or contributions to government-sponsored insurance funds are
assessed on an annual basis, the employer's related expense is recognised in interim periods
using an estimated average annual effective payroll tax or contribution rate, even though a
large portion of the payments may be made early in the financial year. A common example is
an employer payroll tax or insurance contribution that is imposed up to a certain maximum level
of earnings per employee. For higher income employees, the maximum income is reached
before the end of the financial year, and the employer makes no further payments through the
end of the year.

Major planned periodic maintenance or overhaul

B2 The cost of a planned major periodic maintenance or overhaul or other seasonal expenditure
that is expected to occur late in the year is not anticipated for interim reporting purposes unless
an event has caused the entity to have a legal or constructive obligation. The mere intention or
necessity to incur expenditure related to the future is not sufficient to give rise to an obligation.

Provisions

B3 A provision is recognised when an entity has no realistic alternative but to make a transfer of
economic benefits as a result of an event that has created a legal or constructive obligation.
The amount of the obligation is adjusted upward or downward, with a corresponding loss or
gain recognised in-the—income—statement_profit or loss, if the entity’s best estimate of the
amount of the obligation changes.

B4 This Standard requires that an entity apply the same criteria for recognising and measuring a
provision at an interim date as it would at the end of its financial year. The existence or non-
existence of an obligation to transfer benefits is not a function of the length of the reporting
period. It is a question of fact.

Year-end bonuses

B5 The nature of year-end bonuses varies widely. Some are earned simply by continued
employment during a time period. Some bonuses are earned based on a monthly, quarterly, or
annual measure of operating result. They may be purely discretionary, contractual, or based on
years of historical precedent.

B6 A bonus is anticipated for interim reporting purposes if, and only if, (a) the bonus is a legal
obligation or past practice would make the bonus a constructive obligation for which the entity
has no realistic alternative but to make the payments, and (b) a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made. IAS 19 Employee Benefits provides guidance.

Contingent lease payments

B7 Contingent lease payments can be an example of a legal or constructive obligation that are-is
recognised as a liability. If a lease provides for contingent payments based on the lessee
achieving a certain level of annual sales, an obligation can arise in the interim periods of the
financial year before the required annual level of sales has been achieved, if that required level
of sales is expected to be achieved and the entity, therefore, has no realistic alternative but to
make the future lease payment.
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Intangible assets

B8 An entity will apply the definition and recognition criteria for an intangible asset in the same way
in an interim period as in an annual period. Costs incurred before the recognition criteria for an
intangible asset are met are recognised as an expense. Costs incurred after the specific point
in time at which the criteria are met are recognised as part of the cost of an intangible asset.
‘Deferring’ costs as assets in an interim balance-sheetstatement of financial position in the
hope that the recognition criteria will be met later in the financial year is not justified.

Pensions

B9 Pension cost for an interim period is calculated on a year-to-date basis by using the actuarially
determined pension cost rate at the end of the prior financial year, adjusted for significant
market fluctuations since that time and for significant curtailments, settlements, or other
significant one-time events.

Vacations, holidays, and other short-term compensated absences

B10 Accumulating compensated absences are those that are carried forward and can be used in
future periods if the current period's entitlement is not used in full. IAS 19 Employee Benefits
requires that an entity measure the expected cost of and obligation for accumulating
compensated absences at the amount the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused
entittement that has accumulated at the end of the reporting period. That principle is also
applied—at-interim-financial-reporting—dates_at the end of interim financial reporting periods.
Conversely, an entity recognises no expense or liability for non-accumulating compensated
absences—at-an-interim-—reporting—date_at the end of an interim reporting period, just as it
recognises none-atan-annualreperting-date at the end of an annual reporting period.

Other planned but irregularly occurring costs

B11 An entity’s budget may include certain costs expected to be incurred irregularly during the
financial year, such as charitable contributions and employee training costs. Those costs
generally are discretionary even though they are planned and tend to recur from year to year.
Recognising an obligation atan-interim-financialreporting-date-at the end of an interim financial
reporting period for such costs that have not yet been incurred generally is not consistent with
the definition of a liability.

Measuring interim income tax expense

B12 Interim period income tax expense is accrued using the tax rate that would be applicable to
expected total annual earnings, that is, the estimated average annual effective income tax rate
applied to the pre-tax income of the interim period.

B13 This is consistent with the basic concept set out in paragraph 28 that the same accounting
recognition and measurement principles shall be applied in an interim financial report as are
applied in annual financial statements. Income taxes are assessed on an annual basis. Interim
period income tax expense is calculated by applying to an interim period's pre-tax income the
tax rate that would be applicable to expected total annual earnings, that is, the estimated
average annual effective income tax rate. That estimated average annual rate would reflect a
blend of the progressive tax rate structure expected to be applicable to the full year's earnings
including enacted or substantively enacted changes in the income tax rates scheduled to take
effect later in the financial year. IAS 12 Income Taxes provides guidance on substantively
enacted changes in tax rates. The estimated average annual income tax rate would be re-
estimated on a year-to-date basis, consistent with paragraph 28 of this Standard. Paragraph
16(d) requires disclosure of a significant change in estimate.

B14 To the extent practicable, a separate estimated average annual effective income tax rate is
determined for each taxing jurisdiction and applied individually to the interim period pre-tax
income of each jurisdiction. Similarly, if different income tax rates apply to different categories
of income (such as capital gains or income earned in particular industries), to the extent
practicable a separate rate is applied to each individual category of interim period pre-tax
income. While that degree of precision is desirable, it may not be achievable in all cases, and a
weighted average of rates across jurisdictions or across categories of income is used if it is a
reasonable approximation of the effect of using more specific rates.
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B15 To illustrate the application of the foregoing principle, an entity reporting quarterly expects to
earn 10,000 pre-tax each quarter and operates in a jurisdiction with a tax rate of 20 per cent on
the first 20,000 of annual earnings and 30 per cent on all additional earnings. Actual earnings
match expectations. The following table shows the amount of income tax expense that is
reported in each quarter:

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Annual
Tax expense 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 10,000

10,000 of tax is expected to be payable for the full year on 40,000 of pre-tax income.

B16 As another illustration, an entity reports quarterly, earns 15,000 pre-tax profit in the first quarter
but expects to incur losses of 5,000 in each of the three remaining quarters (thus having zero
income for the year), and operates in a jurisdiction in which its estimated average annual
income tax rate is expected to be 20 per cent. The following table shows the amount of income
tax expense that is reported in each quarter:

1st 2nd 3" 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Annual
Tax expense 3,000 (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) 0

Difference in financial reporting year and tax year

B17 If the financial reporting year and the income tax year differ, income tax expense for the interim
periods of that financial reporting year is measured using separate weighted average estimated
effective tax rates for each of the income tax years applied to the portion of pre-tax income
earned in each of those income tax years.

B18 To illustrate, an entity’s financial reporting year ends 30 June and it reports quarterly. lts
taxable year ends 31 December. For the financial year that begins 1 July, Year 1 and ends 30
June, Year 2, the entity earns $10,000 pre-tax each quarter. The estimated average annual
income tax rate is 30 per centin Year 1 and 40 per cent in Year 2.

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Ending Ending Ending Ending Ending
30 Sept 31 Dec 31 Mar 30 June 30 June
Year 1 Year 1 Year 2 Year 2 Year 2
Tax expense 3,000 3,000 4,000 4,000 14,000
Tax credits
B19 Some tax jurisdictions give taxpayers credits against the tax payable based on amounts of

capital expenditures, exports, research and development expenditures, or other bases.
Anticipated tax benefits of this type for the full year are generally reflected in computing the
estimated annual effective income tax rate, because those credits are granted and calculated
on an annual basis under most tax laws and regulations. On the other hand, tax benefits that
relate to a one-time event are recognised in computing income tax expense in that interim
period, in the same way that special tax rates applicable to particular categories of income are
not blended into a single effective annual tax rate. Moreover, in some jurisdictions tax benefits
or credits, including those related to capital expenditures and levels of exports, while reported
on the income tax return, are more similar to a government grant and are recognised in the
interim period in which they arise.
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Tax loss and tax credit carrybacks and carryforwards

B20 The benefits of a tax loss carryback are reflected in the interim period in which the related tax
loss occurs. IAS 12 provides that ‘the benefit relating to a tax loss that can be carried back to
recover current tax of a previous period shall be recognised as an asset’. A corresponding
reduction of tax expense or increase of tax income is also recognised.

B21 IAS 12 provides that ‘a deferred asset shall be recognised for the carryforward of unused tax
losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised’. IAS 12
provides criteria for assessing the probability of taxable profit against which the unused tax
losses and credits can be utilised. Those criteria are applied at the end of each interim period
and, if they are met, the effect of the tax loss carryforward is reflected in the computation of the
estimated average annual effective income tax rate.

B22 To illustrate, an entity that reports quarterly has an operating loss carryforward of 10,000 for
income tax purposes at the start of the current financial year for which a deferred tax asset has
not been recognised. The entity earns 10,000 in the first quarter of the current year and
expects to earn 10,000 in each of the three remaining quarters. Excluding the carryforward, the
estimated average annual income tax rate is expected to be 40 per cent. Tax expense is as

follows:
1st 2nd 3rd 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Annual
Tax expense 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 12,000

Contractual or anticipated purchase price changes

B23 Volume rebates or discounts and other contractual changes in the prices of raw materials,
labour, or other purchased goods and services are anticipated in interim periods, by both the
payer and the recipient, if it is probable that they have been earned or will take effect. Thus,
contractual rebates and discounts are anticipated but discretionary rebates and discounts are
not anticipated because the resulting asset or liability would not satisfy the conditions in the
Framework that an asset must be a resource controlled by the entity as a result of a past event
and that a liability must be a present obligation whose settlement is expected to result in an
outflow of resources.

Depreciation and amortisation

B24 Depreciation and amortisation for an interim period is based only on assets owned during that
interim period. It does not take into account asset acquisitions or dispositions planned for later
in the financial year.

Inventories

B25 Inventories are measured for interim financial reporting by the same principles as at financial
year-end. IAS 2 Inventories establishes standards for recognising and measuring inventories.
Inventories pose particular problems at any-firancial-reporting-date-the end of any financial
reporting period because of the need to determine inventory quantities, costs, and net
realisable values. Nonetheless, the same measurement principles are applied for interim
inventories. To save cost and time, entities often use estimates to measure inventories at
interim dates to a greater extent than at annual reporting periods. Following are examples of
how to apply the net realisable value test at an interim date and how to treat manufacturing
variances at interim dates.

Net realisable value of inventories

B26 The net realisable value of inventories is determined by reference to selling prices and related
costs to complete and dispose at interim dates. An entity will reverse a write-down to net
realisable value in a subsequent interim period only if it would be appropriate to do so at the
end of the financial year.
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[Deleted]

Interim period manufacturing cost variances

Price, efficiency, spending, and volume variances of a manufacturing entity are recognised in
income at interim reporting dates to the same extent that those variances are recognised in
income at financial year end. Deferral of variances that are expected to be absorbed by year-
end is not appropriate because it could result in reporting inventory at the interim date at more
or less than its portion of the actual cost of manufacture.

Foreign currency translation gains and losses

Foreign currency translation gains and losses are measured for interim financial reporting by
the same principles as at financial year end.

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates specifies how to translate the
financial statements for foreign operations into the presentation currency, including guidelines
for using average or closing foreign exchange rates and guidelines for recognising the resulting
adjustments in profit or loss er-in-equity, or in other comprehensive income. Consistently with
IAS 21, the actual average and closing rates for the interim period are used. Entities do not
anticipate some future changes in foreign exchange rates in the remainder of the current
financial year in translating foreign operations at an interim date.

If IAS 21 requires translation adjustments to be recognised as income or expense in the period
in which they arise, that principle is applied during each interim period. Entities do not defer
some foreign currency translation adjustments at an interim date if the adjustment is expected
to reverse before the end of the financial year.

Interim financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies

Interim financial reports in hyperinflationary economies are prepared by the same principles as
at financial year-end.

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies requires that the financial
statements of an entity that reports in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy be stated in
terms of the measuring unit current at balanece-sheet-datethe end of the reporting period, and
the gain or loss on the net monetary position is included in net income. Also, comparative
financial data reported for prior periods are restated to the current measuring unit.

Entities follow those same principles at interim dates, thereby presenting all interim data in the
measuring unit as of the end of the interim period, with the resulting gain or loss on the net
monetary position included in the interim period’s net income. Entities do not annualise the
recognition of the gain or loss. Nor do they use an estimated annual inflation rate in preparing
an interim financial report in a hyperinflationary economy.

Impairment of assets

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets requires that an impairment loss be recognised if the recoverable
amount has declined below carrying amount.

This Standard requires that an entity apply the same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria at an interim date as it would at the end of its financial year. That does not
mean, however, that an entity must necessarily make a detailed impairment calculation at the
end of each interim period. Rather, an entity will review for indications of significant impairment
since the end of the most recent financial year to determine whether such a calculation is
needed.
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Appendix C
Examples of the use of estimates

This Appendix, which accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 34, provides examples to illustrate application
of the principle in paragraph 41.

C1

Cc2

C3

ca

C5

C6

Cc7

Cs8

C9

Inventories: Full stock-taking and valuation procedures may not be required for inventories at
interim dates, although it may be done at financial year-end. It may be sufficient to make
estimates at interim dates based on sales margins.

Classifications of current and non-current assets and liabilities: Entities may do a more
thorough investigation for classifying assets and liabilities as current or non-current at annual
reporting dates than at interim dates.

Provisions: Determination of the appropriate amount of a provision (such as a provision for
warranties, environmental costs, and site restoration costs) may be complex and often costly
and time-consuming. Entities sometimes engage outside experts to assist in the annual
calculations. Making similar estimates at interim dates often entails updating of the prior annual
provision rather than the engaging of outside experts to do a new calculation.

Pensions: IAS 19 Employee Benefits requires that an entity determine the present value of
defined benefit obligations and the market value of plan assets at the end of each reporting
period and encourages an entity to involve a professionally qualified actuary in measurement of
the obligations. For interim reporting purposes, reliable measurement is often obtainable by
extrapolation of the latest actuarial valuation.

Income taxes: Entities may calculate income tax expense and deferred income tax liability at
annual dates by applying the tax rate for each individual jurisdiction to measures of income for
each jurisdiction. Paragraph 14 of Appendix B acknowledges that while that degree of precision
is desirable at interim reporting dates as well, it may not be achievable in all cases, and a
weighted average of rates across jurisdictions or across categories of income is used if it is a
reasonable approximation of the effect of using more specific rates.

Contingencies: The measurement of contingencies may involve the opinions of legal experts
or other advisers. Formal reports from independent experts are sometimes obtained with
respect to contingencies. Such opinions about litigation, claims, assessments, and other
contingencies and uncertainties may or may not also be needed at interim dates.

Revaluations and fair value accounting: IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment allows an
entity to choose as its accounting policy the revaluation model whereby items of property, plant
and equipment are revalued to fair value. Similarly, IAS 40 Investment Property requires an
entity to determine the fair value of investment property. For those measurements, an entity
may rely on professionally qualified valuers at annual reporting dates though not at interim
reporting dates.

Intercompany reconciliations: Some intercompany balances that are reconciled on a
detailed level in preparing consolidated financial statements at financial year-end might be
reconciled at a less detailed level in preparing consolidated financial statements at an interim
date.

Specialised industries: Because of complexity, costliness, and time, interim period
measurements in specialised industries might be less precise than at financial year-end. An
example would be calculation of insurance reserves by insurance companies.
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Appendix D

Comparison with International Accounting Standards

This comparison appendix, which was prepared as at October 2004 and deals only with significant
differences in the standards extant, is produced for information only and does not form part of the
standards in HKAS 34.

The International Accounting Standard comparable with HKAS 34 is IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.

There are no major textual differences between HKAS 34 and IAS 34.
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Introduction

IN1  Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets (HKAS 36) replaces SSAP
31 Impairment of Assets (issued in 2001), and should be applied:

@) on acquisition to goodwill and intangible assets acquired in business
combinations for which the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005.

(b) to all other assets, for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005.

Earlier application is encouraged.

Reasons for issuing HKAS 36

IN2  Pursuant with its convergence policy, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) issues HKAS 36 as part of its project on business
combinations to converge with the International Accounting Standard Board (“the
Board”)’s project on business combinations. The project’s objective iswas to improve
the quality of the accounting for business combinations and the subsequent accounting
for goodwill and intangible assets acquired in business combinations.

IN3  The project hashad two phases. The first phase resulted in the HKICPA issuing
simultaneously in 2004 HKFRS 3 Business Combinations and HKAS 36 and HKAS 38
Intangible Assets to converge with IFRS 3 and revised versions of IAS 36 and IAS 38
issued by the Board. The first phase of the project focused primarily on the following
issues:

@) the method of accounting for business combinations;

(b) the initial measurement of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination;

(© the recognition of provisions for terminating or reducing the activities of an
acquiree;

(d) the treatment of any excess of the acquirer’s interest in the fair values of
identifiable net assets acquired in a business combination over the cost of the
combination; and

(e) the accounting for goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a business
combination.

IN4 The second phase of the project resulted in the HKICPA issuing simultaneously in 2008
a_revised HKFRS 3 and amendments to HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements to converge with a revised IFRS 3 and amendments to IAS 27
issued by the Board. FhereforetThe HKICPA'’s intention while issuing HKAS 36 was
to reflect only those changes resulting from the Business Combinations project, and not
to reconsider all of the previous requirements in SSAP 31. The changes are primarily
concerned with the impairment test for goodwill.
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Summary of main changes

INS

ING

IN7

Frequency of impairment testing

SSAP 31 required the recoverable amount of an asset to be measured whenever there is
an indication that the asset may be impaired. This requirement is included in the
Standard. However, the Standard also requires:

@) the recoverable amount of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life to
be measured annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that it
may be impaired. The most recent detailed calculation of recoverable amount
made in a preceding period may be used in the impairment test for that asset
in the current period, provided specified criteria are met.

(b) the recoverable amount of an intangible asset not yet available for use to be
measured annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that it may
be impaired.

(c) goodwill acquired in a business combination to be tested for impairment
annually.

Measuring value in use

The Standard clarifies that the following elements should be reflected in the calculation
of an asset’s value in use:

@) an estimate of the future cash flows the entity expects to derive from the asset;

(b) expectations about possible variations in the amount or timing of those future
cash flows;

(© the time value of money, represented by the current market risk-free rate of
interest;

(d) the price for bearing the uncertainty inherent in the asset; and

(e) other factors, such as illiquidity, that market participants would reflect in
pricing the future cash flows the entity expects to derive from the asset.

The Standard also clarifies that the second, fourth and fifth of these elements can be
reflected either as adjustments to the future cash flows or adjustments to the discount
rate.

The Standard carries forward from SSAP 31 the requirement for the cash flow
projections used to measure value in use to be based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the economic conditions that
will exist over the remaining useful life of the asset. However, the Standard clarifies
that management:

@) should assess the reasonableness of the assumptions on which its current cash
flow projections are based by examining the causes of differences between past
cash flow projections and actual cash flows.
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(b) should ensure that the assumptions on which its current cash flow projections
are based are consistent with past actual outcomes, provided the effects of
subsequent events or circumstances that did not exist when those actual cash
flows were generated make this appropriate.

IN8  SSAP 31 required the cash flow projections used to measure value in use to be based on
the most recent financial budgets/ forecasts approved by management. The Standard
carries forward this requirement, but clarifies that the cash flow projections exclude any
estimated cash inflows or outflows expected to arise from:

@ future restructurings to which the entity is not yet committed; or
(b) improving or enhancing the asset’s performance.

IN9  Additional guidance on using present value techniques in measuring an asset’s value in
use is included in Appendix A of the Standard. In addition, the guidance in SSAP 31 on
estimating the discount rate when an asset-specific rate is not directly available from
the market has been relocated to Appendix A.

Identifying the cash-generating unit to which an asset belongs

IN10 The Standard carries forward from SSAP 31 the requirement that if an active market
exists for the output produced by an asset or a group of assets, that asset or group of
assets should be identified as a cash-generating unit, even if some or all of the output is
used internally. However, SSAP 31 required that, in such circumstances, management’s
best estimate of future market prices for the output should be used in estimating the
future cash flows used to determine the unit’s value in use. It also required that when an
entity was estimating future cash flows to determine the value in use of cash-generating
units using the output, management’s best estimate of future market prices for the
output should be used. The Standard requires that if the cash inflows generated by any
asset or cash-generating unit are affected by internal transfer pricing, an entity should
use management’s best estimate of future price(s) that could be achieved in arm’s
length transactions in estimating:

@) the future cash inflows used to determine the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use; and

(b) the future cash outflows used to determine the value in use of other assets or
cash-generating units affected by the internal transfer pricing.

Allocating goodwill to cash-generating units

IN11 SSAP 31 required goodwill acquired in a business combination to be tested for
impairment as part of impairment testing the cash-generating unit(s) to which it related.
It employed a ‘bottom-up/top-down’ approach under which the goodwill was, in effect,
tested for impairment by allocating its carrying amount to each cash-generating unit or
smallest group of cash-generating units to which a portion of that carrying amount
could be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis. The Standard similarly requires
goodwill acquired in a business combination to be tested for impairment as part of
impairment testing the cash-generating unit(s) to which it relates. However, the
Standard clarifies that:
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the goodwill should, from the acquisition date, be allocated to each of the
acquirer’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units
or groups of units.

each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated should:

() represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes; and

(i) not be larger than aan operating segment based-en-eitherthe-entity’s
primary—or—the—entity’s—secondary—reporting—format—determined in
accordance with HKAS—14-Segment-ReportingHKFRS 8 Operating
Segments.

IN12 The Standard also clarifies the following:

()

(b)

(©)

if the initial allocation of goodwill acquired in a business combination cannot
be completed before the end of the annual period in which the business
combination occurs, that initial allocation should be completed before the end
of the first annual period beginning after the acquisition date.

when an entity disposes of an operation within a cash-generating unit (group of
units) to which goodwill has been allocated, the goodwill associated with that
operation should be:

Q) included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on disposal; and

(i) measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed
of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (group of units) retained,
unless the entity can demonstrate that some other method better reflects
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of.

when an entity reorganises its reporting structure in a manner that changes the
composition of cash-generating units (groups of units) to which goodwill has
been allocated, the goodwill should be reallocated to the units (groups of units)
affected. This reallocation should be performed using a relative value approach
similar to that used when an entity disposes of an operation within a
cash-generating unit (group of units), unless the entity can demonstrate that
some other method better reflects the goodwill associated with the reorganised
units (groups of units).

Timing of impairment tests for goodwill

IN13  The Standard permits:

(@)

(b)

© Copyright
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However, if some of the goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit (group of units)
was acquired in a business combination during the current annual period, the Standard
requires that unit (group of units) to be tested for impairment before the end of the
current period.

The Standard permits the most recent detailed calculation made in a preceding period of
the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit (group of units) to which goodwill has
been allocated to be used in the impairment test for that unit (group of units) in the
current period, provided specified criteria are met.

Reversals of impairment losses for goodwill

SSAP 31 required an impairment loss recognised for goodwill in a previous period to
be reversed when the impairment loss was caused by a specific external event of an
exceptional nature that is not expected to recur and subsequent external events have
occurred that reverse the effect of that event. The Standard prohibits the recognition of
reversals of impairment losses for goodwill.

Disclosure

The Standard requires that if any portion of the goodwill acquired in a business
combination during the period has not been allocated to a cash-generating unit at the
reporting-dateend of the reporting period, an entity should disclose the amount of the
unallocated goodwill together with the reasons why that amount remains unallocated.

The Standard requires disclosure of information for each cash-generating unit (group of
units) for which the carrying amount of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives allocated to that unit (group of units) is significant in comparison with the
entity’s total carrying amount of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite lives. That
information is concerned primarily with the key assumptions used to measure the
recoverable amounts of such units (groups of units).

The Standard also requires specified information to be disclosed if some or all of the
carrying amount of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite lives is allocated across
multiple cash-generating units (groups of units), and the amount so allocated to each
unit (group of units) is not significant in comparison with the total carrying amount of
goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite lives. Further disclosures are required if, in
such circumstances, the recoverable amounts of any of those units (groups of units) are
based on the same key assumption(s) and the aggregate carrying amount of goodwill or
intangible assets with indefinite lives allocated to them is significant in comparison
with the entity’s total carrying amount of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite
lives.
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36
Impairment of Assets

Objective

1

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the procedures that an entity applies to
ensure that its assets are carried at no more than their recoverable amount. An asset is
carried at more than its recoverable amount if its carrying amount exceeds the amount
to be recovered through use or sale of the asset. If this is the case, the asset is described
as impaired and the Standard requires the entity to recognise an impairment loss. The
Standard also specifies when an entity should reverse an impairment loss and prescribes
disclosures.

Scope

2

This Standard shall be applied in accounting for the impairment of all assets,
other than:

@ inventories (see HKAS 2 Inventories);

(b) assets arising from construction contracts (see HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts);

(c) deferred tax assets (see HKAS 12 Income Taxes);
(d) assets arising from employee benefits (see HKAS 19 Employee Benefits);

(e) financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement;

()] investment property that is measured at fair value (see HKAS 40
Investment Property);

(o) biological assets related to agricultural activity that are measured at fair

value less estimated-point-of-sale costs to sell (see HKAS 41 Agriculture);

(h) deferred acquisition costs, and intangible assets, arising from an insurer’s
contractual rights under insurance contracts within the scope of HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts; and

Q) non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

This Standard does not apply to inventories, assets arising from construction contracts,
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, or assets classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) because
existing StandardsHKFRSs applicable to these assets contain requirements for
recognising and measuring these assets.
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4 This Standard applies to financial assets classified as:

@) subsidiaries, as defined in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements;

(b) associates, as defined in HKAS 28 Investments in Associates; and

(c) joint ventures, as defined in HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

For impairment of other financial assets, refer to HKAS 39.

5 This Standard does not apply to financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39,
investment property measured at fair value in accordance with HKAS 40, or biological
assets related to agricultural activity measured at fair value less estimated-point-of-sale
costs_to sell in accordance with HKAS 41. However, this Standard applies to assets that

are carried at

revalued amount (ie fair wvalue) in accordance with other

StandardsHKFRSs, such as the revaluation model in HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment. Identifying whether a revalued asset may be impaired depends on the basis
used to determine fair value:

@ if the asset’s fair value is its market value, the only difference between the
asset’s fair value and its fair value less costs to sell is the direct incremental
costs to dispose of the asset:

(i)

(ii)

if the disposal costs are negligible, the recoverable amount of the
revalued asset is necessarily close to, or greater than, its revalued
amount (ie fair value). In this case, after the revaluation requirements
have been applied, it is unlikely that the revalued asset is impaired and
recoverable amount need not be estimated.

if the disposal costs are not negligible, the fair value less costs to sell of
the revalued asset is necessarily less than its fair value. Therefore, the
revalued asset will be impaired if its value in use is less than its
revalued amount (ie fair value). In this case, after the revaluation
requirements have been applied, an entity applies this Standard to
determine whether the asset may be impaired.

(b) if the asset’s fair value is determined on a basis other than its market value, its
revalued amount (ie fair value) may be greater or lower than its recoverable
amount. Hence, after the revaluation requirements have been applied, an entity
applies this Standard to determine whether the asset may be impaired.

Definitions

6 The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

An active market is a market in which all the following conditions exist:

(a) the items traded within the market are homogeneous;

(b) willing buyers and sellers can normally be found at any time; and

(c) prices are available to the public.
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Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting any
accumulated depreciation (amortisation) and accumulated impairment losses
thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets.

Corporate assets are assets other than goodwill that contribute to the future cash
flows of both the cash-generating unit under review and other cash-generating
units.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
asset or cash-generating unit, excluding finance costs and income tax expense.

Depreciable amount is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost in
the financial statements, less its residual value.

Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount
of an asset over its useful life.”

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or
cash-generating unit in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable,

willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

An_impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use.

Useful life is either:

(a) the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the entity;
or

(b) the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from
the asset by the entity.

Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived
from an asset or cash-generating unit.

¥

Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

In the case of an intangible asset, the term ‘amortisation’ is generally used instead of ‘depreciation’.
The two terms have the same meaning.

© Copyright 12



HKAS 36 (August-2004March 2010)

Identifying an asset that may be impaired

7 Paragraphs 8-17 specify when recoverable amount shall be determined. These
requirements use the term ‘an asset’ but apply equally to an individual asset or a
cash-generating unit. The remainder of this Standard is structured as follows:

@) paragraphs 18-57 set out the requirements for measuring recoverable amount.
These requirements also use the term ‘an asset’ but apply equally to an
individual asset and a cash-generating unit.

(b) paragraphs 58-108 set out the requirements for recognising and measuring
impairment losses. Recognition and measurement of impairment losses for
individual assets other than goodwill are dealt with in paragraphs 58-64.
Paragraphs 65-108 deal with the recognition and measurement of impairment
losses for cash-generating units and goodwill.

(c) paragraphs 109-116 set out the requirements for reversing an impairment loss
recognised in prior periods for an asset or a cash-generating unit. Again, these
requirements use the term ‘an asset’ but apply equally to an individual asset or
a cash-generating unit. Additional requirements for an individual asset are set
out in paragraphs 117-121, for a cash-generating unit in paragraphs 122 and
123, and for goodwill in paragraphs 124 and 125.

(d) paragraphs 126-133 specify the information to be disclosed about impairment
losses and reversals of impairment losses for assets and cash-generating units.
Paragraphs 134-137 specify additional disclosure requirements for
cash-generating units to which goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives have been allocated for impairment testing purposes.

8 An asset is impaired when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Paragraphs 12-14 describe some indications that an impairment loss may have occurred.
If any of those indications is present, an entity is required to make a formal estimate of
recoverable amount. Except as described in paragraph 10, this Standard does not
require an entity to make a formal estimate of recoverable amount if no indication of an
impairment loss is present.

9 An entity shall assess at each—reporting—datethe end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the entity shall estimate the recoverable amount of the asset.

10 Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, an entity shall also:

(a) test an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or an intangible asset
not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test may
be performed at any time during an annual period, provided it is
performed at the same time every year. Different intangible assets may be
tested for impairment at different times. However, if such an intangible
asset was initially recognised during the current annual period, that
intangible asset shall be tested for impairment before the end of the
current annual period.

(b) test goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually
in accordance with paragraphs 80-99.
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11 The ability of an intangible asset to generate sufficient future economic benefits to
recover its carrying amount is usually subject to greater uncertainty before the asset is
available for use than after it is available for use. Therefore, this Standard requires an
entity to test for impairment, at least annually, the carrying amount of an intangible
asset that is not yet available for use.

12 In assessing whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, an
entity shall consider, as a minimum, the following indications:

External sources of information

(@) during the period, an asset’s market value has declined significantly more
than would be expected as a result of the passage of time or normal use.

(b) significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity have taken place
during the period, or will take place in the near future, in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment in which the entity operates or in
the market to which an asset is dedicated.

(©) market interest rates or other market rates of return on investments have
increased during the period, and those increases are likely to affect the
discount rate used in calculating an asset’s value in use and decrease the
asset’s recoverable amount materially.

(d) the carrying amount of the net assets of the entity is more than its market
capitalisation.

Internal sources of information
(e) evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset.

()] significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity have taken place
during the period, or are expected to take place in the near future, in the
extent to which, or manner in which, an asset is used or is expected to be
used. These changes include the asset becoming idle, plans to discontinue
or restructure the operation to which an asset belongs, plans to dispose of
an asset before the previously expected date, and reassessing the useful life
of an asset as finite rather than indefinite.”

(9) evidence is available from internal reporting that indicates that the
economic performance of an asset is, or will be, worse than expected.

Dividend from a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate

(h) for an investment in a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate, the
investor recognises a dividend from the investment and evidence is
available that:

() the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amounts in the consolidated

Once an asset meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale (or is included in a disposal group that
is classified as held for sale), it is excluded from the scope of this Standard and is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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financial statements of the investee's net assest, including
associated goodwill; or

(i) the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate in the period the
dividend is declared.

13 The list in paragraph 12 is not exhaustive. An entity may identify other indications that
an asset may be impaired and these would also require the entity to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount or, in the case of goodwill, perform an impairment test in
accordance with paragraphs 80-99.

14 Evidence from internal reporting that indicates that an asset may be impaired includes
the existence of:

@ cash flows for acquiring the asset, or subsequent cash needs for operating or
maintaining it, that are significantly higher than those originally budgeted,

(b) actual net cash flows or operating profit or loss flowing from the asset that are
significantly worse than those budgeted;

(©) a significant decline in budgeted net cash flows or operating profit, or a
significant increase in budgeted loss, flowing from the asset; or

(d) operating losses or net cash outflows for the asset, when current period
amounts are aggregated with budgeted amounts for the future.

15 As indicated in paragraph 10, this Standard requires an intangible asset with an
indefinite useful life or not yet available for use and goodwill to be tested for
impairment, at least annually. Apart from when the requirements in paragraph 10 apply,
the concept of materiality applies in identifying whether the recoverable amount of an
asset needs to be estimated. For example, if previous calculations show that an asset’s
recoverable amount is significantly greater than its carrying amount, the entity need not
re-estimate the asset’s recoverable amount if no events have occurred that would
eliminate that difference. Similarly, previous analysis may show that an asset’s
recoverable amount is not sensitive to one (or more) of the indications listed in
paragraph 12.

16 As an illustration of paragraph 15, if market interest rates or other market rates of return
on investments have increased during the period, an entity is not required to make a
formal estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount in the following cases:

@ if the discount rate used in calculating the asset’s value in use is unlikely to be
affected by the increase in these market rates. For example, increases in
short-term interest rates may not have a material effect on the discount rate
used for an asset that has a long remaining useful life.

(b) if the discount rate used in calculating the asset’s value in use is likely to be
affected by the increase in these market rates but previous sensitivity analysis
of recoverable amount shows that:

() it is unlikely that there will be a material decrease in recoverable
amount because future cash flows are also likely to increase (eg in
some cases, an entity may be able to demonstrate that it adjusts its
revenues to compensate for any increase in market rates); or
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(i) the decrease in recoverable amount is unlikely to result in a material
impairment loss.

If there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, this may indicate that the
remaining useful life, the depreciation (amortisation) method or the residual value for
the asset needs to be reviewed and adjusted in accordance with the Standard applicable
to the asset, even if no impairment loss is recognised for the asset.

Measuring recoverable amount

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

This Standard defines recoverable amount as the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Paragraphs 19-57 set out the
requirements for measuring recoverable amount. These requirements use the term ‘an
asset’ but apply equally to an individual asset or a cash-generating unit.

It is not always necessary to determine both an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use. If either of these amounts exceeds the asset’s carrying amount, the asset is
not impaired and it is not necessary to estimate the other amount.

It may be possible to determine fair value less costs to sell, even if an asset is not traded
in an active market. However, sometimes it will not be possible to determine fair value
less costs to sell because there is no basis for making a reliable estimate of the amount
obtainable from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between
knowledgeable and willing parties. In this case, the entity may use the asset’s value in
use as its recoverable amount.

If there is no reason to believe that an asset’s value in use materially exceeds its fair
value less costs to sell, the asset’s fair value less costs to sell may be used as its
recoverable amount. This will often be the case for an asset that is held for disposal.
This is because the value in use of an asset held for disposal will consist mainly of the
net disposal proceeds, as the future cash flows from continuing use of the asset until its
disposal are likely to be negligible.

Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs (see paragraphs 65-103), unless either:

@ the asset’s fair value less costs to sell is higher than its carrying amount; or

(b) the asset’s value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to
sell and fair value less costs to sell can be determined.

In some cases, estimates, averages and computational short cuts may provide
reasonable approximations of the detailed computations illustrated in this Standard for
determining fair value less costs to sell or value in use.

Measuring the recoverable amount of an intangible asset with an
indefinite useful life

Paragraph 10 requires an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life to be tested for
impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that it may be impaired. However, the
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most recent detailed calculation of such an asset’s recoverable amount made in a
preceding period may be used in the impairment test for that asset in the current period,
provided all of the following criteria are met:

@ if the intangible asset does not generate cash inflows from continuing use that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and is
therefore tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, the assets and liabilities making up that unit have not changed
significantly since the most recent recoverable amount calculation;

(b) the most recent recoverable amount calculation resulted in an amount that
exceeded the asset’s carrying amount by a substantial margin; and

(c) based on an analysis of events that have occurred and circumstances that have
changed since the most recent recoverable amount calculation, the likelihood
that a current recoverable amount determination would be less than the asset’s
carrying amount is remote.

Fair value less costs to sell

The best evidence of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell is a price in a binding sale
agreement in an arm’s length transaction, adjusted for incremental costs that would be
directly attributable to the disposal of the asset.

If there is no binding sale agreement but an asset is traded in an active market, fair
value less costs to sell is the asset’s market price less the costs of disposal. The
appropriate market price is usually the current bid price. When current bid prices are
unavailable, the price of the most recent transaction may provide a basis from which to
estimate fair value less costs to sell, provided that there has not been a significant
change in economic circumstances between the transaction date and the date as at
which the estimate is made.

If there is no binding sale agreement or active market for an asset, fair value less costs
to sell is based on the best information available to reflect the amount that an entity
could obtain, at the batanee-sheet-dateend of the reporting period, from the disposal of
the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, after
deducting the costs of disposal. In determining this amount, an entity considers the
outcome of recent transactions for similar assets within the same industry. Fair value
less costs to sell does not reflect a forced sale, unless management is compelled to sell
immediately.

Costs of disposal, other than those that have been recognised as liabilities, are deducted
in determining fair value less costs to sell. Examples of such costs are legal costs, stamp
duty and similar transaction taxes, costs of removing the asset, and direct incremental
costs to bring an asset into condition for its sale. However, termination benefits (as
defined in HKAS 19) and costs associated with reducing or reorganising a business
following the disposal of an asset are not direct incremental costs to dispose of the
asset.

Sometimes, the disposal of an asset would require the buyer to assume a liability and
only a single fair value less costs to sell is available for both the asset and the liability.
Paragraph 78 explains how to deal with such cases.
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Value in use

30 The following elements shall be reflected in the calculation of an asset’s value in
use:

@ an estimate of the future cash flows the entity expects to derive from the
asset;

(b) expectations about possible variations in the amount or timing of those
future cash flows;

(c) the time value of money, represented by the current market risk-free rate
of interest;

(d) the price for bearing the uncertainty inherent in the asset; and

(e) other factors, such as illiquidity, that market participants would reflect in
pricing the future cash flows the entity expects to derive from the asset.

31 Estimating the value in use of an asset involves the following steps:

@ estimating the future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from continuing
use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal; and

(b) applying the appropriate discount rate to those future cash flows.

32 The elements identified in paragraph 30(b), (d) and (e) can be reflected either as
adjustments to the future cash flows or as adjustments to the discount rate. Whichever
approach an entity adopts to reflect expectations about possible variations in the amount
or timing of future cash flows, the result shall be to reflect the expected present value of
the future cash flows, ie the weighted average of all possible outcomes. Appendix A
provides additional guidance on the use of present value techniques in measuring an
asset’s value in use.

Basis for estimates of future cash flows
33 In measuring value in use an entity shall:

@ base cash flow projections on reasonable and supportable assumptions
that represent management’s best estimate of the range of economic
conditions that will exist over the remaining useful life of the asset. Greater
weight shall be given to external evidence.

(b) base cash flow projections on the most recent financial budgets/forecasts
approved by management, but shall exclude any estimated future cash
inflows or outflows expected to arise from future restructurings or from
improving or enhancing the asset’s performance. Projections based on
these budgets/forecasts shall cover a maximum period of five years, unless
a longer period can be justified.

(c) estimate cash flow projections beyond the period covered by the most
recent budgets/forecasts by extrapolating the projections based on the
budgets/forecasts using a steady or declining growth rate for subsequent
years, unless an increasing rate can be justified. This growth rate shall not
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exceed the long-term average growth rate for the products, industries, or
country or countries in which the entity operates, or for the market in
which the asset is used, unless a higher rate can be justified.

Management assesses the reasonableness of the assumptions on which its current cash
flow projections are based by examining the causes of differences between past cash
flow projections and actual cash flows. Management shall ensure that the assumptions
on which its current cash flow projections are based are consistent with past actual
outcomes, provided the effects of subsequent events or circumstances that did not exist
when those actual cash flows were generated make this appropriate.

Detailed, explicit and reliable financial budgets/forecasts of future cash flows for
periods longer than five years are generally not available. For this reason,
management’s estimates of future cash flows are based on the most recent
budgets/forecasts for a maximum of five years. Management may use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets/forecasts over a period longer than five years if
it is confident that these projections are reliable and it can demonstrate its ability, based
on past experience, to forecast cash flows accurately over that longer period.

Cash flow projections until the end of an asset’s useful life are estimated by
extrapolating the cash flow projections based on the financial budgets/forecasts using a
growth rate for subsequent years. This rate is steady or declining, unless an increase in
the rate matches objective information about patterns over a product or industry
lifecycle. If appropriate, the growth rate is zero or negative.

When conditions are favourable, competitors are likely to enter the market and restrict
growth. Therefore, entities will have difficulty in exceeding the average historical
growth rate over the long term (say, twenty years) for the products, industries, or
country or countries in which the entity operates, or for the market in which the asset is
used.

In using information from financial budgets/forecasts, an entity considers whether the
information reflects reasonable and supportable assumptions and represents
management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over the
remaining useful life of the asset.

Composition of estimates of future cash flows
Estimates of future cash flows shall include:
(a) projections of cash inflows from the continuing use of the asset;

(b) projections of cash outflows that are necessarily incurred to generate the
cash inflows from continuing use of the asset (including cash outflows to
prepare the asset for use) and can be directly attributed, or allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis, to the asset; and

(c) net cash flows, if any, to be received (or paid) for the disposal of the asset
at the end of its useful life.

Estimates of future cash flows and the discount rate reflect consistent assumptions
about price increases attributable to general inflation. Therefore, if the discount rate
includes the effect of price increases attributable to general inflation, future cash flows
are estimated in nominal terms. If the discount rate excludes the effect of price
increases attributable to general inflation, future cash flows are estimated in real terms
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(but include future specific price increases or decreases).

Projections of cash outflows include those for the day-to-day servicing of the asset as
well as future overheads that can be attributed directly, or allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis, to the use of the asset.

When the carrying amount of an asset does not yet include all the cash outflows to be
incurred before it is ready for use or sale, the estimate of future cash outflows includes
an estimate of any further cash outflow that is expected to be incurred before the asset
is ready for use or sale. For example, this is the case for a building under construction
or for a development project that is not yet completed.

To avoid double-counting, estimates of future cash flows do not include:

@ cash inflows from assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of the cash inflows from the asset under review (for example, financial assets
such as receivables); and

(b) cash outflows that relate to obligations that have been recognised as liabilities
(for example, payables, pensions or provisions).

Future cash flows shall be estimated for the asset in its current condition.
Estimates of future cash flows shall not include estimated future cash inflows or
outflows that are expected to arise from:

(@) a future restructuring to which an entity is not yet committed; or
(b) improving or enhancing the asset’s performance.

Because future cash flows are estimated for the asset in its current condition, value in
use does not reflect:

@) future cash outflows or related cost savings (for example reductions in staff
costs) or benefits that are expected to arise from a future restructuring to which
an entity is not yet committed; or

(b) future cash outflows that will improve or enhance the asset’s performance or
the related cash inflows that are expected to arise from such outflows.

A restructuring is a programme that is planned and controlled by management and
materially changes either the scope of the business undertaken by an entity or the
manner in which the business is conducted. HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets contains guidance clarifying when an entity is
committed to a restructuring.

When an entity becomes committed to a restructuring, some assets are likely to be
affected by this restructuring. Once the entity is committed to the restructuring:

@) its estimates of future cash inflows and cash outflows for the purpose of
determining value in use reflect the cost savings and other benefits from the
restructuring (based on the most recent financial budgets/forecasts approved by
management); and
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(b) its estimates of future cash outflows for the restructuring are included in a
restructuring provision in accordance with HKAS 37.

Illustrative Example 5 illustrates the effect of a future restructuring on a value in use
calculation.

Until an entity incurs cash outflows that improve or enhance the asset’s performance,
estimates of future cash flows do not include the estimated future cash inflows that are
expected to arise from the increase in economic benefits associated with the cash
outflow (see Illustrative Example 6).

Estimates of future cash flows include future cash outflows necessary to maintain the
level of economic benefits expected to arise from the asset in its current condition.
When a cash-generating unit consists of assets with different estimated useful lives, all
of which are essential to the ongoing operation of the unit, the replacement of assets
with shorter lives is considered to be part of the day-to-day servicing of the unit when
estimating the future cash flows associated with the unit. Similarly, when a single asset
consists of components with different estimated useful lives, the replacement of
components with shorter lives is considered to be part of the day-to-day servicing of the
asset when estimating the future cash flows generated by the asset.

Estimates of future cash flows shall not include:
@ cash inflows or outflows from financing activities; or
(b) income tax receipts or payments.

Estimated future cash flows reflect assumptions that are consistent with the way the
discount rate is determined. Otherwise, the effect of some assumptions will be counted
twice or ignored. Because the time value of money is considered by discounting the
estimated future cash flows, these cash flows exclude cash inflow